

BMJ Open is committed to open peer review. As part of this commitment we make the peer review history of every article we publish publicly available.

When an article is published we post the peer reviewers' comments and the authors' responses online. We also post the versions of the paper that were used during peer review. These are the versions that the peer review comments apply to.

The versions of the paper that follow are the versions that were submitted during the peer review process. They are not the versions of record or the final published versions. They should not be cited or distributed as the published version of this manuscript.

BMJ Open is an open access journal and the full, final, typeset and author-corrected version of record of the manuscript is available on our site with no access controls, subscription charges or pay-per-view fees (http://bmjopen.bmj.com).

If you have any questions on BMJ Open's open peer review process please email <u>info.bmjopen@bmj.com</u>

BMJ Open

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

Journal:	BMJ Open
Manuscript ID	bmjopen-2021-057605
Article Type:	Original research
Date Submitted by the Author:	22-Sep-2021
Complete List of Authors:	Escriche-Escuder, Adrian; Universidad de Málaga, Physiotherapy; Cuesta-Vargas, Antonio I; University of Malaga, Physioterapy; Queensland University of Technology, Health Casaña, Jose; University of Valencia, Physiotherapy; University of Valencia,
Keywords:	Musculoskeletal disorders < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, SPORTS MEDICINE, REHABILITATION MEDICINE, Foot & ankle < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, Hand & wrist < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY





I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our <u>licence</u>.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which <u>Creative Commons</u> licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

terez oni

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies



BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Title: Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation

exercises: a scoping review

Adrián Escriche-Escuder^{1,2}, Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas^{1,2,3} José Casaña⁴

Corresponding author: Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas; acuesta@uma.es

Departamento de Fisioterapia, Universidad de Málaga. C/ Arquitecto Peñalosa, 3. PC: 29071.

Malaga (Spain)

Affiliations

¹Department of Physiotherapy, University of Malaga, Malaga, Spain

²Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), Malaga, Spain

³School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology,

Brisbane, Queensland, Australia

⁴Department of Physiotherapy, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Word count: 3754

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

ABSTRACT

Objective: The objective of this scoping review was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to directly and indirectly estimate the forces and loads transmitted to the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

Design: Scoping review.

Data sources: Primary studies were independently identified by two reviewers in Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar.

Eligibility criteria for selecting studies: Cross-sectional or longitudinal studies were included if they included humans; focused on evaluating the forces or loads of tendons in vivo using direct or indirect techniques; during dynamic exercises; and were available in English or Spanish language. They were excluded if tendon forces were used as part of the calculation of other parameters; if evaluated neuromuscular or joint forces and loads not describing being evaluating the tendon; if not evaluated dynamic exercises other than running, walking, jumping or landing; and if they were conference proceedings or book chapters.

Results: Twenty-two studies were included in the review. Fifteen studies used an indirect evaluation methodology based on inverse dynamics, 10 of them in the Achilles tendon and five in the patellar tendon. Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. One study applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in the patellar tendon. Two studies included a strain or differences in tendon length measurement for measuring tendon loads using ultrasound imaging techniques.

Conclusion: There is a predominant use of modelling and inverse dynamics, but force transducers, optic fibre, and estimations from strain data are also used. Although these tools

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

> may be used to make general estimates of forces in dynamic exercises, the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it still difficult to study each patient individually.

Keywords: Foot & ankle; hand & wrist; musculoskeletal disorders; rehabilitation medicine; sports medicine

Strengths and limitations of the study

- The extensive search carried out in this review in four of the main databases allows the reader to approach a wide field of knowledge.
- This review provides a snapshot of the current situation of the current situation in the study of forces and loads on the tendon during dynamic exercises.
- Grouping the assessment tools into subgroups allows an analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of each option.
- One of the limitations is the difficulty in tracking the literature due to the variety of terms used.

INTRODUCTION

Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading [1]. The high incidence and prevalence of this disorder alters the ability of people to work, exercise or perform activities of daily life, causing a great social and economic burden [2].

Loading intervention through a progressive exercise programme is considered the preferred management of tendinopathies due to the vast evidence published in the last decades [3,2,4–6]. This approach focus on producing adequate stimulus that generate adaptations and increase the tolerance of the tendon to load and exercise [3]. Therefore, current knowledge supports the need to integrate an active approach for tendinopathy, based on a conservative management that includes education, exercise (with appropriate management and modification of loads) and passive support interventions for pain and symptom control [2].

Different exercise modalities and intensities have been successfully applied in tendinopathy [6– 9]. Likewise, different strategies have been implemented for handling and modifying the loads [10–12]. These strategies range from a quantification of volume (series and repetitions, number of jumps, etc.) or the amount of time of physical activity, to the use of concepts such as maximum repetition (RM) or the BORG scale of perceived exertion. However, although concepts such as RM have made it possible to parameterise and quantify the applied dose based on the subject's ability to perform an activity a specific number of repetitions, the actual load that reaches the tendon in these activities is usually unknown.

For both prevention and treatment of tendinopathy, proper load management would benefit from a greater understanding of direct forces and loads on the tendon during exercises. In vitro studies [13], as well as in vivo indirect calculations based on body position, joint reaction forces, and inverse dynamic models [14–16] have made it possible to approximate knowledge in this field. Additionally, as underlined by a previous review, direct evaluations using buckle-type

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

> transducers and optic fibre techniques have approximated the direct measurement of loads in tendons of the hand and the Achilles and patellar tendons [17].

> Directly measurement of strains and forces in vivo in human tendons is challenging, due to the difficulties to implant biotolerable and biocompatible sensors that allow to correctly measure the forces without damaging the tissue or influencing the measurement results [17]. Likewise, some methods developed for the quantification of force and loads on the tendon have been designed to evaluate isometric contractions [18,19] or cyclic activities such as running [20,21], cycling [14,22], or walking [23,24]. Thus, there is a lack of studies addressing the direct measurement of loads and the evaluation of dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

The aim of this study is to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to directly and indirectly estimate the forces and loads transmitted to the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

This scoping review was undertaken following the PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guidelines [25]. This review has not been registered in PROSPERO because this platform does not currently accept registrations for scoping reviews, literature reviews or mapping reviews.

Information sources and search strategy

According to the recommendations of a recent study [26] for biomedical reviews, four databases were searched in February 2021: Embase, PubMed (including Medline), Web of Science, and Google Scholar. The following combinations of terms were used in the first three

BMJ Open

databases: "Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]"; "Tendon AND wave"; "Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]". Additionally, "Tendon AND Load" was searched in Embase and PubMed. The combinations of terms "Tendon AND Force", "Tendon AND Biomechanics", "Tendon AND Properties", "Tendon AND Load", and "Tendon AND wave" were used in Google Scholar, retrieving the first 200 relevant references of each search. Detailed information on the sources of information and the combinations of terms used is available in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

Eligibility criteria

All studies that met the following eligibility criteria were included:

- (a) Cross-sectional studies published in scientific journals;
- (b) Including humans with or without tendinopathy;
- (c) Focused on evaluating the forces/loads (tendon strain evaluation was included if it was described as a way to quantify loads) of tendons in vivo using direct or indirect techniques;
- (d) During dynamic exercises;
- (e) Available in English or Spanish language.

Conversely, those studies meeting any of these exclusion criteria were discarded: (a) Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results; (b) studies with evaluation of neuromuscular or joint forces and loads that do not describe evaluating the tendon; (c) no dynamic exercises other than running, walking, jumping, landing, or everyday tasks; (d) conference proceedings; (e) book chapters. Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Study selection

All retrieved references were imported into Mendeley to later be included in Rayyan (https://www.rayyan.ai/), a systematic review support tool. Duplicates were identified and removed. The remaining references were screened by title and abstract by two independent authors. Finally, the same two reviewers screened the full texts of identified articles to select those that met the eligibility criteria. A third reviewer solved any disagreements.

Data extraction

Two reviewers assessed the full-texts of the selected studies. To obtain the information from the studies, an extraction form was used including the following data: authors and year of publication; study setting; study population; participant demographics; details of the evaluation technique; dynamic exercises evaluated; tendon forces/loads results.

In this review, they were included those studies that analysed the forces and loads on the tendon in dynamic exercises, especially those commonly used in tendon rehabilitation. Dynamic analysis based on running, walking, or cycling, and batteries of exercises based on day-to-day or work activities were not taken into account.

Synthesis of results

The studies were grouped by the types of measurement techniques applied and by the tendon location, summarising the type of settings, populations and article types for each group, along with the broad findings.

Methodological quality analysis

BMJ Open

Current guidelines on conducting a scoping review describe the inclusion of a methodological quality analysis as not necessary [27,28]. Likewise, the lack of a standardised tool for the methodological evaluation of the heterogeneous type of studies included in this review makes methodological analysis difficult. In this context, this review focus on analysing the forces and loads evaluation methodologies used in the included studies rather than in the magnitude of the results obtained, with the lack of methodological quality analysis influencing the results and conclusions of this review to a lesser extent.

Patient and Public Involvement

Patients were not involved in this research.

RESULTS

A total of 16571 records were identified in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. Then, duplicates were removed remaining 8536 references. Additionally, eight records were identified by additional sources. Among these, 151 were retrieved as potentially eligible after reading the title and the abstract, retrieving the full-texts of all of them. After evaluating the fulfilment of the eligibility criteria, only 22 studies were finally included in the current review. The Figure 1 represents the flow diagram of the selection process. A detailed list of the studies excluded in the last stage is available in the Supplementary Appendix 2.

[Figure 1 near here]

In total, 306 subjects were included in the analysed studies. Among these, 208 correspond to healthy samples, while 98 of them were open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. However,

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

due to the similarity in the characteristics of the sample and the concurrence of most of the authors in the case of three studies [29–31] (12 subjects in each study), it is pertinent to think that they are the same participants.

Modelling and in vivo evaluation methodologies

Different evaluation methodologies were identified in the included reports, including inverse dynamics, force transducers, optic fibre sensors, and strain evaluated using imaging techniques. The tendon locations evaluated were the Achilles, patellar, and different tendons of the hand. Table 1 shows the groups of evaluation techniques associated with the tendon location and the references of the records that included each one. Table 2 includes expanded information about the measurement methodology.

Measurement methodology	Tendon	References
Inverse dynamics	Achilles	[32-41]
	Patellar	[42–46]
Force transducers	Hand	Buckle [29–31]
(Buckle force transducer, S-shaped	l	Load cell [47,48]
force transducer, load cell)		S-shaped [49]
Optic fibre sensors	Patellar	[50]
Strain evaluation	Achilles	[37,40]
(imaging techniques)		

Table 1. Forces and loads evaluation methodologies identified in the included studies.

Inverse dynamics

Fifteen studies used an indirect evaluation methodology based on inverse dynamics, 10 of them in the Achilles tendon and five in the patellar tendon. When inverse dynamics are used,

BMJ Open

tendon forces are estimated using different equations based on joint torque and moment arms, or integrating kinematic and kinetic data in musculoskeletal models. This methodology uses kinematics, often complemented with applied external forces, to calculate net joint moments [51]. Moment arms are estimated from previous literature data or estimated specifically for each patient through imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging or ultrasound.

Most of the included studies used motion capture systems for kinematics, while force plates were the most used device for obtaining kinetic data. Some studies used generic moment arms based on the published literature [32,44], other used previously described procedures and equations [36,38,41,42,46], while other estimated subject-specific moment arms based on imaging techniques [33,34]. Kinematic and kinetic data were integrated into different musculoskeletal models: three studies [35,37,43] used the Human Body Model [52], one [32] study used the OpenSim model [53], one study [33] used FreeBody model [54], while other studies [34,39,42] implemented other codes or models.

Force transducers

Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. The introduction of the force transducers was carried out during surgery with local anaesthesia. Three modalities of force transducers were applied: buckle force transducer [29–31], s-shaped force transducer [49], and load cell [47,48].

Optic fibre sensor

Dillon et al. (2008)[50] applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in both the anterior and the posterior regions of the proximal patellar tendon. This methodology was implemented Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

inserting an optic fibre sensor through the entire cross section of the tendon. The optic fibre was attached to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring.

Strain as a load measure

Two studies [37,40] carried out additional measurements for quantifying loads on the tendon through strain or differences in tendon length, both using ultrasound imaging. Revak et al. (2017) [37] calculated the tendon strain using the average Young modulus value (819 cm) reported in previous literature [56]. Rees et al. (2008) [40] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius muscle tendon junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion.

Type of exercises

Different types of exercises were analysed in the included studies. Heel raising and lowering exercises, involving concentric or eccentric plantarflexion, are commonly applied in Achilles tendinopathy rehabilitation. Eight studies including this type of exercises [32,34–37,40,39,33]. In patellar tendon disorders, different modalities of squats are commonly prescribed, as well as exercises involving knee flexion and extension. Eight [32,35,38,42,44–46,50] and two[41,50] studies analysed these types of exercises, respectively. Another exercise commonly applied for lower limb disorders such as lunge was analysed in two studies [35,43]. Three studies analysed step-up and step-down exercises or stairs climbing [32,41,50]. Finally [29–31,47–49]. Table 2 includes the type of exercises analysed in each study.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45

Table 2. Characteristics of the included studies.

Tendon

Population

Autor and

BMJ Open	bmjopen-2021-057605 on 1 by copyright, including
Type of exercise	Evaluation methodology ပ္သ
Dynamic exercises: seated single-legged heel	Inverse dynamics: Achiges tend
raise with 15 kg placed on the thigh, single-leg	calculated with inverse do with
and double-leg heel raises done at both	cm and normalized ter
comfortable and fast speed, lunges, squats, and	OpenSim. A motion an y is sys
step ups and step downs from a low box (12 cm)	to
and a high box (20 cm)	t snl

year	•			
Baxter et al. 2021 [32]	N= 8; Healthy; 6M, 2F; 30 ±4 years; BMI: 24.1 ±3.2	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated single-legged heel raise with 15 kg placed on the thigh, single-leg and double-leg heel raises done at both comfortable and fast speed, lunges, squats, and step ups and step downs from a low box (12 cm) and a high box (20 cm)	Inverse dynamics: Acher Endon load was estimated as the plantarflexion moment calculated with inverse downic analysis divided by a plantarflexor moment arm of 5 cm and normalized term and by participant bodyweight. Musculoskeletal model: OpenSim. A motion and give system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Chaudhry et al. 2015 [34]	N= 11; Healthy; 6M, 5F; 26.5 ±1.9 years; Weight: 65.92 ±10.5 kg; Height: 173 ±8 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: concentric (heel raising) and eccentric (heel lowering) ankle plantar flexion	Inverse dynamics: Achieve to ndon force was calculated by dividing the externally applied ankle joint mode to by the moment arm and normalized across subjects by body weight. The perpendicular distance to the ankle joint center from the line joining the calcaneus reaction of the Achilles tendon marker was taken as the moment arm after correction for skin thickness measured by ultrasound (US). Data analysis: Matlab code.
Gheidi et al. 2018 [35]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 22.1 ±1.8 years; Weight: 74.29 ±11.3 kg; Height: 177.7 ±8.4 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: unilateral and bilateral heel raising, squat, lunge	Inverse dynamics: Muscle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. Moment arms were based on previous literature (graphics-based model) [55]. The calculated muscle forces were used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by summing the muscle forces of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus during the stance phase of each exercise. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Kawakami et al. 2002 [36]	N= 6; Healthy; 6M; 24-45 years; Weight: 72 ±6 kg; Height: 171 ±5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: ankle plantar flexion at 40% of maximal voluntary force with and without countermovement	Inverse dynamics: The schifts tendon force was estimated by the following equation: Ft = Tq x d ⁻¹ , where d is the moment arm length of the Achilles' tendon and Tq the torque around the ank joint. Torque was estimated from the force at the ball of the foot tangential to the ackles on rotation arc multiplied by the distance from the estimated centre of angle joint to the ball of the foot, measured for each subject. The moment arm length as function of the ankle joint angle was derived from a previous report [56]. An electromonic meter and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Rees et al. 2008 [40]	N= 7; Healthy; 4M, 3F; 19-41 years;	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises	Inverse dynamics: Ache es Tondon force was calculated by dividing the ankle joint moment by the moment are between the Achilles tendon and the ankle joint centre. A motion analysis system, and force plate data were used for the procedure. Differences in tendon lengte The differences in the Achilles tendon length were calculated. The Achilles tendon length was calculated as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius muster tendon junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion (ultrasonography)
		For need	r review only - http://hmiopen.hmi.com/site/ak	ographique de 12

			BMJ Open	by cop	Page 14
				yright, incl	
Revak et al. 2017 [37]	N= 21; Healthy; 21M; 21.59 ±1.92 years; Weight: 75.81 ±1.24 kg; Height: 178.22 ±8.02 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated bilateral heel raising and lowering, standing bilateral heel raising and lowering, unilateral heel raising and lowering, and bilateral heel raising and unilateral lowering.	Inverse dynamics: Muser for muscle forces were then user muscle forces of the media Musculoskeletal moder, Hung A motion analysis syster Strain: Strain was calcum and previous literature [57	ces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The d to quantify total Achilles tendon force by summing the and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus for each exercise. an Body Model. force plate data were used for the procedure. using the average Young modulus of 819 cm reported in cultrasonography.
Sinclair et al. 2015 [38]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 23.61 ±4.17 years; Weight: 75.63 ±6.54 kg; Height: 178 ±10 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: back and front squat	Inverse dynamics: The plantar flexion moments ATL = MPF / MA. The room plane angle using a process A motion analysis system	s tendon load (ATL) was determined by dividing the by the estimated Achilles tendon moment arm (MA): t arm was quantified as a function of the ankle sagittal de described in previous literature [58]. f force plate data were used for the procedure.
Weinert- Aplin et al. 2015 [39]	N= 19; Healthy; 8M, 11F; M: 28 ±3 years; Weight: 73.4 ±12 kg; Height: 176 ±10 cm F: 29 ±6 years; Weight: 58.7 ±10.2 kg; Height: 163 ±5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: barefoot and in shoes eccentric heel-drop (with knee extended and flexed)	Inverse dynamics: Kine segmental moments a dynamics utilising New Musculoskeletal mode A motion analysis system a pressure measurements ystem	and kinetics were used to calculate the angles and inter nkle, knee and hip joints following established inverse uler equations of motion and segment dynamics [59]. If limb musculoskeletal model implemented in Matlab. force plate data (all conditions), and an in-shoe plantar m (for shod conditions) were used for the procedure.
Yeh et al. 2021 [33]	N= 18; Healthy; 11M, 7F; 29.6 ±3.8 years; Weight: 70.7 ±12.4 kg; Height: 171.8 ±7.5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: HSR and ECC protocols modification: Standing knee-straight heel drop and rise (100, 108-115, 125, 160 of %BW); seated heel drop and rise (13, 21-28, 38, 63 of %BW)	Inverse dynamics: Achest by the participant-spectic e Musculoskeletal mode: Frea were used for the procedure	ndon force was calculated by dividing the ankle torque fective moment arm estimated from the MRI. Body. A motion analysis system, force plate data and MF
Dillon et al. 2008 [50]	N= 7; Healthy; 7M; 26.4 ±3.9 years; BMI: 24.8 ±1.5	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: CONC and ECC one-leg squat (110°), CON and ECC knee extension with a 10-kg weight attached to the foot (90°), step up and step down	Optic fibre: An optic fibre te and the posterior regions of optic fibre being inserted the being attached to a transmit	chnique was used to detect forces in both the anterior the proximal patellar tendon. The technique entails the rough the entire cross section of the tendon and the end der-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring.
Earp et al. 2016 [45]	N= 10; Healthy; 10M; 25.8 ±2.8 years; Weight: 83.8 ±9.4 kg; Height: 177 ±6 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: depth back squat lifts with 60% of 1RM at three different speeds: slowfixed- tempo, volitional-speed without a pause, and maximum-speed jump)	Inverse dynamics: Patellar to by the joint-derived maned previously published node were estimated by companie dynamics equations and with equations provided in previous and force plate data were u	ndon forces were estimated by multiplying knee momen ardon forces were estimated by multiplying knee momen form length of the patella; as determined using a force platform and kinematic using standard inverse segmental masses estimated using the cadaver-derived usly published literature [61]. A motion analysis system ed for the procedure.
Frohm et al. 2007 [44]	N _{Total} = 14; Healthy; 14M N ₁ : 13; 36 ±9 years; Weight: 87 ±4 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: eccentric squats holding a weight (barbell disc) of 10 kg, eccentric squat in Bromsman device	Inverse dynamics: Patellar to the patellar tendon momen Moment arms were based [62]. A motion analysis syste	ndon force was estimated dividing the knee moment by arm, specific for the corresponding knee flexion angle. data for different angles reported in previous literature an and force plate data were used for the procedure.
					13

Page 15 of 47				BMJ Open	1 by copy
1 2 3					-2021-0576 right, inclu
4 5 6		N ₂ : 11; 39 ±10 years; Weight: 87 ±5 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm			05 on 25 Iding for
7 8 9 10 11	Reilly and Martens 1972 [41]	N= 3; Heathy; 3M; 24, 26, and 30 years	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: leg raising, stair climbing, and deep knee bends	Inverse dynamics: The sale ation for the leg raise exercise was a purely mathematical formulation of the moment arm and angles), whereas the other cases are a combination of the moment arm and angles), whereas the other determined parameter by the mathematical formulation with experimentally determined parameter by the measured force plate). Moment arm of the patellar tendon force be becaused from roentgenograms. A stroboscopic photography system and be plate data were used for the procedure.
13 14 15 16	Richards et al. 2016 [46]	N= 18; Healthy; 9M, 9F; 20-46 years; Weight: 75.1 kg (58.3-100)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: decline squats at 0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20° and 25°	Inverse dynamics: Pate and an force (PTF) was determined by dividing the extensor moment (ME by the tendon moment arm (PTMA): PTF = ME / PTMA. The moment arm was quarking as a function of the knee flexion angle by fitting a 2nd order polynomial curves to the data published in previous literature [63]. A motion analysis system and for the data were used for the procedure.
17 18 19 20 21	Zellmer et al. 2019 [43]	N= 25; Healthy; 25F 22.69 ±0.74 years; Weight: 61.55 ±9.74 kg; Height: 169.39 ±6.44 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: forward step lunge with knee in front of toes, forward step lunge with knee behind toes	Inverse dynamics: Musel defices were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The calculated muscle forces were used to quantify the total patellar tendon force by summing the muscle forces of the rectus femoris, vastus medialis, vastu lateralis, and vastus intermedius throughout each repetition. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis signed and force plate data were used for the procedure.
22 23 24 25	Zwerver et al. 2007 [42]	N= 5; Healthy; 2M, 3F; 19-24 years (mean 22); Weight: 58-84 kg (mean 72); Height: 168-200 cm (mean 180)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: single-leg decline squats at 0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20°, 25° and 30° (with and without a backpack of 10 kg)	Inverse dynamics: Nor halised patellar tendon forces were estimated according to the following formula: $F_{tended} = \frac{M}{d}$, where M is the ankle moment and d is the normalised moment affin of the patellar tendon. The calculation of moment arms were based on previous literature [64]. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
27 28 29	Edsfeldt et al. 2015 [30]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 (32-52) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted fingers extension and flexion of all fingers, unresisted isolated flexion of FDP, unresisted isolated flexion of FDS	Buckle force transduces Afer the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FDE and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force transduces were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surgery with local anaesthesia injected at the incision site.
30 31 32 33	Kursa et al. 2006 [29]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension at different angles (MP extension, 15° MP, 45° MP, 60° MP, MP flexion)	Buckle force transduce. After the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FD and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force transduces were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surgery with local angesthesia injected at the incision site.
34 35 36 37	Nikanjam et al. 2007 [31]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension	Buckle force transducer: After the flexor retinaculum ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FD and FDS tendons of the index were isolated and buckle force transducers were placed around each. The experiment was conducted during open carpal tunnel release greery with local anaesthesia.
38 39 40 41 42 43			Eorpea	rouiou oply http://bmiopop.bmi.com/site/ak	viiographique 14

			BMJ Open	l by copyrig	Page 16
				ght, inclu	021-0576
Powell and Trail 2004 [48]	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g)	Load cell: An apparatu con was used for the tend of for cell. During routine car all the tendon force measure control ring finger, middle fing or a control the thumb).	Secting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook" e measurements. The central hook is connected to a load minel decompression under local anaesthetic infiltration, were carried out on each exposed tendon (FDS of the endex finger; FDP of the ring finger or little finger; FPL of
Powell and Frail 2009 [47]	N= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F; 57 (23-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g) and resisted finger extension (rubber band)	Load cell: An apparatus con was used for the tendor br cell. During routine car tendon force measure of the ring finger, middle finger for	Sting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook" e measurements. The central hook is connected to a load nel decompression under local anaesthetic infiltration, were carried out on each exposed tendon (FDS of the ndex finger).
Schuind et al. 1992 [49]	N= 5; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 3M, 2F	Hand	Dynamic exercises: wrist and fingers flexion and extension	S-shaped force transd pollicis longus and FDS on for treatment of ca open carpal tunnel release	shaped force transducers were applied to the flexor DP tendons of the index finger in five patients operated nnel syndrome. The experiment was conducted during urgery with local anaesthesia.
				I training, and similar technolog	iopen.bmi.com/ on June 12. 2029
				gies.	5 at Agence Bibliographic
		For poo	r roviou only, http://hmionon.hmi.com/sito/a	hout/quidalings yhtml	6 15 6

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to directly and indirectly estimate the forces and loads transmitted to the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes. The main finding of this review is that most studies in dynamic exercises used an indirect method such as inverse dynamics, while there is a lack of direct measurements.

Inverse dynamics

Most of the studies included in this review used inverse dynamics as indirect evaluation of tendon loads and forces. This methodology uses measured kinematics and external forces to indirectly calculate net joint torques and forces in a body segment model [65]. With this system, the problems associated with the introduction of sensors inside the tendon are avoided. However, although this method is widely used, it is suggested that the results obtained differ from the actual due to incorrect modelling assumptions and measurement errors [65]. For example, classical inverse dynamics assumes idealised pin joints and the existence of rigid body segments, and that does not match reality [65]. Kinetics are introduced in the procedures with the intention of limiting these errors. However, due to the aforementioned difficulties of kinematics measurements, the kinematics and kinetics data are not always consistent. This creates a new problem due to the concurrency of data that does not match, forcing part of the data to be discarded [65]. These problems have been addressed in recent years, trying to obtain new procedures that limit the inconsistencies of the process [65].

There are different procedures based on inverse dynamics for the calculation of forces. Thus, although most of the included studies used similar kinematics (motion capture devices) and kinetics (force plates) assessment systems, these data were processed in different ways. Some

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

studies integrated these data in musculoskeletal models such as Human Body Model [35,37,43], OpenSim [32], FreeBody [33], among others [34,39,42]. These models make more or less precise assumptions that allow us to transform the kinematics and kinetics data into net torques of body segments, with a different margin of error in each of them. Likewise, the studies that used models such as the Human Body Model made an additional indirect estimate, first calculating the muscle forces and assuming that the forces in the tendon will be equal to the sum of the muscle forces of the agonist muscle group [35,37,43]. This fact could imply an additional error in the estimation. Other models included in this review estimated the tendon forces through a previous estimation of the values of the different moment arms, with some differences both in the models and in the equations used [34,39,42]. Different methods were used for estimating the moment arms. While some studies performed subject-specific calculations based on imaging techniques to minimise error [33,34], others studies used data from previously published literature (e.g. 5 cm ankle moment arm) [32,44]. Some studies used an intermediate method, based on the use of new or previously published equations together with specific data from each patient [36,38,41,42,46]. The method used is relevant because estimating anthropometric parameters for a specific subject on basis of a limited number of anthropometric characteristics combined with data of previously published studies is an additional source of potential error [65].

Despite all the above, modelling approaches have been widely employed to estimate tendon force and stress [51]. Thus, previous studies have used mathematical and modeling approaches for estimating these muscle and force loads [66–70]. The results of this review show that inverse dynamics is also the predominant option for evaluating dynamic exercises, despite being an indirect methodology.

Buckle force transducer

BMJ Open

In the last decades, an attempt has been made to develop measurement techniques that allow the forces and loads in the tendon to be directly evaluated. In this context, buckle transducers were one of the first devices to show a successful ability to directly assess these forces in various activities such as walking, running, cycling or jumping [22,71–73]. However, the use of this technology is limited due to the need to insert the sensors into the tendon. Thus, transducers must be biotolerable (for short-term measurements) and biocompatible (for longterm use), as well as easy to implant [17]. Devices should avoid to damage body tissues and to alter the tendon and joint mobility and neuromuscular function [17]. These requirements have limited its indications and forced the design of technology of a smaller size.

In this review, six studies introduced force transducers for measuring tendon forces during wrist and fingers flexion and extension rehabilitation exercises, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. Taking advantage of surgery to place the sensor makes it possible to compensate for part of the invasiveness that this procedure entails. However, reducing its application to this context significantly limits the type of patients and situations in which it is applied. Furthermore, in all cases the procedure was carried out after the application of anaesthesia, which together with the surgery procedure itself could have some impact on the measurement results.

Despite the existence of the previously mentioned studies of buckle transducers evaluating dynamic movements (walking, running, cycling, jumping), none of the studies included in this review used this technology to evaluate the forces in the Achilles and patellar tendons during dynamic exercises.

The introduction of the force transducers was carried out during surgery with local anaesthesia. Three modalities of force transducers were applied: buckle force transducer [29–31], s-shaped force transducer [49], and load cell [47,48].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Buckle force transducers technique consisted of a modified version of the method described by Dennerlein et al. (1997) [74]. This device consisted of a 9 x 16 x 4.5 mm stainless steel frame and a removable fulcrum designed to fit inside the carpal canal [29–31]. In this system, each tendon lies in semi-circular arches in the device [29–31]. The S-shaped force transducer consisted of a stainless steel frame combined with four strain gauges attached on its central beam [49]. In the case of load cell, an apparatus consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook" was used for the tendon force measurements [47,48]. The central hook was connected to a load cell, recording the applied forces.

Optic fibre sensor

The use of optic fibre sensors appeared as a smaller solution compared to previous force transducers (e.g. E-form and buckle force transducers) [75]. In this way, it was intended to alleviate some existing limitations, trying to reduce the magnitude of the surgical process required for its insertion and the healing process, as well as the possible interference of the sensor during movement [75]. During the last decades, different devices based on optic fibre have been developed and applied to directly measure tendon forces in vivo in humans in isometric contractions [76] and in dynamic activities such as walking or jumping [24,75,77–79]. However, the main limitation of this measurement technique is still the invasiveness of the procedure for introducing and removing the sensor [77]. The procedure is usually performed under local anesthesia, causing a wound of several centimeters in the tissue that can interfere with movement [77]. For this reason, in some cases it is considered to keep the sensor inside the body for several weeks until the wound heals and allows normal activity [77].

In this review, only one study used optic fibre sensors to detect forces in both the anterior and the posterior regions of the proximal patellar tendon [50]. The authors inserted an optic fibre sensor, attached to a transmitter-receiver unit, through the entire cross section of the tendon. Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

The sensor was introduced under local anaesthesia. Then, tendon forces were registered during dynamic exercises, removing the sensor at the end of all tests [50].

Although in the included studies this was the only direct method in lower limb tendons, the existence of a single study suggests that further study of the matter is still necessary in order to limit its drawbacks.

Strain

In this review, two studies included a strain or differences in tendon length measurement for measuring tendon loads using ultrasound imaging techniques [37,40]. Rees et al. (2008) [40] assessed the differences in tendon length in heel lowering and rising exercises, differentiating between the concentric and eccentric phases of the movement. Revak et al. (2017) [37] evaluated different versions of the heel raising exercise through the tendon strain, using an average Young modulus value of 819 cm.

Several authors have reported a linear relationship between tendon forces and tendon strain using in vitro tensile tests and in vivo ultrasound techniques [19,80–82]. Thus, some studies have used tendon and tendon-aponeurosis strain as load measurement technique in different isometric and dynamic activities [19,83,84]. However, some authors suggest that tendon undergoes non-uniform deformation under in vivo loading conditions [85–87], which would be a limitation for this method.

Other ultrasound-based techniques such as the shear-wave have been used to estimate the forces in the tendon in activities such as walking [88]. However, no studies using these procedures have been identified in the dynamic exercises collected in this review.

Other techniques: Burst vibrations

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

> During the review process, a proof-of-concept study was identified with a novel technique for evaluating forces in tendons [89]. However, the study did not meet the selection criteria. In this work, the feasibility of a technique based on burst vibrations for the evaluation of walking, running, and unilateral and bilateral heel raising was studied. Thus, tendon loads were measured using a vibration motor and an accelerometer placed 2 cm apart from each other on the skin superior to the Achilles tendon. The systems consist of exciting a vibration motor and collect the signals influenced by the tendon tension in the accelerometer [89]. It is suggested that a tendon on which low tension is applied responds to vibration with a steeper rising and falling edge, attributable to faster energy absorption and dissipation [89]. However, a tendon on which high tension is applied responds with a progressive rising and falling edge, attributable to a slower energy absorption and dissipation [89]. Although it has some limitations such as artifacts caused by noise on the skin caused by movement of the limbs [89], its non-invasiveness gives it an advantage over other evaluation methods.

Conclusions

Different evaluation methodologies are used for quantifying forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises. There is a predominant use of modelling and inverse dynamics, but force transducers, optic fibre, and estimations from strain data are also used.

Practical applications

Although the methods collected in this review allow a direct or indirect estimation of the forces and loads applied to the tendon during dynamic exercises, their very nature makes their applicability difficult in a clinical context. Research can use these tools to make general estimates of forces and loads in dynamic exercises, but the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to study each patient individually. The field

should continue to be developed looking for precise, direct techniques, with less measurement error and less invasiveness.

Funding

This work is part of a government-funded project supported by the University Teaching Training Programme (FPU) of the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of Spain. Grant number: FPU17/00161.

Competing interests

None

Data availability statement

No additional data available.

Contributorship Statement

Υ Υ ΑΙCΙ All authors contributed to the study design. AEE and AICV searched and screened the articles, with assistance from JC. All authors contributed to data analysis and interpretation of the data. AEE drafted the manuscript, AICV and JC revised it critically, and all authors contributed to revisions and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1 Scott A, Squier K, Alfredson H, et al. ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. Br J Sports Med 2020;54:260-2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

- 2 Cardoso TB, Pizzari T, Kinsella R, *et al.* Current trends in tendinopathy management. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* Published Online First: 8 March 2019. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001
 - 3 Docking SI, Cook J. How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact* 2019;**19**:300–10.
 - 4 Mellor R, Bennell K, Grimaldi A, *et al.* Education plus exercise versus corticosteroid injection use versus a wait and see approach on global outcome and pain from gluteal tendinopathy: prospective, single blinded, randomised clinical trial. *BMJ* 2018;**361**:k1662. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1662
 - 5 Beyer R, Kongsgaard M, Hougs Kjær B, *et al.* Heavy Slow Resistance Versus Eccentric Training as Treatment for Achilles Tendinopathy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Sports Med* 2015;**43**:1704–11. doi:10.1177/0363546515584760
 - 6 Kongsgaard M, Kovanen V, Aagaard P, et al. Corticosteroid injections, eccentric decline squat training and heavy slow resistance training in patellar tendinopathy. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009;19:790–802. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.00949.x
 - 7 Rio E, van Ark M, Docking S, et al. Isometric Contractions Are More Analgesic Than Isotonic Contractions for Patellar Tendon Pain: An In-Season Randomized Clinical Trial. *Clin J Sport Med* 2017;27:253–9. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000364
 - 8 Alfredson H, Pietilä T, Jonsson P, et al. Heavy-load eccentric calf muscle training for the treatment of chronic Achilles tendinosis. Am J Sports Med 1998;26:360–6. doi:10.1177/03635465980260030301
 - 9 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Thomeé P, et al. Eccentric overload training for patients with chronic Achilles tendon pain--a randomised controlled study with reliability testing of the evaluation methods. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2001;11:197–206.
 - Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Eriksson BI, et al. Continued sports activity, using a painmonitoring model, during rehabilitation in patients with Achilles tendinopathy: a randomized controlled study. Am J Sports Med 2007;35:897–906. doi:10.1177/0363546506298279
 - 11 Malliaras P, Cook J, Purdam C, *et al.* Patellar Tendinopathy: Clinical Diagnosis, Load Management, and Advice for Challenging Case Presentations. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 2015;**45**:887–98. doi:10.2519/jospt.2015.5987
- 12 Mascaró A, Cos MÀ, Morral A, *et al.* Load management in tendinopathy: Clinical progression for Achilles and patellar tendinopathy. *Apunts Med Esport* 2018;**53**:19–27. doi:10.1016/j.apunts.2017.11.005
- 13 Glos DL, Butler DL, Grood ES, *et al.* In vitro evaluation of an implantable force transducer (IFT) in a patellar tendon model. *J Biomech Eng* 1993;**115**:335–43. doi:10.1115/1.2895495
- 14 Dick TJM, Arnold AS, Wakeling JM. Quantifying Achilles tendon force in vivo from ultrasound images. *J Biomech* 2016;**49**:3200–7. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.036

- 15 Dumas R, Barré A, Moissenet F, et al. Can a reduction approach predict reliable joint contact and musculo-tendon forces? J Biomech 2019;95:109329. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.109329
- 16 Farris DJ, Buckeridge E, Trewartha G, et al. The effects of orthotic heel lifts on Achilles tendon force and strain during running. J Appl Biomech 2012;28:511–9. doi:10.1123/jab.28.5.511
- 17 Fleming BC, Beynnon BD. In vivo measurement of ligament/tendon strains and forces: a review. *Ann Biomed Eng* 2004;**32**:318–28. doi:10.1023/b:abme.0000017542.75080.86
- 18 Bull AMJ, Reilly P, Wallace AL, *et al.* A novel technique to measure active tendon forces: application to the subscapularis tendon. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA* 2005;**13**:145–50. doi:10.1007/s00167-004-0556-y
- 19 Kongsgaard M, Aagaard P, Roikjaer S, et al. Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats. Clin Biomech Bristol Avon 2006;21:748–54. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.03.004
- 20 Zhang X, Deng L, Yang Y, et al. Acute shoe effects on Achilles tendon loading in runners with habitual rearfoot strike pattern. *Gait Posture* 2020;**82**:322–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.09.027
- 21 Dixon SJ, Kerwin DG. The Influence of Heel Lift Manipulation on Achilles Tendon Loading in Running. *J Appl Biomech* 1998;**14**:374–89. doi:10.1123/jab.14.4.374
- 22 Gregor RJ, Komi PV, Järvinen M. Achilles tendon forces during cycling. *Int J Sports Med* 1987;**8 Suppl 1**:9–14. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025698
- 23 Ebrahimi A, Loegering IF, Martin JA, *et al*. Achilles tendon loading is lower in older adults than young adults across a broad range of walking speeds. *Exp Gerontol* 2020;**137**:110966. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2020.110966
- 24 Fröberg A, Komi P, Ishikawa M, *et al.* Force in the achilles tendon during walking with ankle foot orthosis. *Am J Sports Med* 2009;**37**:1200–7. doi:10.1177/0363546508330126
- 25 Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, *et al.* PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Ann Intern Med* 2018;**169**:467–73. doi:10.7326/M18-0850
- 26 Bramer WM, Rethlefsen ML, Kleijnen J, *et al.* Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. *Syst Rev* 2017;**6**:245. doi:10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y
- 27 Khalil H, Peters M, Godfrey CM, *et al.* An Evidence-Based Approach to Scoping Reviews. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs* 2016;**13**:118–23. doi:10.1111/wvn.12144
- 28 Peters MDJ, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, *et al.* Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *Int J Evid Based Healthc* 2015;**13**:141–6. doi:10.1097/XEB.000000000000000000
- 29 Kursa K, Lattanza L, Diao E, et al. In vivo flexor tendon forces increase with finger and wrist flexion during active finger flexion and extension. J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc 2006;24. doi:10.1002/jor.20110

30 Edsfeldt S, Rempel D, Kursa K, *et al.* In vivo flexor tendon forces generated during different rehabilitation exercises. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2015;**40**:705–10. doi:10.1177/1753193415591491

- 31 Nikanjam M, Kursa K, Lehman S, *et al.* Finger flexor motor control patterns during active flexion: an in vivo tendon force study. *Hum Mov Sci* 2007;**26**:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2006.09.002
- 32 Baxter JR, Corrigan P, Hullfish TJ, *et al.* Exercise Progression to Incrementally Load the Achilles Tendon. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2021;**53**:124–30. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000002459
- 33 Yeh C-H, Calder JD, Antflick J, et al. Maximum dorsiflexion increases Achilles tendon force during exercise for midportion Achilles tendinopathy. Scand J Med Sci Sports Published Online First: 16 April 2021. doi:10.1111/sms.13974
- 34 Chaudhry S, Morrissey D, Woledge RC, et al. Eccentric and concentric loading of the triceps surae: an in vivo study of dynamic muscle and tendon biomechanical parameters. J Appl Biomech 2015;31:69–78. doi:10.1123/jab.213-0284
- 35 Gheidi N, Kernozek TW, Willson JD, *et al.* Achilles tendon loading during weight bearing exercises. *Phys Ther Sport* 2018;**32**:260–8. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.05.007
- 36 Kawakami Y, Muraoka T, Ito S, *et al.* In vivo muscle fibre behaviour during countermovement exercise in humans reveals a significant role for tendon elasticity. *J Physiol* 2002;**540**:635–46. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2001.013459
- 37 Revak A, Diers K, Kernozek TW, *et al.* Achilles Tendon Loading During Heel-Raising and -Lowering Exercises. *J Athl Train* 2017;**52**:89–96. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.04
- 38 Sinclair J, Edmundson C, Atkins S, *et al.* The effect of front and back squat techniques on peak loads experienced by the Achilles tendon. *Balt J Health Phys Act* 2015;**07**. doi:10.29359/BJHPA.07.3.01
- 39 Weinert-Aplin RA, Bull AMJ, McGregor AH. Investigating the Effects of Knee Flexion during the Eccentric Heel-Drop Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med* 2015;**14**:459–65.
- 40 Rees JD, Lichtwark GA, Wolman RL, *et al.* The mechanism for efficacy of eccentric loading in Achilles tendon injury; an in vivo study in humans. *Rheumatol Oxf Engl* 2008;**47**:1493–7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken262
- 41 Reilly DT, Martens M. Experimental Analysis of the Quadriceps Muscle Force and Patello-Femoral Joint Reaction Force for Various Activities. *Acta Orthop Scand* 1972;**43**:126–37. doi:10.3109/17453677208991251
- 42 Zwerver J, Bredeweg SW, Hof AL. Biomechanical analysis of the single-leg decline squat. *Br J Sports Med* 2007;**41**:264–8. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032482
- 43 Zellmer M, Kernozek TW, Gheidi N, *et al.* Patellar tendon stress between two variations of the forward step lunge. *J Sport Health Sci* 2019;**8**:235–41. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2016.12.005
- 44 Frohm A, Halvorsen K, Thorstensson A. Patellar tendon load in different types of eccentric squats. *Clin Biomech* 2007;**22**:704–11. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.12.006

2 3 4 5		4
6 7 8 9		2
10 11 12 13 14		2
15 16 17 18		2
19 20 21 22		2
23 24 25 26 27		Į
28 29 30 31		1
32 33 34 35 36		ļ
37 38 39 40		!
41 42 43 44		ļ
45 46 47 48		ł
49 50 51 52 53		!
54 55 56 57		
58 59 60		ļ

- 45 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* Faster Movement Speed Results in Greater Tendon Strain during the Loaded Squat Exercise. *Front Physiol* 2016;**7**:366. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00366
- Richards J, Selfe J, Sinclair J, et al. The effect of different decline angles on the biomechanics of double limb squats and the implications to clinical and training practice. J Hum Kinet 2016;52:125–38. doi:10.1515/hukin-2015-0200
- 47 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons--the effect of extending the fingers against the resistance provided by rubber bands. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2009;**34**:186–9. doi:10.1177/1753193408096016
- 48 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons during passive and active movements of the fingers. *J Hand Surg* 2004;**29**:386–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhsb.2004.02.004
- 49 Schuind F, Garcia-Elias M, Cooney WP, *et al.* Flexor tendon forces: in vivo measurements. *J* Hand Surg 1992;**17**:291–8. doi:10.1016/0363-5023(92)90408-h
- 50 Dillon EM, Erasmus PJ, Müller JH, *et al.* Differential forces within the proximal patellar tendon as an explanation for the characteristic lesion of patellar tendinopathy: an in vivo descriptive experimental study. *Am J Sports Med* 2008;**36**:2119–27. doi:10.1177/0363546508319311
- 51 Kernozek T, Gheidi N, Ragan R. Comparison of estimates of Achilles tendon loading from inverse dynamics and inverse dynamics-based static optimisation during running. *J Sports Sci* 2017;**35**:2073–9. doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1255769
- 52 van den Bogert AJ, Geijtenbeek T, Even-Zohar O, *et al*. A real-time system for biomechanical analysis of human movement and muscle function. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2013;**51**:1069–77. doi:10.1007/s11517-013-1076-z
- 53 Seth A, Hicks JL, Uchida TK, *et al.* OpenSim: Simulating musculoskeletal dynamics and neuromuscular control to study human and animal movement. *PLoS Comput Biol* 2018;**14**:e1006223. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006223
- 54 Cleather DJ, Bull AMJ. The development of a segment-based musculoskeletal model of the lower limb: introducing FreeBody. *R Soc Open Sci* 2015;**2**:140449. doi:10.1098/rsos.140449
- 55 Delp SL, Loan JP, Hoy MG, *et al.* An interactive graphics-based model of the lower extremity to study orthopaedic surgical procedures. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1990;**37**:757–67. doi:10.1109/10.102791
- 56 Rugg SG, Gregor RJ, Mandelbaum BR, et al. In vivo moment arm calculations at the ankle using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). J Biomech 1990;23:495–501. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(90)90305-m
- 57 Wren TA, Yerby SA, Beaupré GS, *et al.* Mechanical properties of the human achilles tendon. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2001;**16**:245–51. doi:10.1016/s0268-0033(00)00089-9
- 58 Self BP, Paine D. Ankle biomechanics during four landing techniques. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2001;**33**:1338–44. doi:10.1097/00005768-200108000-00015

59 Winter DA. Three-Dimensional Kinematics and Kinetics. In: *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd 2009. 176–99. doi:10.1002/9780470549148.ch7

- 60 Visser JJ, Hoogkamer JE, Bobbert MF, et al. Length and moment arm of human leg muscles as a function of knee and hip-joint angles. Eur J Appl Physiol 1990;61:453–60. doi:10.1007/BF00236067
- 61 Robertson D, Caldwell G, Hamill J, *et al. Research Methods in Biomechanics*. Champlain, IL: : Human Kinetics 2004.
- 62 Smidt GL. Biomechanical analysis of knee flexion and extension. *J Biomech* 1973;**6**:79–92. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(73)90040-7
- 63 Herzog W, Read LJ. Lines of action and moment arms of the major force-carrying structures crossing the human knee joint. *J Anat* 1993;**182**:213–30.
- 64 Krevolin JL, Pandy MG, Pearce JC. Moment arm of the patellar tendon in the human knee. *J Biomech* 2004;**37**:785–8. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2003.09.010
- 65 Faber H, Soest AJ van, Kistemaker DA. Inverse dynamics of mechanical multibody systems: An improved algorithm that ensures consistency between kinematics and external forces. *PLOS ONE* 2018;**13**:e0204575. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0204575
- 66 Miller RH, Gillette JC, Derrick TR, *et al.* Muscle forces during running predicted by gradientbased and random search static optimisation algorithms. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin* 2009;**12**:217–25. doi:10.1080/10255840903093490
- 67 Morrow MM, Rankin JW, Neptune RR, *et al.* A comparison of static and dynamic optimization muscle force predictions during wheelchair propulsion. *J Biomech* 2014;**47**:3459–65. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.09.013
- 68 Lin Y-C, Dorn TW, Schache AG, et al. Comparison of different methods for estimating muscle forces in human movement. Proc Inst Mech Eng [H] 2012;226:103–12. doi:10.1177/0954411911429401
- 69 Penrod DD, Davy DT, Singh DP. An optimization approach to tendon force analysis. J Biomech 1974;7:123–9. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(74)90050-5
- 70 Harding DC, Brandt KD, Hillberry BM. Finger joint force minimization in pianists using optimization techniques. *J Biomech* 1993;**26**:1403–12. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(93)90091-R
- 71 Komi PV, Salonen M, Järvinen M, et al. In vivo registration of Achilles tendon forces in man. I. Methodological development. Int J Sports Med 1987;8 Suppl 1:3–8. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025697
- 72 Fukashiro S, Komi PV, Järvinen M, *et al.* In vivo Achilles tendon loading during jumping in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1995;**71**:453–8. doi:10.1007/BF00635880
- 73 Komi PV. Relevance of in vivo force measurements to human biomechanics. *J Biomech* 1990;**23 Suppl 1**:23–34. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(90)90038-5

- 74 Dennerlein JT, Miller JM, Mote CDJ, *et al.* A low profile human tendon force transducer: the influence of tendon thickness on calibration. *J Biomech* 1997;**30**:395–7. doi:10.1016/s0021-9290(96)00158-3
- Finni T, Komi PV, Lukkariniemi J. Achilles tendon loading during walking: application of a novel optic fiber technique. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1998;**77**:289–91. doi:10.1007/s004210050335
- 76 Arndt AN, Komi PV, Brüggemann G-P, *et al.* Individual muscle contributions to the in vivo achilles tendon force. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 1998;**13**:532–41.
- 77 Behrmann GP, Hidler J, Mirotznik MS. Fiber optic micro sensor for the measurement of tendon forces. *Biomed Eng Online* 2012;**11**:77. doi:10.1186/1475-925X-11-77
- 78 Ishikawa M, Finni T, Komi PV. Behaviour of vastus lateralis muscle-tendon during high intensity SSC exercises in vivo. Acta Physiol Scand 2003;178:205–13. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01149.x
- 79 Finni T, Komi PV, Lepola V. In vivo human triceps surae and quadriceps femoris muscle function in a squat jump and counter movement jump. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2000;**83**:416–26. doi:10.1007/s004210000289
- 80 Hansen P, Aagaard P, Kjaer M, et al. Effect of habitual running on human Achilles tendon load-deformation properties and cross-sectional area. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2003;95:2375–80. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00503.2003
- 81 Kannus P. Etiology and pathophysiology of chronic tendon disorders in sports. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 1997;**7**:78–85. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.1997.tb00123.x
- 82 Maganaris CN, Paul JP. In vivo human tendon mechanical properties. *J Physiol* 1999;**521 Pt** 1:307–13. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.00307.x
- 83 Sheehan FT, Drace JE. Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study. *Clin Orthop* 2000;:201–7.
- 84 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo. *SpringerPlus* 2013;**2**:212. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-212
- 85 Bojsen-Møller J, Magnusson SP. Heterogeneous Loading of the Human Achilles Tendon In Vivo. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 2015;**43**:190–197. doi:10.1249/JES.000000000000062
- 86 Slane LC, Thelen DG. Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading. *J Biomech* 2014;**47**:2831–5. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.07.032
- 87 Slane LC, Dandois F, Bogaerts S, *et al.* Non-uniformity in the healthy patellar tendon is greater in males and similar in different age groups. *J Biomech* 2018;**80**:16–22. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.08.021
- 88 Keuler EM, Loegering IF, Martin JA, *et al.* Shear Wave Predictions of Achilles Tendon Loading during Human Walking. *Sci Rep* 2019;**9**:13419. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-49063-7

89 Bolus NB, Jeong HK, Blaho BM, et al. Fit to Burst: Toward Noninvasive Estimation of Achilles Tendon Load Using Burst Vibrations. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2021;68:470–81. doi:10.1109/TBME.2020.3005353

to peet eview only

1	
2	
3	Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process.
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
20	
27	
20	
30	
31	
37	
32	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
30	
40	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
50	
60	
00	







Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process.

210x297mm (150 x 150 DPI)

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

SUPPLEMENTARY FILE

BMJ OPEN

Supplement to: *Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review*

re-Escuder, Anto.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Supplementary Append	dices
----------------------	-------

Appendix S1.	Detailed information sources and search strategy	.3

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons _____4

to occurrence on the occurrence of the occurrenc
				Google Scholar
	Pubmed	EMBASE	WOS	(200 primeras)
Tendon AND Load	3837	4311		200
Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]	100	183	536	
Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]	185	202	297	
Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]	90	111	83	
Tendon AND wave	893	1220	1282	200
Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]	685	755	801	
Tendon AND Force				200
Tendon AND Biomechanics				200
Tendon AND Properties				200
	5790	6782	2999	1000
Total			16571	1

Appendix S1. Detailed information sources and search strategy

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons

Autor and year	Title	Reasons for exclusion
	Achilles tendon shear wave	No tendon forces/load
	speed tracks the dynamic	evaluation
	modulation of standing balance	
Aita at al. 1008	The lead applied to the fact in a	No tondon forces (load
Alla et al. 1998	natellar ligament bearing cast	avaluation
Andereusia Duri et al	patenar ligament-bearing cast	evaluation
Andarawis-Puri et al.	tondon strain syntained using	No tendon forces/load
2010	tendon strain explained using	evaluation
	multiple regression models.	
Ando et al. 2019	Positive relationship between	No tendon forces/load
	passive muscle stiffness and	evaluation
AL	rapid force production	
Ateş et al. 2015	Muscle shear elastic modulus is	No tendon forces/load
	linearly related to muscle	evaluation
	torque over the entire range of	
	Isometric contraction intensity	
Beck et al. 2020	Cyclically producing the same	No tendon forces/load
	average muscle-tendon force	evaluation
	with a smaller duty increases	
	metabolic rate	
Bobbert et al. 1986	An estimation of power output	No tendon forces/load
	and work done by the human	evaluation
	triceps surae musle-tendon	
	complex in jumping	
Bojsen-Moller et al. 2003	Measuring mechanical	No tendon forces/load
	properties of the vastus lateralis	evaluation
	tendon-aponeurosis complex in	
	vivo by ultrasound imaging	
Bojsen-Møller et al. 2005	Muscle performance during	No tendon forces/load
	maximal isometric and dynamic	evaluation
	contractions is influenced by	
	the stiffness of the tendinous	
	structures	
Bolus et al. 2021	Fit to Burst: Toward	Proof-of-concept study
	Noninvasive Estimation of	
	Achilles Tendon Load Using	
	Burst Vibrations	
Breda et al. 2020	The association between	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon stiffness	evaluation
	measured with shear-wave	
	elastography and patellar	
	tendinopathy—a case-control	
	study	
Bruggemann 1985	Mechanical load on the Achilles-	Wrong publication type
	tendon during rapid dynamic	(Book chapter)
	sport movements	
Brum et al. 2013	In Vivo Achilles Tendon	No tendon forces/load
	Elasticity Assessment using	evaluation

	Supersonic Shear Imaging: a feasibility study	
Bujalski et al. 2018	A Monte Carlo analysis of muscle force estimation sensitivity to muscle-tendon properties using a Hill-based muscle model	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Burgess et al. 2007	Plyometric vs. Isometric training influences on tendon properties and muscle output	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cao et al. 2019	A multicenter large-sample shear wave ultrasound elastographic study of the achilles tendon in chinese adults	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cattagni et al. 2017	No Alteration of the Neuromuscular Performance of Plantar-Flexor Muscles After Achilles Tendon Vibration	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Centner et al. 2019	Low-load blood flow restriction training induces similar morphological and mechanical Achilles tendon adaptations compared with high-load resistance training	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Chang et al. 2020	Strain ratio of ultrasound elastography for the evaluation of tendon elasticity	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cheung et al. 2006	Effect of Achilles tendon loading on plantar fascia tension in the standing foot.	No dynamic exercises (No exercises evaluated)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2015	Estimation of tensile properties of the Achilles tendon in haemophilic arthropathy of the ankle: case study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2019	Assessment of tensile mechanical properties of the Achilles tendon in adult patients with haemophilic arthropathy. Reproducibility study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Deforth et al. 2019	The effect of foot type on the Achilles tendon moment arm and biomechanics	No tendon forces/load evaluation

Delp et al. 2007	OpenSim: open-source software to create and analyze dynamic simulations of movement.	Wrong publication type
Dennerlein et al. 1999	In vivo finger flexor tendon force while tapping on a keyswitch	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Ebrahimi et al. 2020	Shear Wave Tensiometry Reveals an Age-Related Deficit in Triceps Surae Work at Slow and Fast Walking Speeds	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Ejeskar et al. 1982	Finger flexion force and hand grip strength after tendon repair	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Firminger et al. 2019	Effect of Shoe and Surface Stiffness on Lower Limb Tendon Strain in Jumping	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Fowler and Nicol 2000	Interphalangeal joint and tendon forces: normal model and biomechanical consequences of surgical reconstruction	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Fowler et al. 1999	Measurement of external three- dimensional interphalangeal loads applied during activities of daily living	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Friesenbichler et al. 2019	Gait and strength asymmetries in patients with insertional achilles tendinopathy	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Fröberg et al. 2020	The Effect of Ankle Foot Orthosis' Design and Degree of Dorsiflexion on Achilles Tendon Biomechanics-Tendon Displacement, Lower Leg Muscle Activation, and Plantar Pressure During Walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gerus et al. 2011	A method to characterize in vivo tendon force-strain relationship by combining ultrasonography, motion capture and loading rates	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Gerus et al. 2012	Subject-Specific Tendon- Aponeurosis Definition in Hill- Type Model Predicts Higher Muscle Forces in Dynamic Tasks	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Giacomozzi et al. 2015	Does the thickening of Achilles tendon and plantar fascia	No tendon forces/load evaluation

1	
2	
3	
1	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
∠∠ วว	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
27	
22	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
<u>م</u>	
_ _/1	
+1 ⊿⊃	
4Z	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
50	
59	
00	

	contribute to the alteration of diabetic foot loading?	
Gomes et al. 2020	Is there a relationship between back squat depth, ankle flexibility, and Achilles tendon stiffness?	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hager et al. 2020	Influence of joint angle on muscle fascicle dynamics and rate of torque development during isometric explosive contractions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hansen et al. 2006	Mechanical properties of the human patellar tendon, in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Harding et al. 1993	Finger joint force minimization in planists using optimization techniques	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Harlaar et al. 2020	Patellofemoral joint contact forces at different activities - effects of modeling assumptions	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Harnie et al. 2020	Acute effect of tendon vibration applied during isometric contraction at two knee angles on maximal knee extension force production	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hashizume and Yanagiya 2016	Influences of the foot strike pattern and the running speed on the forces applied to foot	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Haufe et al. 2020	Biomechanical effects of passive hip springs during walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hauraix et al. 2015	In vivo maximal fascicle- shortening velocity during plantar flexion in humans.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Heinemeier et al. 2016	Methods of Assessing Human Tendon Metabolism and Tissue Properties in Response to Changes in Mechanical Loading	Wrong publication type (Book chapter)
Helland et al. 2013	Mechanical properties of the patellar tendon in elite volleyball players with and without patellar tendinopathy.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Histen et al. 2017	Achilles Tendon Properties of Minimalist and Traditionally Shod Runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Hoang et al. 2007	Passive mechanical properties	No dynamic exercises
	of human gastrocnemius	
	muscle-tendon units, muscle	
	fascicles and tendons in vivo	
Hof et al. 2002	Mechanics of human triceps	No tendon forces/load
	surae muscle in walking,	evaluation
	running and jumping	
Holzer et al. 2020	Considerations on the human	Wrong study design
	Achilles tendon moment arm	(calculations using results
	for in vivo triceps surae muscle-	from other studies)
	tendon unit force estimates	
Homayuouni et al. 2015	Modeling Implantable Passive	No tendon forces/load
	Mechanisms for Modifying the	evaluation
	Transmission of Forces and	
	Movements Between Muscle	
	and Tendons	
Hopper et al. 2015	Dance floor force reduction	No tendon forces/load
•	influences ankle loads in	evaluation
	dancers during drop landings.	
Hu et al. 2014	Biomechanical Analysis of Force	Tendon forces are used as
	Distribution in Human Finger	part of the calculation of
	Extensor Mechanisms	other parameters and not
		reported as evaluation
		results
Hullfish et al. 2020	A simple instrumented insole	No tendon forces/load
	algorithm to estimate plantar	evaluation
	flexion moments	
Jones et al. 1985	Effect of muscle tendon	No tendon forces/load
	vibration on the perception of	evaluation
	force	
Joseph et al. 2014	Achilles tendon biomechanics in	No dynamic exercises
·	response to acute intense	,
	exercise.	
Kathy Cheng et al. 2008	Finite element analysis of	Wrong study design (Finite
, - <u>-</u>	plantar fascia under stretch—	element analysis)/ No
	The relative contribution of	tendon forces/load
	windlass mechanism and	evaluation
	Achilles tendon force	
Kawakami et al. 2002	Effect of series elasticity on	Tendon forces are used as
	isokinetic torque-angle	nart of the calculation of
	relationship in humans	other narameters and not
		reported as evaluation
		results
Kava and Yucesov 2020	Muscle-tendon unit length-	No tendon forces/load
Ruya and Taccoby 2020	snastic muscle force data by	evaluation
	combined intraoperative-	
	musculoskeletal modelling work	
Karnozak at al 2016	Comparing Two Mothods for	Wrong publication type
NETHOZEK EL dI. 2010	Estimating Achilles Tondon	(Conforance proceeding)
	Estimating Achilles Tendon	(conterence proceeding)
	Loading during Running	

2
3
Δ
5
ر د
6
7
8
9
10
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
17
18
19
20
21
22
25
∠⊃ ⊃4
24
25
26
27
28
20
29
30
31
32
33
34
24
35
36
37
38
30
40
40
41
42
43
44
45
75 74
40
47
48
49
50
51
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
57
58
59

		I
Kernozek et al. 2018	The effects of habitual foot strike patterns on Achilles tendon loading in female runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Kongsgaard et al. 2006	Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats	No dynamic exercises
Kouno et al. 2019	Effects of the strain rate on mechanical properties of tendon structures in knee extensors and plantar flexors in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Kruse et al. 2019	Effects of serial casting on muscle-tendon properties, muscle function and gait in a healthy child with calf muscle shortening	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 1999	Influence of elastic properties of tendon structures on jump performance in humans	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2000	Elastic properties of muscle- tendon complex in long- distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2001	Influence of static stretching on viscoelastic properties of human tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2002	Measurement of viscoelastic properties of tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2003	Gender differences in the viscoelastic properties of tendon structures	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2005	Effects of cold and hot water immersion on the mechanical properties of human muscle and tendon in vivo.	No dynamic exercises
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between elastic properties of tendon structures and performance in long distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between Achilles tendon properties and foot strike patterns in long-distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2020	Mechanical properties of muscle and tendon at high strain rate in sprinters	No tendon forces/load evaluation

Lee et al. 2015	Repeatability and agreement of digital image correlation (DIC) for regional strain estimates of the in-vivo human patellar tendon	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lian et al. 1996	Characteristics of the leg extensors in male volleyball players with jumper's knee	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lian et al. 2003	Performance characteristics of volleyball players with patellar tendinopathy	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lichtwark et al. 2006	Interactions between the human gastrocnemius muscle and the Achilles tendon during incline, level and decline locomotion.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Lichtwark et al. 2011	Achilles tendon (3D): Do the mechanical properties of tendon change in response to exercise?	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Lima et al. 2017	Triceps surae elasticity modulus measured by shear wave elastography is not correlated to the plantar flexion torque	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lu et al. 2013	Quantifying Catch-and-Release: The Extensor Tendon Force Needed to Overcome the Catching Flexors in Trigger Fingers	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Mademli et al. 2008	Age-related effect of static and cyclic loadings on the strain- force curve of the vastus lateralis tendon and aponeurosis	No dynamic exercises
Marouane et al. 2017	Changes in Knee Adduction Rotation and not Adduction Moment Influence Joint Compartmental Load Partitioning	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Martin et al. 2012	Effects of the index finger position and force production on the flexor digitorum superficialis moment arms at the metacarpophalangeal joints - a magnetic resonance imaging study.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Martin et al. 2018	Gauging force by tapping tendons	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Matsubayashi et al. 2008	Ultrasonographic measurement of tendon displacement caused	No tendon forces/load evaluation

1	
2	
2	
1	
4	
2	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
1/	
15	
10	
10	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
20	
27	
20	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
<u>⊿</u> 1	
<u>4</u> 2	
-⊤∠ ⁄\⊃	
45 44	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
55	
50	
5/	
58	
59	

	by active force generation in the psoas major muscle	
McCrum et al. 2018	Loading rate and contraction	Tendon forces are used as
	duration effects on in vivo	nart of the calculation of
	human Achilles tendon	other parameters and not
	mechanical properties	reported as evaluation
	incentinear properties	results
McMahon et al. 2013	The manipulation of strain,	Tendon forces are used as
	when stress is controlled,	part of the calculation of
	modulates in vivo tendon	other parameters and not
	mechanical properties but not	reported as evaluation
	systemic TGF-β1 levels	results
McNair et al. 2013	Biomechanical properties of the	No tendon forces/load
	plantar flexor muscle-tendon	evaluation
	complex 6 months post-rupture	
U,	of the Achilles tendon	
Mileusnic et al. 2009	Force estimation from	No tendon forces/load
	ensembles of Golgi tendon	evaluation
	organs	
Mimura 1986	[The load-bearing function of a	No tendon forces/load
Manta 2024	patellar tendon bearing cast	evaluation
Monte 2021	In vivo manipulation of muscle	No tendon forces/load
	snape and tendinous stiffness	evaluation
	affects the numan ability to	
Nicol et al. 1009	Significance of passivoly	No activo ovorcisos
NICOLET AL 1998	significance of passively	NO active exercises
	achilles tenden force	evaluated
	enhancement	
Nicol et al. 1999	Quantification of Achilles	No active exercises
	tendon force enhancement by	evaluated
	passively induced dorsiflexion	evaluated
	stretches	
Okuyama et al. 2019	Study on fingertip force sensor	Tendon forces are used as
	based on measurement of	part of the calculation of
	tendon tension	other parameters
Olszewski et al. 2015	Achilles tendon moment arms:	No dynamic exercises
	the importance of measuring at	
	constant tendon load when	
	using the tendon excursion	
	method.	
Pearson et al. 2013	The use of normalized cross-	Tendon forces are used as
	correlation analysis for	part of the calculation of
	automatic tendon excursion	other parameters and not
	measurement in dynamic	reported as evaluation
	ultrasound imaging.	results
Peltonen et al. 2013	Viscoelastic properties of the	Tendon forces are used as
	Achilles tendon in vivo	part of the calculation of
		other parameters and not
		reported as evaluation
		results

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Perl et al. 2012	Effects of Footwear and Strike	No tendon forces/load
Detrosculat al 2016	Type on Running Economy	evaluation (no data)
Petrescu et al. 2016	pathological Achillos tondon by	avaluation (no data)
	real time chear wave	
	alactography	
Dowley et al. 2000		No tondon foreac/load
Rowley et al. 2000	tandan baaring cast on loading	No tendon forces/load
Colmon et al. 2010	Croatial Variations in Ashillas	
Saiman et al. 2019	Spatial variations in Achilles	(Conformation type
	Lising a Cast Effective Method	(conterence proceeding)
	of Accelerometers	
Saltzman et al. 1992	The patellar tenden bearing	No tondon forcos /load
Saltzman et al. 1992	brace as treatment for	ovaluation
	pourotrophic arthropathy: a	
	dynamic force monitoring	
	study	
Sasaki et al. 2010	Flectromyographic analysis of	No tendon forces/load
	infrasninatus and scanular	evaluation
	muscles during external	evaluation
	shoulder rotation with different	
	weight loads and positions.	
Sheehan et al. 2000	Human patellar tendon strain A	No tendon forces/load
	noninvasive, in vivo study	evaluation
Sinsel et al. 2013	The musculoskeletal loading	No tendon forces/load
	profile of the thumb during	evaluation during exercises
	pipetting based on tendon	
	displacement	
Slane et al. 2014	Non-uniform displacements	No tendon forces/load
	within the Achilles tendon	evaluation
	observed during passive and	
	eccentric loading	
Stafilidis et al. 2007	Muscle-tendon unit mechanical	Tendon forces are used as
	and morphological properties 🕓	part of the calculation of
	and sprint performance	other parameters and not
		reported as evaluation
		results
Stanojev et al. 2018	Effects of patellar tendon strap	Wrong publication type
	bracing on the motor	(Conference proceeding)
	performance and biomechanics	
	of healthy adolescent athletes	
Stegman et al. 2009	A feasibility study for measuring	Wrong publication type
	accurate tendon displacements	(Conference proceeding)
	using an audio-based Fourier	
	analysis of pulsed-wave Doppler	
	ultrasound signals.	
Sugisaki et al. 2011	Effect of muscle contraction	Tendon forces are used as
	levels on the force-length	part of the calculation of
	relationship of the human	other parameters and not
	Achilles tendon during	reported as evaluation
		results

1	
2	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
10	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
21 22	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
20	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
21	
52	
33	
34	
35	
36	
20	
37	
38	
39	
40	
11	
40	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
4/	
48	
49	
50	
51	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
57	
58	
59	

	lengthening of the triceps surae	
Cusensileh Leiteh et el		Mana a white the two
Sussimiliti-Leittin et al.	kinematics and kinetics in male	(Conference presending)
2012	ruppors with Ashillos	(conference proceeding)
	tandinanathu	
Taking di 4000	tendinopatny	
Taniguchi 1988	[The load bearing function of	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon bearing brace	evaluation
	on the relation between shaft	
	length and rate of load bearing	
Thomeer et al. 2020	Load Distribution at the	No tendon forces/load
	Patellofemoral Joint During	evaluation
	Walking.	
Totorean et al. 2014	The role of plantar pressure	No tendon forces/load
	evaluation in rehabilitation of	evaluation
	patients with Achilles tendon	
	ruptures	
Ullrich et al. 2010	Influence of length-restricted	No tendon forces/load
	strength training on athlete's	evaluation
	power-load curves of knee	
	extensors and flexors	
Ushiyama et al. 2005	Difference in aftereffects	No tendon forces/load
	following prolonged Achilles	evaluation
	tendon vibration on muscle	
	activity during maximal	
	voluntary contraction among	
	plantar flexor synergists	
Veeger et al. 2002	Load on the shoulder in low	No tendon forces/load
	intensity wheelchair propulsion.	evaluation
Wearing et al. 2019	Do habitual foot-strike patterns	No tendon forces/load
	in running influence functional	evaluation
	Achilles tendon properties	
	during gait?	
Wearing et al. 2020	Transmission-Mode Ultrasound	No tendon forces/load
	for Monitoring the	evaluation
	Instantaneous Elastic Modulus	
	of the Achilles Tendon During	
	Unilateral Submaximal Vertical	
	Hopping	
Werkhausen et al. 2018	Effect of training-induced	No tendon forces/load
	changes in achilles tendon	evaluation
	stiffness on muscle-tendon	
	behavior during landing	
Werkhausen et al. 2019	Distinct muscle-tendon	No tendon forces/load
	interaction during running at	evaluation
	different speeds and in different	
	loading conditions.	
Westphal et al. 2013	Load-Dependent Variations in	No dynamic exercises (No
	Knee Kinematics Measured with	exercises are used)
	Dynamic MRI	

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

2
2
ر ۸
4
5
6
7
8
q
10
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
10
17
18
19
20
21
22
-∠- 22
23
24
25
26
27
28
20
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
26
50
37
38
39
40
41
 ⊿ว
+∠ 42
43
44
45
46
47
48
10
49 50
50
51
52
53
54
55
55
20
57
58

59 60

Woodburn et al. 2013	Achilles tendon biomechanics in	The method of evaluating
	psoriatic arthritis patients with	tendon forces is not
	ultrasound proven enthesitis	specified.
Wretenberg et al. 1993	Passive knee muscle moment	No active exercises
	arms measured in vivo with MRI	
Wu et al. 2013	The musculoskeletal loading	No tendon forces/load
	profile of the thumb during	evaluation
	pipetting based on tendon	
	displacement	
Yamaguchi et al. 2002	Effect of different frequencies	Wrong language (Japanese)
	of skipping rope on elastic	
	components of muscle and	
	tendon in human triceps surae	
Yamamoto et al. 2020	Effects of Varying Plantarflexion	No tendon forces/load
	Stiffness of Ankle-Foot Orthosis	evaluation
O	on Achilles Tendon and	
	Propulsion Force during Gait	
Yoshitake et al. 2004	Fluctuations in plantar flexion	No tendon forces/load
	force are reduced after	evaluation
	prolonged tendon vibration	

ie <u>i Forc.</u> Jons in pla Inged tendon vibi

Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) Checklist

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a scoping review.	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary that includes (as applicable): background, objectives, eligibility criteria, sources of evidence, charting methods, results, and conclusions that relate to the review questions and objectives.	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known. Explain why the review questions/objectives lend themselves to a scoping review approach.	4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the questions and objectives being addressed with reference to their key elements (e.g., population or participants, concepts, and context) or other relevant key elements used to conceptualize the review questions and/or objectives.	5
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists; state if and where it can be accessed (e.g., a Web address); and if available, provide registration information, including the registration number.	5
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify characteristics of the sources of evidence used as eligibility criteria (e.g., years considered, language, and publication status), and provide a rationale.	6
Information sources*	7	Describe all information sources in the search (e.g., databases with dates of coverage and contact with authors to identify additional sources), as well as the date the most recent search was executed.	5
Search	8	Present the full electronic search strategy for at least 1 database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	5
Selection of sources of evidence†	9	State the process for selecting sources of evidence (i.e., screening and eligibility) included in the scoping review.	7
Data charting process‡	10	Describe the methods of charting data from the included sources of evidence (e.g., calibrated forms or forms that have been tested by the team before their use, and whether data charting was done independently or in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	7
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought and any assumptions and simplifications made.	7
Critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence§	12	If done, provide a rationale for conducting a critical appraisal of included sources of evidence; describe the methods used and how this information was used in any data synthesis (if appropriate).	N/A
Synthesis of results	13	Describe the methods of handling and summarizing the data that were charted.	7



St. Michael's

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE <u>#</u>
RESULTS			
Selection of sources of evidence	14	Give numbers of sources of evidence screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally using a flow diagram.	8
Characteristics of sources of evidence	15	For each source of evidence, present characteristics for which data were charted and provide the citations.	8
Critical appraisal within sources of evidence	16	If done, present data on critical appraisal of included sources of evidence (see item 12).	N/A
Results of individual sources of evidence	17	For each included source of evidence, present the relevant data that were charted that relate to the review questions and objectives.	9
Synthesis of results	18	Summarize and/or present the charting results as they relate to the review questions and objectives.	9
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	19	Summarize the main results (including an overview of concepts, themes, and types of evidence available), link to the review questions and objectives, and consider the relevance to key groups.	16
Limitations	20	Discuss the limitations of the scoping review process.	21
Conclusions	21	Provide a general interpretation of the results with respect to the review questions and objectives, as well as potential implications and/or next steps.	21
FUNDING			
Funding	22	Describe sources of funding for the included sources of evidence, as well as sources of funding for the scoping review. Describe the role of the funders of the scoping review.	22

extension for Scoping Reviews.

* Where sources of evidence (see second footnote) are compiled from, such as bibliographic databases, social media platforms, and Web sites.

[†] A more inclusive/heterogeneous term used to account for the different types of evidence or data sources (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy documents) that may be eligible in a scoping review as opposed to only studies. This is not to be confused with *information sources* (see first footnote).

[‡] The frameworks by Arksey and O'Malley (6) and Levac and colleagues (7) and the JBI guidance (4, 5) refer to the process of data extraction in a scoping review as data charting.

§ The process of systematically examining research evidence to assess its validity, results, and relevance before using it to inform a decision. This term is used for items 12 and 19 instead of "risk of bias" (which is more applicable to systematic reviews of interventions) to include and acknowledge the various sources of evidence that may be used in a scoping review (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy document).

From: Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMAScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169:467–473. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850.



St. Michael's Inspired Care. Inspiring Science. For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml

BMJ Open

BMJ Open

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces, stress, and strain in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

Journal:	BMJ Open
Manuscript ID	bmjopen-2021-057605.R1
Article Type:	Original research
Date Submitted by the Author:	21-Apr-2022
Complete List of Authors:	Escriche-Escuder, Adrian; Universidad de Málaga, Physiotherapy Cuesta-Vargas, Antonio I; University of Malaga, Physioterapy; Queensland University of Technology, Health Casaña, Jose; University of Valencia, Physiotherapy; University of Valencia,
Primary Subject Heading :	Rehabilitation medicine
Secondary Subject Heading:	Sports and exercise medicine
Keywords:	Musculoskeletal disorders < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, SPORTS MEDICINE, REHABILITATION MEDICINE, Foot & ankle < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, Hand & wrist < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY
	·





I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our <u>licence</u>.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which <u>Creative Commons</u> licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

terez oni

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies

For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Title: Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces, stress, and strain in dynamic

rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

Adrian Escriche-Escuder^{1,2}, Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas^{1,2,3} José Casaña⁴

Corresponding author: Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas; acuesta@uma.es

Departamento de Fisioterapia, Universidad de Málaga. C/ Arquitecto Peñalosa, 3. PC: 29071.

Malaga (Spain)

Affiliations

¹Department of Physiotherapy, University of Malaga, Malaga, Spain

²Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), Malaga, Spain

³School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology,

Brisbane, Queensland, Australia

⁴Department of Physiotherapy, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Word count: 7365

BMJ Open

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces, stress, and strain in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Although exercise is considered the preferred approach for tendinopathies, the actual load that acts on the tendon in loading programmes is usually unknown. The objective of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces, stress, and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises used during rehabilitation.

Design: Scoping review.

Data sources: Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar were searched from database inception to February 2021.

Eligibility criteria: Cross-sectional or longitudinal studies available in English or Spanish language were included if they focused on evaluating the forces, stress, or strain of human tendons in vivo during dynamic exercises. They were excluded if did not described being evaluating the tendon; if not evaluated dynamic exercises other than running, walking, jumping or landing; and if they were conference proceedings or book chapters.

Data extraction and synthesis: Data extracted included year of publication; study setting; study population characteristics; technique used, and exercises evaluated. The studies were grouped by the types of techniques and the tendon location.

Results: Twenty-one studies were included. Fourteen studies used an indirect methodology based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles and five in the patellar tendon. Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. One study applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in the patellar tendon. Four studies measured strain or tendon length using ultrasound imaging techniques. Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Conclusions: There is a predominant use of inverse dynamics, but force transducers, optic fibre, and estimations from strain data are also used. Although these tools may be used to make general estimates, the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to provide immediate feedback to the individuals measured.

Keywords: Foot & ankle; hand & wrist; musculoskeletal disorders; rehabilitation medicine;

sports medicine

Strengths and limitations of the study

- The extensive search carried out in this review in four of the main databases allows the reader to approach a wide field of knowledge.
- This review provides a summary of the available literature on the study of forces, stress, and strain that act on the tendon during dynamic exercises.
- Grouping the assessment tools into subgroups allows an analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of each option.
- Some studies might not have been identified due to the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety of terms used.

INTRODUCTION

Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading[1]. The high incidence and prevalence of this disorder alters the ability of people to work, exercise, or perform activities of daily life, causing a great social and economic burden[2].

Current knowledge supports the need to integrate an active approach for tendinopathy, based on a conservative management that includes education, exercise (with appropriate management and modification of loads), and support interventions for pain and symptom control[2]. Thus, loading intervention through a progressive exercise programme is considered an essential part of the management of tendinopathies due to the vast evidence published in the last decades[3,2,4–6]. These approaches focus on producing adequate stimulus that generate adaptations and increase the tolerance of the tendon and other body tissues and systems to load and exercise[3,7]. Regarding the adaptations in the tendon, research data suggests that tenocytes respond to adequate or excessive/insufficient mechanical loading (i.e. tendon strain) by inducing anabolic and catabolic processes of matrix proteins, respectively, through a process known as mechanotransduction[7–11].

Different exercise modalities and intensities have been applied in tendinopathy with reasonably good results[6,12–14]. Likewise, different strategies have been implemented for handling and modifying the applied loads[15–17]. However, although concepts such as repetition maximum (RM) have made it possible to parameterise and quantify the applied dose based on the subject's ability to perform an activity a specific number of repetitions, the actual load that acts on the tendon in these activities is usually unknown. For both prevention and treatment of tendinopathy, proper load management would benefit from a greater understanding of the loads that act on the tendon during exercises. Thus, this knowledge could provide direct evidence for activity selection, ensuring that the strain levels produced are within the appropriate spot to elicit the desired adaptations[7].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

In the analysis of the loads that act on the tendon, it is relevant to differentiate between concepts such as force, stress and strain. Despite the relationship between the concepts of force and stress, the basic difference is that force is the external action applied to a body, while tension stress is the resistance force developed by the body to resist deformation (force on a body per unit area)[18]. Therefore, stress depends on the mechanical properties of the body and varies between different tendons and contexts for a given force. The resulting deformation can be in the form of a change in length (if tensile stress), volume (if compressional stress), and shape (if shear stress) of the affected body. In this regard, research data suggests that human tendons usually have a fracture stress of approximately 100 N/m²[19]. This value offers a safety margin since, in practice, most tendons are not usually subject to stresses greater than 30 N/m2 (tendons such as the Achilles sometimes experience stresses of up to 70 N/m²)[19]. Finally, if stress is related to the resistance force and is measured in N/m^2 , strain refers to a measure of the extent to which a body is deformed due to this stress[18]. Thus, strain will also have a different nature depending on the stress that produces it (e.g. tensile or compressive strain). Although tendons are subjected to compression, tension, or shear forces in daily activities [20,21], it is the tensile load (and the strain it produces) that plays a leading role in the function of the tendon[22]. Therefore, the evaluation of the tensile stress and strain is especially relevant for the study of the loading programmes[23].

Regardless of the parameter evaluated, it is important to take into account a factor that makes this study difficult: tendons are not uniaxial structures but are usually made up of different bundles[24]. This causes regional variations in mechanical properties, and the distribution of forces and strains throughout the tissue is not uniform[25]. Tendon forces have been calculated through in vitro studies[26], as well as have been estimated through in vivo indirect calculations based on body position, joint reaction forces, and inverse dynamic models[27–29]. Additionally, as underlined by a previous review, invasive evaluations using force transducers and optic fibre

BMJ Open

techniques have enabled the direct measurement of forces in tendons of the hand and the Achilles and patellar tendons[25].

Medical imaging techniques such as ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging have previously made it possible to directly measure strain during isometric contractions[30], walking[31,32], running[29,33], and hopping[34]. However, transducer position may affect ultrasound measurements significantly, and it is necessary a rigid fixation over the tissue that may alter movement patterns[35]. Therefore, its use in some dynamic activities is still limited.

Internal tendon stress cannot be directly measured non-invasively[36]. It can be evaluated in vitro or estimated from tendon forces (e.g. calculated by dividing the tendon force by the subject's cross-sectional area[37–39]) with the help of biomechanical models. However, these calculations are subject to large errors due to their dependence on the accuracy of some assumptions about the tendon's mechanical properties[36].

Some reviews have been previously published focused on the evaluation of tendon loads (especially forces and strain)[25,35]. These reviews are not specific to dynamic rehabilitation exercises and include mainly methods developed for the study of isometric contractions[30,40] or cyclic activities such as running[41,42], cycling[27,43], or walking[44,45]. Some of these methods have been adapted to the study of dynamic exercises (such as rehabilitation exercises), but the study of this type of exercises is still scarce due to the limitations of these tools[35]. Therefore, there is still a lack of studies addressing the direct measurement of loads and the evaluation of dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

The aim of this study is to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to, directly and indirectly, estimate the forces, stress, and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

This scoping review was undertaken following the PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guidelines[46]. This review has not been registered in PROSPERO because this platform does not currently accept registrations for scoping reviews, literature reviews or mapping reviews.

Information sources and search strategy

According to the recommendations of a recent study[47] for biomedical reviews, four databases were searched by two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) from database inception to February, 2021: Embase, PubMed (including Medline), Web of Science, and Google Scholar. The following combinations of terms were used in the first three databases: "Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]"; "Tendon AND wave"; "Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]". Additionally, "Tendon AND Load" was searched in Embase and PubMed. The combinations of terms "Tendon AND Force", "Tendon AND Biomechanics", "Tendon AND Properties", "Tendon AND Load", and "Tendon AND wave" were used in Google Scholar, retrieving the first 200 relevant references of each search. Detailed information on the sources of information and the combinations of terms used is available in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

Eligibility criteria

All studies that met the following eligibility criteria were included:

(a) Cross-sectional studies published in scientific journals;

- (b) Focused on evaluating the forces, stress, and strain (tendon strain evaluation was included if it was described as a way to quantify loads) of tendons in vivo using direct or indirect techniques;
- (c) During dynamic exercises;
- (d) Available in English or Spanish language.

Conversely, those studies meeting any of these exclusion criteria were discarded: (a) Studies with evaluation of neuromuscular or joint forces that do not describe evaluating the tendon; (b) investigated tasks were running, walking, jumping, landing or other everyday tasks that are not rehabilitative exercises; (c) conference proceedings; (d) book chapters.

Study selection

All retrieved references were imported into Mendeley to later be included in Rayyan (https://www.rayyan.ai/), a systematic review support tool. Duplicates were identified and removed. The remaining references were screened by title and abstract by one author (A.E-E) to exclude clearly irrelevant articles. Finally, two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) screened the full texts of identified articles to select those that met the eligibility criteria. A third reviewer solved any disagreements (A.I.C.V).

Data extraction

Two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) assessed the full-texts of the selected studies. To obtain the information from the studies, an extraction form was used including the following data: authors and year of publication; study setting; study population; participant demographics;

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

details of the evaluation technique; dynamic exercises evaluated; tendon forces/stress/strain results.

In this review, they were included those studies that analysed the forces, stress, and strain on the tendon in dynamic exercises, especially those commonly used in tendon rehabilitation. Dynamic analysis based on running, walking, or cycling, and batteries of exercises based on day-to-day or work activities were not taken into account.

Synthesis of results

The studies were grouped by the types of measurement techniques applied and by the tendon location, summarising the type of settings, populations and article types for each group, along with the broad findings.

Methodological quality analysis

Current guidelines on conducting a scoping review describe the inclusion of a methodological quality analysis as not necessary[48,49]. Likewise, the lack of a standardised tool for the methodological evaluation of the heterogeneous type of studies included in this review makes methodological analysis difficult. In this context, this review focus on analysing the forces, stress, and strain evaluation methodologies used in the included studies rather than in the magnitude of the results obtained, with the lack of methodological quality analysis influencing the results and conclusions of this review to a lesser extent.

Patient and Public Involvement

Patients were not involved in this research.

RESULTS

A total of 16571 records were identified in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. Then, duplicates were removed, remaining 8536 references. Additionally, eight records were identified by additional sources. Among these, 153 were identified as potentially eligible after reading the title and the abstract, retrieving the full-texts of all of them. After evaluating the fulfilment of the eligibility criteria, only 21 studies were finally included in the current review. The Figure 1 represents the flow diagram of the selection process. A detailed list of the studies excluded in the last stage is available in the Supplementary Appendix 2.

[Figure 1 near here]

In total, 300 subjects were included in the analysed studies. Among these, 202 correspond to healthy samples, while 98 of them were open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. However, due to the similarity in the characteristics of the sample and the concurrence of most of the authors in the case of three studies[50–52] (12 subjects in each study), it is pertinent to think that they are the same participants.

Modelling and in vivo evaluation methodologies

Different evaluation methodologies were identified in the included reports, including inverse dynamics, force transducers, and optic fibre sensors for the evaluation of tendon forces, indirect stress estimations, and ultrasound imaging techniques for strain evaluation. The tendon locations evaluated were the Achilles, quadriceps, patellar, and different tendons of

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

the hand. Table 1 shows the groups of evaluation techniques associated with the tendon location and the references of the records that included each one. Table 2 includes expanded information about the measurement methodology.

Table 1. Forces, stress and strain evaluation methodologies identified in the included studies.

Measurement methodology	Tendon	References
Forces		
Inverse dynamics	Achilles	[37,39,53–59]
	Patellar	[60–64]
Force transducers	Hand	Buckle [50–52]
(Buckle force transducer, S-shaped		Load cell [65,66]
force transducer, load cell)		S-shaped [67]
Optic fibre sensors	Patellar	[68]
Strain		
Ultrasound imaging	Achilles	[37,55,58]
	Quadriceps	[63]
Stress		
Indirectly (from force and cross-	Achilles	[37,39]
sectional area)	Patellar	[61]
		5

Force

Inverse dynamics

Fourteen studies used an indirect evaluation methodology of tendon forces based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles tendon and five in the patellar tendon. When inverse dynamics are used, tendon forces are estimated using different equations based on joint torque and moment arms or integrating kinematic and kinetic data in musculoskeletal models. This methodology uses kinematics, often complemented with applied external forces, to

BMJ Open

calculate net joint moments[38]. Moment arms are estimated from previous literature data or estimated specifically for each patient through imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging or ultrasound.

Most of the included studies used motion capture systems for kinematics, while force plates were the most used device for obtaining kinetic data. Some studies used generic moment arms based on the published literature[53,62], other used previously described procedures and equations[56,59,60,64], while other estimated subject-specific moment arms based on imaging techniques[54,55]. Kinematic and kinetic data were integrated into different musculoskeletal models: three studies[37,39,61] used the Human Body Model[69], one[53] study used the OpenSim model[70], one study[54] used the FreeBody model[71], while other studies[55,57,60] implemented other codes or models.

Most of the studies reported normalised force values by body weight (BW), obtaining the lowest values in the Achilles through the seated heel raising exercise (0.41-0.5 BW)[53,54]. The single-leg heel raising and lowering obtained values between 3-5.12 BW for the Achilles tendon[39,53,54,57]. In the patellar tendon, the results were mainly reported in Newtons (N), obtaining mean values between 2899 and 5683 N for different variants of the squat[62,64].

Force transducers

Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. The introduction of the force transducers was carried out during surgery with local anaesthesia. Three modalities of force transducers were applied: buckle force transducer[50–52], s-shaped force transducer[67], and load cell[65,66].

The buckle force transducers technique used in three of the studies[50–52] consisted of a modified version of the method described by Dennerlein et al. (1997)[72]. This device

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

consisted of a 9 x 16 x 4.5 mm stainless steel frame and a removable fulcrum designed to fit inside the carpal canal [50–52]. In this system, each tendon lies in semi-circular arches in the device[50–52]. These studies evaluated unresisted finger flexion and extension at different wrist angles, obtaining a range of mean values between 1.3 N – 25.5 N for the flexor digitorum profundus (range -1.6 N – 74.7 N) and 1.3 N – 12.9 N (range -2.0 N – 47.53 N) for the flexor digitorum superficialis[50–52]. The S-shaped force transducer consisted of a stainless steel frame combined with four strain gauges attached on its central beam[67]. This study obtained values between 0 and 12.0 kgf (117.7 N, obtained with the active tip pinch) in the evaluation of different finger and wrist flexion and extension exercises[67]. In the case of load cell, an apparatus consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook' was used for the tendon force measurements[65,66]. The central hook was connected to a load cell, recording the applied forces. These studies evaluated different finger flexion and extension exercises, with and without resistance, obtaining values in a range between 1 N and 50 N (resisted finger flexion, 300 g)[65,66]. ier

Optic fibre sensor

Dillon et al. (2008)[68] applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in both the anterior and the posterior regions of the proximal patellar tendon. This methodology was implemented inserting two 0.5-mm optic fibre sensor perpendicular through the entire cross section of the tendon under local anaesthesia. For the purpose of the study, one sensor was placed 1-2 mm anterior to the posterior border of the tendon, while the other sensor was placed 1-2 mm posterior to the anterior border of the tendon[68]. The optic fibre was attached to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring. Then, tendon forces were registered during dynamic exercises, removing the sensor at the end of all tests[68]. In this study the sensors were not calibrated to record forces in N. Therefore, the data is only available through

BMJ Open

the differential output of the fibre signal[68]. In general, higher values were found in the posterior area of the proximal tendon (0.77-1.00 V) than in the anterior area (0.21-0.42 V). The highest values were found in the one-legged squat exercise (1.00 V)[68].

Strain as a load measure

Four studies [37, 55, 58, 63] carried out additional measurements for quantifying loads on the tendon through strain or elongation measurement. Rees et al. (2008)[58] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[55] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius myotendinous junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion, using ultrasound imaging. Rees et al. (2008)[58] established and tracked the position of these anatomical sites in terms of 3D coordinates over time by using an active marker motion analysis system through a previously detailed methodology[34]. Chaudhry et al. (2015) implemented an algorithm that provides an intensity map of the ultrasound images, from which the 2D position and angular orientation of the most intense points can be established[55]. Thus, the authors used this mechanism to locate and track the myotendinous junction[55]. Elongation was calculated as the difference between the instantaneous length and the initial length, also known as zero-length. To do this, it is necessary to define what is the position for the zero-length, which is usually done in the neutral position of the joint. In these studies, standing eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises were assessed, both phases performed with bent and extended knee [55,58]. In the study by Rees et al., during eccentric heel lowering the Achilles tendon length increased (13.6mm on average) through the movement and during concentric heel rise AT length decreased (14.9mm on average)[58]. Chaudhry et al. (2015)[55] obtained different temporal strain during the eccentric phase (with approximately 8 mm of peak mean elongation) than during the concentric phase (approximately 7 mm), but these differences were equalised when plotting for the normalised

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

> position. Therefore, these findings were attributed to the dynamics of the movement[55,58]. Earp et al. (2016)[63] estimated the myotendinous unit length using previous models based on joint position and individual limb lengths. This information was used to compare different ways of performing the squat, analysing the tendon lengthening pattern during the concentric and eccentric phases[63]. Revak et al. (2017)[37] estimated the tendon strain using the average Young modulus value (819 N/mm²) reported in previous literature[73]. First, the Achilles tendon stress was calculated by dividing the tendon force (estimated using inverse dynamics) by the cross-sectional area of each participant[37]. Then, the tendon strain was calculated by dividing the tendon stress by the Young modulus. In this case, ultrasound was used to measure the cross section of the tendon (not during exercises)[37]. The strain values obtained (expressed in %) were between 0.71±0.35 and 8.80±0.35, corresponding to the seated heel raising and lowering and the unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises, respectively[37].

Stress

The tendon stress was calculated in three of the included studies, two of them in the Achilles tendon [37,39] and one in the patellar one[61]. In all cases, the tendon stress was indirectly calculated by dividing the estimated tendon force by the specific cross-sectional area.

Type of exercises

Different types of exercises were analysed in the included studies. Heel raising and lowering exercises, involving concentric or eccentric plantarflexion, are commonly applied in Achilles tendinopathy rehabilitation. Seven studies including this type of exercises[53,55,39,37,58,57,54]. In patellar tendon disorders, different modalities of squats are commonly prescribed, as well as exercises involving knee flexion and extension.

BMJ Open

 Eight[39,53,56,60,62–64,68] and two[59,68] studies analysed these types of exercises, respectively. Another exercise commonly applied for lower limb disorders such as lunge was analysed in two studies[39,61]. Three studies analysed step-up and step-down exercises or stairs climbing[53,59,68]. Finally[50–52,65–67]. Table 2 includes the type of exercises analysed in each study.

for oper teries only

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Table 2. Characteristics of the included studies.

			BMJ Open	d by copyright, inclu	Page 18 Page 18
able 2. Charac	teristics of the included studie	es.	Type of exercise	Evaluated parameter and e	o o Maluation methodology
year	•		, <i>"</i>	. r	ບາ ວ່າ
Baxter et al. 2021 [53]	N= 8; Healthy; 6M, 2F; 30 ±4 years; BMI: 24.1 ±3.2	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated single-legged heel raise with 15 kg placed on the thigh, single-leg and double-leg heel raises done at both comfortable and fast speed, lunges, squats, and step ups and step downs from a low box (12 cm) and a high box (20 cm)	Force: Inverse dynamics: 70 moment calculated with By arm of 5 cm and normanie model: OpenSim. A motion procedure.	Filles tendon force was estimated as the plantarflexion orse dynamic analysis divided by a plantarflexor moment endon load by participant bodyweight. Musculoskeletal analysis system and force plate data were used for the
Chaudhry et al. 2015 [55]	N= 11; Healthy; 6M, 5F; 26.5 ±1.9 years; Weight: 65.92 ±10.5 kg; Height: 173 ±8 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: concentric (heel raising) and eccentric (heel lowering) ankle plantar flexion	Force: Inverse dynamic for externally applied anklas jein subjects by body weight the the line joining the call of moment arm after correction analysis: Matlab code. The the procedure. Strain: Tendon length was insertion and the dista MTL motion analysis system.	willes tendon force was calculated by dividing the moment by the moment arm and normalised across perpendicular distance to the ankle joint center from marker and the Achilles tendon marker was taken as the for skin thickness measured by ultrasound. Data ion analysis system and force plate data were used for alculated as the distance between the Achilles tendon of the medial gastrocnemius (ultrasonography and active
Gheidi et al. 2018 [39]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 22.1 ±1.8 years; Weight: 74.29 ±11.3 kg; Height: 177.7 ±8.4 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: unilateral and bilateral heel raising, squat, lunge	Force: Inverse dynamics: M model. Moment arms Gere The calculated muscle Borce summing the muscle forces the stance phase of each ex motion analysis system Stress: The AT stress was ca specific AT cross-sectional a	scle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal ased on previous literature (graphics-based model) [74]. were used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus during crcise. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A corce plate data were used for the procedure. culated by dividing the AT force by the participant rea.
Rees et al. 2008 [58]	N= 7; Healthy; 4M, 3F; 19-41 years;	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises	Force: Inverse dynamics: Ac joint moment by the norme centre. A motion analysis sy Strain: The Achilles teredon gastrocnemius myotending (ultrasonography and active	Thilles Tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankle arm between the Achilles tendon and the ankle joint tem, and force plate data were used for the procedure. Ingth was calculated as the distance between the medial junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion motion analysis system).
Revak et al. 2017 [37]	N= 21; Healthy; 21M; 21.59 ±1.92 years; Weight: 75.81 ±1.24 kg; Height: 178.22 ±8.02 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated bilateral heel raising and lowering, standing bilateral heel raising and lowering, unilateral heel raising and lowering, and bilateral heel raising and unilateral lowering.	Force: Inverse dynamics: M model. The muscle forces w summing the muscle forces each exercise. Musculoskel	Socle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal are then used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus for al model: Human Body Model.
	·	Eorpoo	r roviow only - http://hmiopon.hmi.com/sito/a	hout/guidelines yhtml	raphique 17

e 19 of 61				BMJ Open	omjoper by cop
					2021-0576 yright, incl
	Sinclair et al. 2015 [56]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 23.61 ±4.17 years; Weight: 75.63 ±6.54 kg; Height: 178 ±10 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: back and front squat	A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure. Stress: tendon stress was caculated by dividing the Achilles tendon force by the individual cross-section and arge. Strain: Strain was indirectly calculated by dividing the tendon stress by the average Young modulus of 8199 Arge 2 reported in previous literature. Force; Inverse dynamic: The Achilles tendon load (ATL) was determined by dividi the plantar flexion moment arm (MA): ATL = MPF / MACHE eronoment arm was quantified as a function of the ankle sagittal plane angle us a procedure described in previous literature [75]. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
	Weinert- Aplin et al. 2015 [57]	N= 19; Healthy; 8M, 11F; M: 28 ±3 years; Weight: 73.4 ±12 kg; Height: 176 ±10 cm F: 29 ±6 years; Weight: 58.7 ±10.2 kg; Height: 163 ±5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: barefoot and in shoes eccentric heel lowering (with knee extended and flexed)	Force; Inverse dynamics and kinetics and kinetics were used to calculate the angle and inter-segmental more that at the ankle, knee and hip joints following establish inverse dynamics utilising the words. Euler equations of motion and segment dynam [76]. Musculoskeletal for the proceeding force plate data (all conditions), and an in-shoe plan pressure measurements system (for shod conditions) were used for the procedure
	Yeh et al. 2021 [54]	N= 18; Healthy; 11M, 7F; 29.6 ±3.8 years; Weight: 70.7 ±12.4 kg; Height: 171.8 ±7.5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: HSR and ECC protocols modification: Standing knee-straight heel drop and rise (100, 108-115, 125, 160 of %BW); seated heel drop and rise (13, 21-28, 38, 63 of %BW)	Force; Inverse dynamics: Adjilles tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankl torque by the participant specific effective moment arm estimated from the MRI. Musculoskeletal mode FreeBody. A motion analysis system, force plate data and were used for the procedure.
	Dillon et al. 2008 [68]	N= 7; Healthy; 7M; 26.4 ±3.9 years; BMI: 24.8 ±1.5	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: CONC and ECC one-leg squat (110°), CON and ECC knee extension with a 10-kg weight attached to the foot (90°), step up and step down	Force; Optic fibre: An Sptic there technique was used to detect forces in both the anterior and the poster of regions of the proximal patellar tendon. The technique entails the optic fibre bring neerted through the entire cross section of the tendor and the ends being attachege to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring.
	Earp et al. 2016 [63]	N= 10; Healthy; 10M; 25.8 ±2.8 years; Weight: 83.8 ±9.4 kg; Height: 177 ±6 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: depth back squat lifts with 60% of 1RM at three different speeds: slowfixed- tempo, volitional-speed without a pause, and maximum-speed jump)	Force: Inverse dynamics: Pæellar tendon forces were estimated by multiplying kr moment by the joint-derived moment arm length of the patella; as determined u a previously published model [77]. The relative ankle, knee, and hip joint momen were estimated by combining force platform and kinematic using standard inverse dynamics equations are with segmental masses estimated using the cadaver-der equations provided in previously published literature [78]. A motion analysis syst and force plate data were used for the procedure. Strain: Myotendinous unit ength was estimated using previous models based joint position and individual limb lengths. The quadriceps tendon length of the tendinous was calculated the longitudinal length of the recorded fascicle subtracted from the myotendinous unit length.
			F		graphique 18

			by сор	B Page 2	
				yright, incl	n-2021-057
Frohm et al. 2007 [62]	N_{Total} = 14; Healthy; 14M N_1 : 13; 36 ±9 years; Weight: 87 ±4 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm N_2 : 11; 39 ±10 years; Weight: 87 ±5 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: eccentric squats holding a weight (barbell disc) of 10 kg in decline board and horizontal surface, eccentric squat in Bromsman device in decline board and horizontal surface	Force: Inverse dynamic: moment by the pateller to flexion angle. Moment or previous literature [79]; A the procedure.	Parellar tendon force was estimated dividing the knee engon moment arm, specific for the corresponding knee myvere based on data for different angles reported in Amotion analysis system and force plate data were used for any construction analysis system and force plate data were used for
Reilly and Martens 1972 [59]	N= 3; Heathy; 3M; 24, 26, and 30 years	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: leg raising, stair climbing, and deep knee bends	Force: Inverse dynamia mathematical formula cases are a combination determined paramete patellar tendon force var photography system a	calculation for the leg raise exercise was a purely (gased on the moment arm and angles), whereas the oth mathematical formulation with experimentally in gage instrumented force plate). Moment arm of the measured from roentgenograms. A stroboscopic
Richards et al. 2016 [64]	N= 18; Healthy; 9M, 9F; 20-46 years; Weight: 75.1 kg (58.3-100)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20° and 25°)	Force: Inverse dynamic extensor moment (MEb moment arm was quanti order polynomial curveto analysis system and force	Partial Landon force (PTF) was determined by dividing the tendon moment arm (PTMA): PTF = ME / PTMA. The determined by fitting a 2nd deta published in previous literature [80]. A motion previous literature [80]. A motion previous literature [80].
Zellmer et al. 2019 [61]	N= 25; Healthy; 25F 22.69 ±0.74 years; Weight: 61.55 ±9.74 kg; Height: 169.39 ±6.44 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: forward step lunge with knee in front of toes, forward step lunge with knee behind toes	Force: Inverse dynamics: model. The calculated and force by summing the Bur lateralis, and vastus intern Human Body Model. And procedure. <u>Stress:</u> tendon stress vass cross-sectional area.	Note: The second
Zwerver et al. 2007 [60]	N= 5; Healthy; 2M, 3F; 19-24 years (mean 22); Weight: 58-84 kg (mean 72); Height: 168-200 cm (mean 180)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: single-leg decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20°, 25° and 30°) with and without a backpack of 10 kg	Force: Inverse dynamics: to the following formus: normalised moment are were based on previous i were used for the proced	Normalised patellar tendon forces were estimated accordin $F_{tendon} = M/d$, where M is the ankle moment and d is the orthe patellar tendon. The calculation of moment arms iterature [81]. A motion analysis system and force plate dat ure
Edsfeldt et al. 2015 [51]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 (32-52) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted fingers extension and flexion of all fingers, unresisted isolated flexion of FDP, unresisted isolated flexion of FDS	Force: Buckle force traffso with a longitudinal incisio isolated, and buckle force conducted during surgery	dueer: After the transverse carpal ligament was released on the FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were et and the superiment was which local anaesthesia injected at the incision site.
Kursa et al. 2006 [50]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F;	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension at different angles (MP extension, 15° MP, 45° MP, 60° MP, MP flexion)	Force: Buckle force transo with a longitudinal incisio	du Pr: After the transverse carpal ligament was released on, She FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were
					apphique 19

Page 21 of 61	BMJ Open Grad							
1 2 3					.n-2021-057(syright, incl			
4 5		42 ±10 years			isolated, and buckle fore tran	isducers were mounted on each. The experiment was		
6 7 8 9	Nikanjam et al. 2007 [52]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension	Force: Buckle force tragsduy with a longitudinal inc;; 아, 아, 아 buckle force transduce; 광생환 during open carpal tun; 알다 남	r: After the flexor retinaculum ligament was released e FDP and FDS tendons of the index were isolated and e placed around each. The experiment was conducted wase surgery with local anaesthesia.		
10 11 12 13 14	Powell and Trail 2004 [66]	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g)	Force: Load cell: An apara the "hook' was used for the the to a load cell. During rough to infiltration, tendon for the (FDS of the ring finger, The finger; FPL of the thum b)	consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a on force measurements. The central hook is connected arpal tunnel decompression under local anaesthetic surements were carried out on each exposed tendon finger or index finger; FDP of the ring finger or little		
15 16 17 18 19	Powell and Trail 2009 [65]	N= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F; 57 (23-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g) and resisted finger extension (rubber band)	Force: Load cell: An apparents "hook' was used for the trade to a load cell. During routing contract infiltration, tendon for the trade (FDS of the ring finger and the trade	consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a on force measurements. The central hook is connected arpal tunnel decompression under local anaesthetic surements were carried out on each exposed tendon finger or index finger).		
20 21 22 23	Schuind et al. 1992 [67]	N= 5; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 3M, 2F	Hand	Dynamic exercises: wrist and fingers flexion and extension	Force: S-shaped force sansau flexor pollicis longus and FDs a operated on for treatment of o during open carpal turnel rete	cer: S-shaped force transducers were applied to the and FDP tendons of the index finger in five patients carpal tunnel syndrome. The experiment was conducted ease surgery with local anaesthesia.		
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	CONC: Concer Forces; HSR: H	ntric; ECC: Eccentric; FDP: Flexor leavy Slow Resistance; M: Male	r digitorur ; MRI: Ma	n profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficialis; gnetic Resonance Imaging; MTJ: Myotendinous	FPL: Flexor digitorum junction; F: Female; % similar technolog	ndus longus; GRF: Ground Reaction ercentage of body weight		
32 33 34 35					5 at Agenc jies.			
36 37 38 39					e Bibliogr			
40 41 42					aphique d	20		
43 44 45 46			For pee	r review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/al	bout/guidelines.xhtml			
Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces, stress, and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes. The main finding of this review is that most studies used an indirect method such as inverse dynamics, while there is a lack of direct measurements due to the difficulties and limitations in its application.

Indirect force measurement: inverse dynamics

Most of the studies included in this review used inverse dynamics as an indirect evaluation of tendon forces. This methodology uses measured kinematics and external forces to indirectly calculate net joint torques and forces in a body segment model[82]. These calculations are usually based on the joint moments produced by the muscle or muscles to which the tendon is inserted. Then, the biomechanical study is based on a single agonist force vector in line with the tendon direction and, in some cases, on a single antagonist force vector in the opposite direction[83]. Although this method is widely used, it is suggested that the results obtained differ from the actual ones due to incorrect modelling assumptions and measurement errors[82]. For example, classical inverse dynamics assumes idealised pin joints and the existence of rigid body segments, and that does not match reality[82]. Kinetics are introduced in the procedures with the intention of limiting these errors. However, due to the aforementioned difficulties of kinematics measurements, the kinematics and kinetics data are not always consistent. This creates a new problem due to the concurrency of data that does not match, forcing part of the data to be discarded[82].

There are different procedures based on inverse dynamics for the calculation of forces. Thus, although most of the included studies used similar kinematics (motion capture devices) and kinetics (force plates) assessment systems, these data were processed in different ways. Some

BMJ Open

studies integrated these data in musculoskeletal models such as Human Body Model[37,39,61], OpenSim[53], FreeBody[54], among others[55,57,60]. These models make more or less precise assumptions that allow us to transform the kinematics and kinetics data into net torques of body segments. Likewise, models such as the Human Body Model made an additional indirect estimate, first calculating the muscle forces and assuming that the forces in the tendon will be equal to the sum of the muscle forces of the agonist muscle group[37,39,61]. This fact could imply an additional error in the estimation since there may be differences between the agonist muscle group and tendon forces, and a potential error is made when only some of the muscles involved in the movement are taken into account[83]. Different methods were used for estimating the moment arms. Some musculoskeletal models used previous estimations of the moment arms, with some differences both in the models and in the equations used [55, 57, 60]. Some studies performed subject-specific calculations based on imaging techniques to minimise error [54,55], and others studies used data from previously published literature (e.g. 5 cm ankle moment arm)[53,62]. Alternatively, some studies used an intermediate method based on the use of new or previously published equations together with specific data from each patient[56,59,60,64]. Thus, the results obtained may be influenced by the specific limitations of each methodology. Using generic moment arms based on normative data ignores anatomical differences between individuals[83,84], and, sometimes, this value is not scaled to the rest of the anatomical structures[83,85]. Previous studies also suggest that the moment arm cannot be estimated from easily measured anthropometric characteristics or joint size differences, supporting the use of imaging techniques[86]. In cases where the moment arm is directly measured, it should be noted that the values in a resting position may not correspond to the values in another position or to those that would be obtained with the addition of muscle contraction[83,85]. The chosen method is relevant because, according to previous studies, there could be differences of up to 40-50% depending on the technique used (for the patellar tendon moment arm length at a

knee angle of 90°)[83,84]. Likewise, these differences could translate into up to 67% differences in the estimated values of tendon force[83,84].

Despite all the above mentioned limitations, modelling approaches have been widely employed to estimate tendon forces[38]. This may be due to its main advantage: it is a noninvasive procedure.

Direct force measurement

In the last decades, an attempt has been made to develop direct measurement techniques. However, this approach is limited due to the need to insert sensors into the body. This characteristic makes it a highly invasive procedure, making its use in healthy subjects difficult to justify.[35] Sensors must be biotolerable (for short-term measurements) and biocompatible (for long-term use), as well as easy to implant[25]. Additionally, devices should avoid damaging body tissues and alter the tendon and joint mobility and neuromuscular function[25]. It has been suggested that these sensors should also be flexible and allow wireless data transmission to facilitate their clinical use[35]. The transducers are implanted with an incision of several centimetres. Thus, the wound usually impedes normal activity for 2-3 weeks and sometimes makes it difficult to measure activity during the same session in which the sensor is inserted[87]. Additionally, potential complications such as local pain or infections have limited the use of this methodology to a restricted research population[87].

Force transducers

Buckle transducers were one of the first devices to show a successful ability to directly assess these forces in various activities such as walking, running, cycling or jumping[43,88–90]. This kind of transducer consists of a metallic buckle with strain gages through which a tendon is

BMJ Open

looped[25]. When a tensile force is applied to the tendon, the buckle deforms and produces a voltage output proportional to the force[25]. Due to their configuration, these buckle transducers facilitate the measurement of the entire cross-section of the tendon[25]. This is an advantage over other implantable transducers (e.g., optic fibre) that only record forces in a specific area, since it is known that the load may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[25,91–93]. However, the placement of the tendon through the buckle shortens the tendon and can alter its natural movement[25]. Additionally, small changes in the placement may cause measurement differences, so it is recommended to carry out the calibration of these transducers within the specific tissue under study, and, once the sensor is placed and calibrated, it should be avoided to modify or remove it until the measurement is finished[25].

In this review, six studies introduced force transducers for measuring tendon forces during wrist and fingers flexion and extension rehabilitation exercises, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. Taking advantage of surgery to place the sensor makes it possible to compensate for part of the invasiveness that this procedure entails. However, reducing its application to this context limits the contexts in which it may be applied. In this regard, the development of biodegradable sensors that are reabsorbed after a certain time could increase the situations where their application can be justified, since the avoidance of a second surgery to remove the sensor would reduce some drawbacks of the technique[94]. In all cases, the procedure was carried out after the application of anaesthesia, which together with the surgical procedure itself could have some impact on the measurement results.

Optic fibre sensor

The use of optic fibre sensors appeared as a smaller solution compared to previous force transducers[95]. This kind of sensor is inserted perpendicular through the tendon. When a

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

longitudinal tension is produced in the tendon, negative transverse tension is produced that squeezes the optical fibre[25,96]. Therefore, the functioning of the optical fibre sensor is based on the amplitude modulation of the transmitted light that occurs when the optical fibre changes its shape due to the forces acting on it[25,96]. These differences can be seen in the receiver, which provides a voltage output proportional to the intensity of the light detected and therefore related to the tendon tensile strain[25,96]. This effect can be achieved using two types of sensors: intensity-based and spectral-based optical sensors[87].

During the last decades, different devices based on optic fibre have been developed and applied to directly measure tendon forces in vivo in humans during isometric contractions[97] and during dynamic activities such as walking or jumping[45,87,95,98,99]. These sensors have evolved from the earliest models (approximately 500µm)[100] to modern spectral-based models incorporating fibre Bragg gratings and micro-fabricated stainless steel housings (approximately 200µm)[87]. Modern optic fibre sensors offer some advantages such as small size, high sensitivity, fast response time, large dynamic range, and insensitivity to electromagnetic interference[87]. However, the main limitation of this measurement technique is still the invasiveness of the procedure for introducing and removing the sensor[87]. The procedure is usually performed under local anaesthesia, causing a little wound in the tissue that can interfere with movement[87]. Due to its smaller size, compared to the buckle transducer, the insertion process, the wound, and the recovery process are of lesser magnitude. Thus, its use in volunteers is more easily justified[25]. Also, the possible interference of the sensor during movement and changes in the natural shape of the tendon are reduced compared to other transducers, although still existing[25,95].

This technique has other limitations to take into account. Previous studies have found that skin movement, cable migration, and loading rate may influence the accuracy of the sensor[100].

BMJ Open

 Therefore, this technology may be considered an appropriate option for in vivo evaluation as long as these artefacts can be minimised[87].

Furthermore, this kind of sensor records forces in a specific area of the tendon, and this could be a source of differences between measurements due to the fact that force may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[25,91–93]. This phenomenon could be related to the relative sliding between the different tendon fascicles or because some tendons (e.g., Achilles tendon) seem to consist of independent portions with distinct mechanical properties[91,92].

The lack of studies using this technique in dynamic exercise could be because of the current limitations that, although lower than those of other invasive techniques, still represent a significant barrier to its implementation. Thus, further study of the matter is encouraged.

Strain

Tenocytes are sensitive to strain[7,101,19,23]. Thus, it has been suggested that it is the strain magnitude experienced by tendon fibres, not force or stress, that is more directly related to the positive or negative effects triggered in the tissue[7,23,101]. This may be due to the interaction of the tendon's viscoelastic properties, which cause the force or stress parameters to have a different effect on the tendon depending on the context, with strain, on the other hand, being a direct result of these phenomena. However, this evaluation is complicated by the fact that different load magnitudes and rates affect the stress-strain relationship differently for a given force because tendons are viscoelastic structures[11,63]. Thus, the measurements are specific to the parameters used and difficult to compare when these parameters are not controlled. Previous studies have shown that tendon strain during activities such as walking or running is between 4.0-4.3% and 4.6-9.0%, respectively. The only study that reported the percentage of tendon strain in this review found a strain between

0.71% (seated heel raising and lowering) and 8.80% (standing unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises)[37].

BMJ Open

The use of imaging techniques (e.g., 2D[30,102,103] and 3D[104] ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging[102]) has been previously reported, especially during isometric contractions, but most of these methods have not been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises.

Several authors have reported a relationship between tendon forces and tendon strain using in vitro tensile tests and in vivo ultrasound techniques[30,105–107]. However, it is worth emphasising that this relationship is not completely linear[83]. Actually, the tendon force-elongation relation is curvilinear, consisting of an initial toe region and a posterior linear portion[83]. As reported in previous works[83], to avoid potential errors caused by this characteristic, some research groups have focused exclusively on the linear region of the force-elongation curve[108] or used exponential functions[109]. This linear region could be above 30–50 N/mm² in most cases, based on data from human studies that measured voluntary contractions[83].

Regardless of the measurement technique used, it is essential to take into account that mechanical and viscoelastic properties of the tendon imply a time-dependent behaviour of the tendon when a force is applied to it. Thus, when there is a constant strain, the stress progressively decreases, and when continuous or cyclical stress is applied, the strain increases over time[105]. This phenomenon means that different results can be obtained in measurements (e.g. in tendon strain) with a given force, depending on the context. This limitation is sometimes faced through the application of conditioning contractions that allow a state of certain stability and reliability to be reached at the moment of the application of forces for its evaluation, but this is not done or at least described in most studies[110,111].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Additionally, most of the strain measurement methods have been developed for the evaluation of isometric contractions in which changes in strain more directly reflect the forces acting on the tendon. However, in dynamic movements (active or passive), myotendinous structures are subject to changes in their lengths related to joint positions[112], which can make it difficult to estimate loads through strain measurements.

In this review, four studies[37,55,58,63] included a tendon elongation measurement for assessing tendon loads. Revak et al. (2017)[37] evaluated different versions of the heel raising exercise through the tendon strain, calculating the tendon strain by dividing the tendon stress (previously obtained) by the average Young modulus reported (819 N/mm²)[37]. This methodology again requires making various assumptions to estimate the tendon strain through the tendon stress, which in turn has been calculated using the tendon force value calculated indirectly using inverse dynamics. Therefore, this indirect method could accumulate the error of all the intermediate steps, some of which have been discussed in previous sections. Differently, Rees et al. (2008)[58] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[55] assessed the changes in tendon length in heel lowering and rising exercises, using ultrasound imaging and motion analysis. The authors calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the tendon origin and the tendon insertion [58]. Thus, they tracked the position of these anatomical sites by using an active marker motion analysis system[58]. Earp et al. (2016)[63] estimated the myotendinous unit length using derived models based on joint position and individual limb lengths, a method that has been found to be valid and reliable[113,114]. Regarding the identification of the zero-length, the joint position corresponding to it is not known[25]. Thus, it is important to normalise this parameter to allow comparison between studies, for example, using a particular position of the joint[25]. In these cases, we usually speak of "relative strain" with respect to that previously determined position. While this methodology may be useful when comparing the peak strains of a tendon under different exercises within a particular study or with studies that use that same position, this

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

methodology does not allow for comparing these results with those of in vitro studies, where the position of zero-length is precisely determined[25]. The use of a force sensor in conjunction with ultrasonography could help determine the zero-length in each subject[25].

Imaging techniques

Ultrasonography as a strain measurement technique has some important advantages over other methods: it is non-invasive, does not expose the volunteers to radiation, and it is relatively affordable[35]. The absence of a sensor inside the body that can hinder mobility, together with the non-use of anaesthesia, allow natural movements[25]. Additionally, ultrasonography enables the differentiation of muscle and tendon interfaces, enabling muscle and tendon strains to be independently measured [35]. Basically, two approaches could be used to analyse strain using imaging techniques: on the one hand, displacement measurements between the tendon origin and insertion anatomical sites (myotendinous junction), approach used in this review by Rees et al. (2008)[58] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[55]. The tracking of these anatomical sites is done through different methods. Initially, this task was performed through manual marking of the anatomical sites in successive ultrasound frames throughout the movement[55]. However, this methodology was excessively laborious, so it was limited to only a few frames[55]. For this reason, different algorithms, usually based on cross-correlation, have been developed to automate the process[55,115– 117]. In the Achilles tendon, for example, insertion is usually tracked using a marker placed on the calcaneus, while for the myotendinous junction, active marker motion analysis and ultrasound systems have been combined[55,58]. On the other hand, displacement measurements between known points within the tendon mid-substance, known as speckletracking[35]. The speckle-tracking technique allows unique speckle patterns of the tendon to be identified and tracked during movement[118]. The regional strain measurement approach

Page 31 of 61

BMJ Open

is an advantage over implantable sensors that only enable point-to-point strain assessment. The choice of approach is important since, taking into account that the strain distribution is not consistent throughout the tendon, the result may also be different. While the first option provides the value of the global strain across the entire length of the tendon, the second one offers a measure of a specific region. Some studies have reported that the displacement of the proximal insertion point may be a representative measurement of the total tendon elongation during contraction, but more recent works have shown the limitations of this approach[83]. Thus, both methods may be adequate as long as they are properly reported, only being possible to compare results from the same approach[25]. Likewise, the choice of the anatomical site used as a tracking landmark is relevant. Thus, previous studies have shown that small variations (e.g., tibial tuberosity or plateau) result in significant differences in the values obtained, both in tendon strain itself and in other calculated mechanical properties (e.g., tendon stiffness)[119].Numerous limitations of imaging techniques have been widely reported[25,35,83]. It is worth emphasizing that most of these limitations are already present in measurements during isometric contractions, making progress to the measurement of dynamic exercises even more challenging. First, the ultrasound probe placement and orientation may affect the measurements, and any motion produced during the body segment movement can be a source of error[35,83,120]. In the case of the study of isometric contractions, researchers have tried to overcome this limitation by means of rigid fixation with straps. However, this fixation is difficult to achieve during dynamic exercises and can interfere with the movement pattern[35]. The type of exercises that can be evaluated is also limited by the fact that, except in the case of using wireless ultrasound probes, the subject must always be positioned a short distance from the ultrasound cart[35,83]. Second, the ultrasound image has a spatial limitation directly related to the length of the ultrasound transducer, especially affecting the measurement of long tendons[83]. This limitation could be obviated by scanning only the myotendinous junction [83]. However, this requires assuming that the movement of

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

the distal structures to which the tendons attach is negligible, and this does not appear to be the case even with isometric contractions[83]. For this reason, it is recommended to scan both tendon ends, using longer transducers when necessary[83]. Third, another of the key limitations of ultrasonography is due to the use of 2D images to assess a tendon deformation that occurs in three dimensions[35,83]. While the measurement is done through the identification and tracking of anatomical sites in planar 2D images, the reality of threedimensional movement means that tendon bulging, rotation, or twisting can occur, and this fact may introduce a systematic over- or underestimation of tendon length[35,83]. This limitation has been partially addressed with new 3D ultrasound techniques by capturing images in multiple static postures (e.g., Freehand 3D[104]). In this technique, the ultrasound transducer is moved along the tendon, and a 3D image is created by reconstruction of the captured 2D images. However, this technology requires remaining in a static position for relatively long periods of time to scan the different planes, so its use is limited to resting states or for sustained static contractions[35,83]. Some strategies have been suggested to minimise these limitations as much as possible. Some of the most relevant are available in Table 1 of the article by Seynnes et al. (2015)[83]. Additional issues can be found in each specific tendon location. For example, previous evidence shows that considering the Achilles tendon as a straight line between gastrocnemius medialis myotendinous junction and calcaneus results in an underestimation of the tendon length and carries errors of up to 78% of the length changes[121]. In this regard, Kharazi et al. (2021)[122] developed a new approach for Achilles strain in vivo measurement, which considers the tendon curve-path shape using skin reflective markers. These new solutions could also be useful in the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises.

Similar to the case of traditional ultrasonography, elastography can use speckle patterns within to measure tendon displacement or strain. This technique uses ultrasound radiofrequency data to track the displacement of speckle patterns along the ultrasound beam [92,123].

Stress

As described in the introduction, in vivo measurement of tendon stress is practically impossible[36]. Thus, the four included studies calculated the tendon stress by dividing the estimated tendon force by the specific cross-sectional area[37,39,61,63]. This indirect calculation carries all measurement errors of the methods used to estimate the tendon forces.

Other techniques

During the review process, other techniques were identified. However, its current application is limited to isometric contractions, exercises such as walking, running, or cycling, or controlled contractions in a laboratory setting.

Magnetic resonance imaging

Some authors have used MRI as an imaging technique to measure tendon strain. Finni et al. (2008)[124] in knee extension-flexion cycles against calibrated resistance. Sheehan and Drace (2020)[102] used phase-contrast cine MRI for evaluating the patellar tendon strain during active knee extensions. In both cases, the reference zero length was identified by analysing MRI images of the tendon in a movie loop of film, noting the joint angle at which the tendon was slack[102,124]. This technique allows a three-dimensional analysis, reducing some of the limitations of ultrasonography. However, the nature of the MRI technique makes it difficult to evaluate exercises that require greater mobility.

Stretchable strain sensors

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Novel stretchable strain sensors, based on soft elastomers and nanomaterials, are showing great potential for directly measuring musculoskeletal soft tissue strains in vivo[35]. These sensors provide direct strain measurement (not force as most of the other available transducers), so they can offer very representative values of the tendon strain. On the other hand, these strain sensors share many of their limitations with other implantable devices and must be biotolerable, biocompatible, and easy to implant[35].

Vibrational behaviour

A proof-of-concept study was identified with a novel technique for evaluating tendon tension during walking, running, and unilateral and bilateral heel raising[125]. Tendon loads were measured using a vibration motor and an accelerometer placed 2 cm apart from each other on the skin superior to the Achilles tendon. The systems consist of exciting a vibration motor and collecting the signals influenced by the tendon tension in the accelerometer[125]. It is suggested that a tendon on which low tension is applied responds to vibration with a steeper rising and falling edge, attributable to faster energy absorption and dissipation[125]. However, a tendon on which high tension is applied responds with a progressive rising and falling edge, attributable to slower energy absorption and dissipation[125].

Another novel non-invasive approach is being developed for in vivo evaluation by tracking vibrational behaviour[126]. In this case, the direct relationship between axial stress and the speed of shear wave propagation is exploited through tensiometers consisting of a piezo-actuated tapper and two skin-mounted miniature accelerometers[126].

Although these techniques have some limitations such as artefacts caused by noise on the skin caused by movement of the limbs[125], their non-invasiveness gives them an advantage over other evaluation methods.

The main limitation of this study is the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety and heterogeneity of terms used. This limitation has been minimised through a search including broad terms, but some studies might still not have been identified.

Conclusions

Different evaluation methodologies are used for quantifying tendon forces, stress, and strain. However, only a minority of these techniques have been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises. There is a predominant use of modelling and inverse dynamics, but force transducers and optic fibre sensors have also been used for measuring tendon force. Ultrasound imaging is used for measuring tendon strain. Direct force or strain measurement techniques provide significant data, but their current limitations and high invasiveness reduce their application context. Indirect force estimation through inverse dynamics is not invasive but requires making controversial assumptions that may limit its accuracy. Assessing strain using imaging techniques, as long as its limitations are controlled, is a non-invasive method to assess a direct response to the loads acting on the tendon. There are other potentially applicable methods, but they have not yet been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises, possibly due to the difficulty of overcoming some of their limitations.

Practical applications

Although the methods collected in this review allow direct or indirect estimation of the forces, stress, and strain applied to the tendon during dynamic exercises, their very nature makes their applicability difficult in a clinical context. Research can use these tools to make general

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

estimates of forces, stress, and strain in dynamic exercises, but the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to study each patient individually and provide immediate feedback to the individuals measured. The field should continue to be developed, looking for precise, direct techniques with less measurement error and less invasiveness.

Funding

This work is part of a government-funded project supported by the University Teaching Training Programme (FPU) of the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of Spain. Grant number: FPU17/00161.

Competing interests

None

Data availability statement

No additional data available.

Contributorship Statement

All authors contributed to the study design. AEE and AICV searched and screened the articles, with assistance from JC. All authors contributed to data analysis and interpretation of the data. AEE drafted the manuscript, AICV and JC revised it critically, and all authors contributed to revisions and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Scott A, Squier K, Alfredson H, et al. ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. Br J Sports Med 2020;54:260–2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885
- 2 Cardoso TB, Pizzari T, Kinsella R, *et al.* Current trends in tendinopathy management. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* Published Online First: 8 March 2019. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001
- 3 Docking SI, Cook J. How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact* 2019;**19**:300–10.
- 4 Mellor R, Bennell K, Grimaldi A, et al. Education plus exercise versus corticosteroid injection use versus a wait and see approach on global outcome and pain from gluteal tendinopathy: prospective, single blinded, randomised clinical trial. BMJ 2018;361:k1662. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1662
- 5 Beyer R, Kongsgaard M, Hougs Kjær B, et al. Heavy Slow Resistance Versus Eccentric Training as Treatment for Achilles Tendinopathy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Sports Med 2015;43:1704–11. doi:10.1177/0363546515584760
- 6 Kongsgaard M, Kovanen V, Aagaard P, et al. Corticosteroid injections, eccentric decline squat training and heavy slow resistance training in patellar tendinopathy. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009;19:790–802. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.00949.x
- 7 Pizzolato C, Lloyd DG, Zheng MH, et al. Finding the sweet spot via personalised Achilles tendon training: the future is within reach. Br J Sports Med 2019;53:11–2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099020
- 8 Wang JH-C. Mechanobiology of tendon. *J Biomech* 2006;**39**:1563–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.05.011
- 9 Chiquet M, Renedo AS, Huber F, *et al.* How do fibroblasts translate mechanical signals into changes in extracellular matrix production? *Matrix Biol J Int Soc Matrix Biol* 2003;22:73–80. doi:10.1016/s0945-053x(03)00004-0
- 10 Wang T, Lin Z, Day RE, *et al.* Programmable mechanical stimulation influences tendon homeostasis in a bioreactor system. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2013;**110**:1495–507. doi:10.1002/bit.24809
- 11 Arampatzis A, Karamanidis K, Albracht K. Adaptational responses of the human Achilles tendon by modulation of the applied cyclic strain magnitude. *J Exp Biol* 2007;**210**:2743–53. doi:10.1242/jeb.003814
- 12 Rio E, van Ark M, Docking S, *et al.* Isometric Contractions Are More Analgesic Than Isotonic Contractions for Patellar Tendon Pain: An In-Season Randomized Clinical Trial. *Clin J Sport Med* 2017;**27**:253–9. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000364

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

- 13 Alfredson H, Pietilä T, Jonsson P, et al. Heavy-load eccentric calf muscle training for the treatment of chronic Achilles tendinosis. Am J Sports Med 1998;26:360–6. doi:10.1177/03635465980260030301
 - 14 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Thomeé P, *et al.* Eccentric overload training for patients with chronic Achilles tendon pain--a randomised controlled study with reliability testing of the evaluation methods. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2001;**11**:197–206.
 - 15 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Eriksson BI, et al. Continued sports activity, using a painmonitoring model, during rehabilitation in patients with Achilles tendinopathy: a randomized controlled study. Am J Sports Med 2007;35:897–906. doi:10.1177/0363546506298279
 - 16 Malliaras P, Cook J, Purdam C, et al. Patellar Tendinopathy: Clinical Diagnosis, Load Management, and Advice for Challenging Case Presentations. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2015;45:887–98. doi:10.2519/jospt.2015.5987
 - 17 Mascaró A, Cos MÀ, Morral A, et al. Load management in tendinopathy: Clinical progression for Achilles and patellar tendinopathy. Apunts Med Esport 2018;53:19–27. doi:10.1016/j.apunts.2017.11.005
 - 18 A Dictionary of Physics. Oxford University Press 2009. https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780199233991.001.0001/acref-9780199233991 (accessed 22 Mar 2022).
 - 19 Magnusson SP, Langberg H, Kjaer M. The pathogenesis of tendinopathy: balancing the response to loading. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2010;**6**:262–8. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2010.43
 - 20 Cook JL, Purdam C. Is compressive load a factor in the development of tendinopathy? *Br J Sports Med* 2012;**46**:163–8. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2011-090414
 - 21 Cook JL, Purdam CR. Is tendon pathology a continuum? A pathology model to explain the clinical presentation of load-induced tendinopathy. *Br J Sports Med* 2009;**43**:409–16. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.051193
 - 22 Wang JH-C, Guo Q, Li B. Tendon biomechanics and mechanobiology--a minireview of basic concepts and recent advancements. *J Hand Ther Off J Am Soc Hand Ther* 2012;**25**:133–40; quiz 141. doi:10.1016/j.jht.2011.07.004
 - 23 Huang L, Korhonen RK, Turunen MJ, *et al.* Experimental mechanical strain measurement of tissues. *PeerJ* 2019;**7**:e6545. doi:10.7717/peerj.6545
 - 24 Kannus P. Structure of the tendon connective tissue. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2000;**10**:312–20. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0838.2000.010006312.x
 - 25 Fleming BC, Beynnon BD. In vivo measurement of ligament/tendon strains and forces: a review. *Ann Biomed Eng* 2004;**32**:318–28. doi:10.1023/b:abme.0000017542.75080.86
 - 26 Glos DL, Butler DL, Grood ES, *et al.* In vitro evaluation of an implantable force transducer (IFT) in a patellar tendon model. *J Biomech Eng* 1993;**115**:335–43. doi:10.1115/1.2895495
- 27 Dick TJM, Arnold AS, Wakeling JM. Quantifying Achilles tendon force in vivo from ultrasound images. *J Biomech* 2016;**49**:3200–7. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.036

- 28 Dumas R, Barré A, Moissenet F, et al. Can a reduction approach predict reliable joint contact and musculo-tendon forces? J Biomech 2019;95:109329. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.109329
- 29 Farris DJ, Buckeridge E, Trewartha G, et al. The effects of orthotic heel lifts on Achilles tendon force and strain during running. J Appl Biomech 2012;28:511–9. doi:10.1123/jab.28.5.511
- 30 Kongsgaard M, Aagaard P, Roikjaer S, et al. Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats. Clin Biomech Bristol Avon 2006;21:748–54. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.03.004
- 31 Joseph CW, Bradshaw EJ, Furness TP, *et al.* Early changes in Achilles tendon behaviour in vivo following downhill backwards walking. *J Sports Sci* 2016;**34**:1215–21. doi:10.1080/02640414.2015.1102955
- 32 Franz JR, Slane LC, Rasske K, *et al.* Non-uniform in vivo deformations of the human Achilles tendon during walking. *Gait Posture* 2015;**41**:192–7. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.10.001
- 33 Lichtwark GA, Bougoulias K, Wilson AM. Muscle fascicle and series elastic element length changes along the length of the human gastrocnemius during walking and running. J Biomech 2007;40:157–64. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.10.035
- 34 Lichtwark GA, Wilson AM. In vivo mechanical properties of the human Achilles tendon during one-legged hopping. *J Exp Biol* 2005;**208**:4715–25. doi:10.1242/jeb.01950
- 35 Zhang Q, Adam NC, Hosseini Nasab SH, *et al.* Techniques for In Vivo Measurement of Ligament and Tendon Strain: A Review. *Ann Biomed Eng* 2021;**49**:7–28. doi:10.1007/s10439-020-02635-5
- 36 Maganaris CN, Chatzistergos P, Reeves ND, *et al.* Quantification of Internal Stress-Strain Fields in Human Tendon: Unraveling the Mechanisms that Underlie Regional Tendon Adaptations and Mal-Adaptations to Mechanical Loading and the Effectiveness of Therapeutic Eccentric Exercise. *Front Physiol* 2017;**8**:91. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00091
- 37 Revak A, Diers K, Kernozek TW, *et al.* Achilles Tendon Loading During Heel-Raising and -Lowering Exercises. *J Athl Train* 2017;**52**:89–96. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.04
- 38 Kernozek T, Gheidi N, Ragan R. Comparison of estimates of Achilles tendon loading from inverse dynamics and inverse dynamics-based static optimisation during running. *J Sports Sci* 2017;**35**:2073–9. doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1255769
- 39 Gheidi N, Kernozek TW, Willson JD, *et al.* Achilles tendon loading during weight bearing exercises. *Phys Ther Sport* 2018;**32**:260–8. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.05.007
- 40 Bull AMJ, Reilly P, Wallace AL, *et al*. A novel technique to measure active tendon forces: application to the subscapularis tendon. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA* 2005;**13**:145–50. doi:10.1007/s00167-004-0556-y
- 41 Zhang X, Deng L, Yang Y, *et al.* Acute shoe effects on Achilles tendon loading in runners with habitual rearfoot strike pattern. *Gait Posture* 2020;**82**:322–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.09.027

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

- 42 Dixon SJ, Kerwin DG. The Influence of Heel Lift Manipulation on Achilles Tendon Loading in Running. *J Appl Biomech* 1998;**14**:374–89. doi:10.1123/jab.14.4.374
- 43 Gregor RJ, Komi PV, Järvinen M. Achilles tendon forces during cycling. *Int J Sports Med* 1987;**8 Suppl 1**:9–14. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025698

- 44 Ebrahimi A, Loegering IF, Martin JA, *et al.* Achilles tendon loading is lower in older adults than young adults across a broad range of walking speeds. *Exp Gerontol* 2020;**137**:110966. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2020.110966
- 45 Fröberg A, Komi P, Ishikawa M, *et al.* Force in the achilles tendon during walking with ankle foot orthosis. *Am J Sports Med* 2009;**37**:1200–7. doi:10.1177/0363546508330126
- 46 Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, *et al.* PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Ann Intern Med* 2018;**169**:467–73. doi:10.7326/M18-0850
- 47 Bramer WM, Rethlefsen ML, Kleijnen J, *et al.* Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. *Syst Rev* 2017;**6**:245. doi:10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y
- 48 Khalil H, Peters M, Godfrey CM, *et al.* An Evidence-Based Approach to Scoping Reviews. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs* 2016;**13**:118–23. doi:10.1111/wvn.12144
- 49 Peters MDJ, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, *et al.* Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *Int J Evid Based Healthc* 2015;**13**:141–6. doi:10.1097/XEB.00000000000000000
- 50 Kursa K, Lattanza L, Diao E, *et al.* In vivo flexor tendon forces increase with finger and wrist flexion during active finger flexion and extension. *J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc* 2006;**24**. doi:10.1002/jor.20110
- 51 Edsfeldt S, Rempel D, Kursa K, *et al.* In vivo flexor tendon forces generated during different rehabilitation exercises. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2015;**40**:705–10. doi:10.1177/1753193415591491
- 52 Nikanjam M, Kursa K, Lehman S, *et al.* Finger flexor motor control patterns during active flexion: an in vivo tendon force study. *Hum Mov Sci* 2007;**26**:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2006.09.002
- 53 Baxter JR, Corrigan P, Hullfish TJ, *et al.* Exercise Progression to Incrementally Load the Achilles Tendon. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2021;**53**:124–30. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000002459
- 54 Yeh C-H, Calder JD, Antflick J, *et al.* Maximum dorsiflexion increases Achilles tendon force during exercise for midportion Achilles tendinopathy. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* Published Online First: 16 April 2021. doi:10.1111/sms.13974
- 55 Chaudhry S, Morrissey D, Woledge RC, *et al.* Eccentric and concentric loading of the triceps surae: an in vivo study of dynamic muscle and tendon biomechanical parameters. *J Appl Biomech* 2015;**31**:69–78. doi:10.1123/jab.213-0284
- 56 Sinclair J, Edmundson C, Atkins S, *et al.* The effect of front and back squat techniques on peak loads experienced by the Achilles tendon. *Balt J Health Phys Act* 2015;**07**. doi:10.29359/BJHPA.07.3.01

- 57 Weinert-Aplin RA, Bull AMJ, McGregor AH. Investigating the Effects of Knee Flexion during the Eccentric Heel-Drop Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med* 2015;**14**:459–65.
- 58 Rees JD, Lichtwark GA, Wolman RL, *et al*. The mechanism for efficacy of eccentric loading in Achilles tendon injury; an in vivo study in humans. *Rheumatol Oxf Engl* 2008;**47**:1493–7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken262
- 59 Reilly DT, Martens M. Experimental Analysis of the Quadriceps Muscle Force and Patello-Femoral Joint Reaction Force for Various Activities. *Acta Orthop Scand* 1972;**43**:126–37. doi:10.3109/17453677208991251
- 60 Zwerver J, Bredeweg SW, Hof AL. Biomechanical analysis of the single-leg decline squat. *Br J Sports Med* 2007;**41**:264–8. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032482
- 61 Zellmer M, Kernozek TW, Gheidi N, *et al.* Patellar tendon stress between two variations of the forward step lunge. *J Sport Health Sci* 2019;**8**:235–41. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2016.12.005
- 62 Frohm A, Halvorsen K, Thorstensson A. Patellar tendon load in different types of eccentric squats. *Clin Biomech* 2007;**22**:704–11. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.12.006
- 63 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* Faster Movement Speed Results in Greater Tendon Strain during the Loaded Squat Exercise. *Front Physiol* 2016;**7**:366. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00366
- 64 Richards J, Selfe J, Sinclair J, *et al.* The effect of different decline angles on the biomechanics of double limb squats and the implications to clinical and training practice. *J Hum Kinet* 2016;**52**:125–38. doi:10.1515/hukin-2015-0200
- 65 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons--the effect of extending the fingers against the resistance provided by rubber bands. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2009;**34**:186–9. doi:10.1177/1753193408096016
- 66 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons during passive and active movements of the fingers. *J Hand Surg* 2004;**29**:386–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhsb.2004.02.004
- 67 Schuind F, Garcia-Elias M, Cooney WP, *et al.* Flexor tendon forces: in vivo measurements. *J* Hand Surg 1992;**17**:291–8. doi:10.1016/0363-5023(92)90408-h
- 68 Dillon EM, Erasmus PJ, Müller JH, *et al.* Differential forces within the proximal patellar tendon as an explanation for the characteristic lesion of patellar tendinopathy: an in vivo descriptive experimental study. *Am J Sports Med* 2008;**36**:2119–27. doi:10.1177/0363546508319311
- 69 van den Bogert AJ, Geijtenbeek T, Even-Zohar O, *et al.* A real-time system for biomechanical analysis of human movement and muscle function. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2013;**51**:1069–77. doi:10.1007/s11517-013-1076-z
- 70 Seth A, Hicks JL, Uchida TK, et al. OpenSim: Simulating musculoskeletal dynamics and neuromuscular control to study human and animal movement. PLoS Comput Biol 2018;14:e1006223. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006223

71 Cleather DJ, Bull AMJ. The development of a segment-based musculoskeletal model of the lower limb: introducing FreeBody. *R Soc Open Sci* 2015;**2**:140449. doi:10.1098/rsos.140449

- 72 Dennerlein JT, Miller JM, Mote CDJ, *et al.* A low profile human tendon force transducer: the influence of tendon thickness on calibration. *J Biomech* 1997;**30**:395–7. doi:10.1016/s0021-9290(96)00158-3
- 73 Wren TA, Yerby SA, Beaupré GS, *et al.* Mechanical properties of the human achilles tendon. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2001;**16**:245–51. doi:10.1016/s0268-0033(00)00089-9
- Delp SL, Loan JP, Hoy MG, *et al.* An interactive graphics-based model of the lower extremity to study orthopaedic surgical procedures. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1990;**37**:757–67. doi:10.1109/10.102791
- 75 Self BP, Paine D. Ankle biomechanics during four landing techniques. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2001;**33**:1338–44. doi:10.1097/00005768-200108000-00015
- 76 Winter DA. Three-Dimensional Kinematics and Kinetics. In: *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd 2009. 176–99. doi:10.1002/9780470549148.ch7
- 77 Visser JJ, Hoogkamer JE, Bobbert MF, et al. Length and moment arm of human leg muscles as a function of knee and hip-joint angles. Eur J Appl Physiol 1990;61:453–60. doi:10.1007/BF00236067
- 78 Robertson D, Caldwell G, Hamill J, *et al. Research Methods in Biomechanics*. Champlain, IL: : Human Kinetics 2004.
- 79 Smidt GL. Biomechanical analysis of knee flexion and extension. *J Biomech* 1973;**6**:79–92. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(73)90040-7
- 80 Herzog W, Read LJ. Lines of action and moment arms of the major force-carrying structures crossing the human knee joint. *J Anat* 1993;**182**:213–30.
- 81 Krevolin JL, Pandy MG, Pearce JC. Moment arm of the patellar tendon in the human knee. *J Biomech* 2004;**37**:785–8. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2003.09.010
- 82 Faber H, Soest AJ van, Kistemaker DA. Inverse dynamics of mechanical multibody systems: An improved algorithm that ensures consistency between kinematics and external forces. *PLOS ONE* 2018;**13**:e0204575. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0204575
- 83 Seynnes OR, Bojsen-Møller J, Albracht K, et al. Ultrasound-based testing of tendon mechanical properties: a critical evaluation. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2015;118:133–41. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00849.2014
- 84 Tsaopoulos DE, Baltzopoulos V, Maganaris CN. Human patellar tendon moment arm length: measurement considerations and clinical implications for joint loading assessment. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2006;**21**:657–67. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.02.009
- 85 Maganaris CN. Imaging-based estimates of moment arm length in intact human muscletendons. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2004;**91**:130–9. doi:10.1007/s00421-003-1033-x

- 86 Tsaopoulos DE, Maganaris CN, Baltzopoulos V. Can the patellar tendon moment arm be predicted from anthropometric measurements? *J Biomech* 2007;**40**:645–51. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2006.01.022
 - 87 Behrmann GP, Hidler J, Mirotznik MS. Fiber optic micro sensor for the measurement of tendon forces. *Biomed Eng Online* 2012;**11**:77. doi:10.1186/1475-925X-11-77
 - 88 Komi PV, Salonen M, Järvinen M, et al. In vivo registration of Achilles tendon forces in man. I. Methodological development. Int J Sports Med 1987;8 Suppl 1:3–8. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025697
 - 89 Fukashiro S, Komi PV, Järvinen M, *et al.* In vivo Achilles tendon loading during jumping in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1995;**71**:453–8. doi:10.1007/BF00635880
 - 90 Komi PV. Relevance of in vivo force measurements to human biomechanics. *J Biomech* 1990;**23 Suppl 1**:23–34. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(90)90038-5
 - 91 Bojsen-Møller J, Magnusson SP. Heterogeneous Loading of the Human Achilles Tendon In Vivo. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 2015;**43**:190–7. doi:10.1249/JES.000000000000062
 - 92 Slane LC, Thelen DG. Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading. *J Biomech* 2014;**47**:2831–5. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.07.032
 - 93 Slane LC, Dandois F, Bogaerts S, *et al.* Non-uniformity in the healthy patellar tendon is greater in males and similar in different age groups. *J Biomech* 2018;**80**:16–22. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.08.021
 - 94 Boutry CM, Kaizawa Y, Schroeder BC, *et al.* A stretchable and biodegradable strain and pressure sensor for orthopaedic application. *Nat Electron* 2018;**1**:314–21. doi:10.1038/s41928-018-0071-7
 - 95 Finni T, Komi PV, Lukkariniemi J. Achilles tendon loading during walking: application of a novel optic fiber technique. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1998;**77**:289–91. doi:10.1007/s004210050335
 - 96 Ravary B, Pourcelot P, Bortolussi C, *et al.* Strain and force transducers used in human and veterinary tendon and ligament biomechanical studies. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2004;**19**:433–47. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2004.01.008
 - 97 Arndt AN, Komi PV, Brüggemann G-P, *et al.* Individual muscle contributions to the in vivo achilles tendon force. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 1998;**13**:532–41.
 - 98 Ishikawa M, Finni T, Komi PV. Behaviour of vastus lateralis muscle-tendon during high intensity SSC exercises in vivo. Acta Physiol Scand 2003;178:205–13. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01149.x
 - 99 Finni T, Komi PV, Lepola V. In vivo human triceps surae and quadriceps femoris muscle function in a squat jump and counter movement jump. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2000;**83**:416–26. doi:10.1007/s004210000289
 - 100 Komi PV, Belli A, Huttunen V, *et al.* Optic fibre as a transducer of tendomuscular forces. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1996;**72**:278–80.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

- Arampatzis A, Mersmann F, Bohm S. Individualized Muscle-Tendon Assessment and Training. *Front Physiol* 2020;11.https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2020.00723 (accessed 28 Mar 2022).
 - 102 Sheehan FT, Drace JE. Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study. *Clin Orthop* 2000;:201–7.
 - 103 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo. *SpringerPlus* 2013;**2**:212. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-212
 - 104 Farris DJ, Trewartha G, McGuigan MP, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human Achilles tendon determined in vivo with freehand three-dimensional ultrasound imaging. *J Exp Biol* 2013;**216**:594–600. doi:10.1242/jeb.077131
 - 105 Hansen P, Aagaard P, Kjaer M, et al. Effect of habitual running on human Achilles tendon load-deformation properties and cross-sectional area. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2003;95:2375–80. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00503.2003
 - 106 Kannus P. Etiology and pathophysiology of chronic tendon disorders in sports. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 1997;**7**:78–85. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.1997.tb00123.x
 - 107 Maganaris CN, Paul JP. In vivo human tendon mechanical properties. *J Physiol* 1999;**521 Pt 1**:307–13. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.00307.x
 - 108 Kubo K, Kawakami Y, Fukunaga T. Influence of elastic properties of tendon structures on jump performance in humans. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985* 1999;**87**:2090–6. doi:10.1152/jappl.1999.87.6.2090
 - 109 Fouré A, Nordez A, Cornu C. Plyometric training effects on Achilles tendon stiffness and dissipative properties. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md* 1985 2010;**109**:849–54. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01150.2009
 - 110 Maganaris CN. Tendon conditioning: artefact or property? *Proc Biol Sci* 2003;**270 Suppl** 1:S39-42. doi:10.1098/rsbl.2003.0004
 - 111 Schulze F, Mersmann F, Bohm S, *et al.* A wide number of trials is required to achieve acceptable reliability for measurement patellar tendon elongation in vivo. *Gait Posture* 2012;**35**:334–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.09.107
 - 112 Abellaneda S, Guissard N, Duchateau J. The relative lengthening of the myotendinous structures in the medial gastrocnemius during passive stretching differs among individuals. *J Appl Physiol* 2009;**106**:169–77. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.90577.2008
 - 113 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* The influence of loading intensity on muscletendon unit behavior during maximal knee extensor stretch shortening cycle exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2014;**114**:59–69. doi:10.1007/s00421-013-2744-2
- 114 Kurokawa S, Fukunaga T, Fukashiro S. Behavior of fascicles and tendinous structures of human gastrocnemius during vertical jumping. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2001;90:1349–58. doi:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.4.1349

2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
, Q	
0	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20 21	
∠ I 22	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
37	
22	
22 24	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
11	
-14 15	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
55	
20	
57	
58	
59	

60

- 115 Korstanje J-WH, Selles RW, Stam HJ, *et al.* Development and validation of ultrasound speckle tracking to quantify tendon displacement. *J Biomech* 2010;**43**:1373–9. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.01.001
- 116 Pearson SJ, Ritchings T, Mohamed ASA. The use of normalized cross-correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging. *J Appl Biomech* 2013;**29**:165–73. doi:10.1123/jab.29.2.165
- 117 Magnusson SP, Hansen P, Aagaard P, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human gastrocnemius aponeurosis and free tendon, in vivo. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2003;**177**:185–95. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01048.x
- 118 Svensson RB, Slane LC, Magnusson SP, *et al.* Ultrasound-based speckle-tracking in tendons: a critical analysis for the technician and the clinician. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985* Published Online First: 17 December 2020. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00654.2020
- 119 Mersmann F, Seynnes OR, Legerlotz K, *et al.* Effects of tracking landmarks and tibial point of resistive force application on the assessment of patellar tendon mechanical properties in vivo. *J Biomech* 2018;**71**:176–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.02.005
- 120 Klimstra M, Dowling J, Durkin JL, *et al.* The effect of ultrasound probe orientation on muscle architecture measurement. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol Off J Int Soc Electrophysiol Kinesiol* 2007;**17**:504–14. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.04.011
- 121 Fukutani A, Hashizume S, Kusumoto K, *et al.* Influence of neglecting the curved path of the Achilles tendon on Achilles tendon length change at various ranges of motion. *Physiol Rep* 2014;**2**:e12176. doi:10.14814/phy2.12176
- 122 Kharazi M, Bohm S, Theodorakis C, *et al.* Quantifying mechanical loading and elastic strain energy of the human Achilles tendon during walking and running. *Sci Rep* 2021;**11**:5830. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-84847-w
- 123 Chernak LA, Thelen DG. Tendon motion and strain patterns evaluated with twodimensional ultrasound elastography. *J Biomech* 2012;**45**:2618–23. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.08.001
- 124 Finni T, Havu M, Sinha S, *et al.* Mechanical behavior of the quadriceps femoris muscle tendon unit during low-load contractions. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985* 2008;**104**:1320–8. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01069.2007
- 125 Bolus NB, Jeong HK, Blaho BM, *et al.* Fit to Burst: Toward Noninvasive Estimation of Achilles Tendon Load Using Burst Vibrations. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2021;**68**:470–81. doi:10.1109/TBME.2020.3005353
- 126 Martin JA, Brandon SCE, Keuler EM, *et al.* Gauging force by tapping tendons. *Nat Commun* 2018;**9**:1592. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-03797-6

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.





210x297mm (150 x 150 DPI)

For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml

SUPPLEMENTARY FILE

BMJ OPEN

Supplement to: *Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review*

re-Escuder, Anto

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Supplementary Appendices

Appendix S1.	. Detailed information sources and search strategy	3

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons _____4

				Google Scholar
	Pubmed	EMBASE	WOS	(200 primeras)
Tendon AND Load	3837	4311		200
Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]	100	183	536	
Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]	185	202	297	
Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]	90	111	83	
Tendon AND wave	893	1220	1282	200
Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]	685	755	801	
Tendon AND Force				200
Tendon AND Biomechanics				200
Tendon AND Properties				200
	5790	6782	2999	1000
Total			16571	

Appendix S1. Detailed information sources and search strategy

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons

Autor and year	Title	Passans for evolution
Autor and year	A shilles torder sheer ways	Ne tonden ferene (lood
Acuna et al. 2019	Achilles tendon snear wave	No tendon forces/load
	speed tracks the dynamic	evaluation
	modulation of standing balance	
Aita et al. 1998	The load applied to the foot in a	No tendon forces/load
	patellar ligament-bearing cast	evaluation
Andarawis-Puri et al.	Infraspinatus and supraspinatus	No tendon forces/load
2010	tendon strain explained using	evaluation
	multiple regression models.	
Ando et al. 2019	Positive relationship between	No tendon forces/load
	passive muscle stiffness and	evaluation
	rapid force production	
Ateş et al. 2015	Muscle shear elastic modulus is	No tendon forces/load
	linearly related to muscle	evaluation
	torque over the entire range of	
	isometric contraction intensity	
Beck et al. 2020	Cyclically producing the same	No tendon forces/load
	average muscle-tendon force	evaluation
	with a smaller duty increases	
	metabolic rate	
Bobbert et al. 1986	An estimation of power output	No tendon forces/load
	and work done by the human	evaluation
	triceps surae musle-tendon	
	complex in jumping	
Bojsen-Moller et al. 2003	Measuring mechanical	No tendon forces/load
	properties of the vastus lateralis	evaluation
	tendon-aponeurosis complex in	
	vivo by ultrasound imaging	
Bojsen-Møller et al. 2005	Muscle performance during	No tendon forces/load
	maximal isometric and dynamic	evaluation
	contractions is influenced by	
	the stiffness of the tendinous (
	structures	3
Bolus et al. 2021	Fit to Burst: Toward	Proof-of-concept study
	Noninvasive Estimation of	
	Achilles Tendon Load Using	
	Burst Vibrations	
Breda et al. 2020	The association between	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon stiffness	evaluation
	measured with shear-wave	
	elastography and patellar	
	tendinopathy—a case-control	
	study	
Bruggemann 1985	Mechanical load on the Achilles-	Wrong publication type
	tendon during rapid dynamic	(Book chapter)
	sport movements	
Brum et al. 2013	In Vivo Achilles Tendon	No tendon forces/load
	Elasticity Assessment using	evaluation

2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
, 8	
0	
9 10	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
י∠ רר	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
22	
27	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
ΔΔ	
44	
43 AC	
46	
4/	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
50	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

	Supersonic Shear Imaging: a	
	feasibility study	
Bujalski et al. 2018	A Monte Carlo analysis of	No tendon forces/load
	muscle force estimation	evaluation
	sensitivity to muscle-tendon	
	properties using a Hill-based	
	muscle model	
Burgess et al. 2007	Plyometric vs. Isometric training	Tendon forces are used as
	influences on tendon properties	part of the calculation of
	and muscle output	other parameters and not
		reported as evaluation
		results
Cao et al. 2019	A multicenter large-sample	No tendon forces/load
	shear wave ultrasound	evaluation
	elastographic study of the	
U	achilles tendon in chinese adults	
Cattagni et al. 2017	No Alteration of the	No tendon forces/load
	Neuromuscular Performance of	evaluation
	Plantar-Flexor Muscles After	
	Achilles Tendon Vibration	
Centner et al. 2019	Low-load blood flow restriction	Tendon forces are used as
	training induces similar	part of the calculation of
	morphological and mechanical	other parameters and not
	Achilles tendon adaptations	reported as evaluation
	compared with high-load	results
	resistance training	
Chang et al. 2020	Strain ratio of ultrasound	No tendon forces/load
	elastography for the evaluation	evaluation
	of tendon elasticity	
Cheung et al. 2006	Effect of Achilles tendon loading	No dynamic exercises (No
	on plantar fascia tension in the	exercises evaluated)
	standing foot.	
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement-	No dynamic exercises (No
	controlled tendon vibration in	exercises are used)
	humans	
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement-	No dynamic exercises (No
	controlled tendon vibration in	exercises are used)
	humans	
Cruz-Montecinos et al.	Estimation of tensile properties	Tendon forces are used as
2015	of the Achilles tendon in	part of the calculation of
	haemophilic arthropathy of the	other parameters and not
	ankle: case study	reported as evaluation
A		results
Cruz-Montecinos et al.	Assessment of tensile	Tendon forces are used as
2019	mechanical properties of the	part of the calculation of
	Achilles tendon in adult patients	other parameters and not
	with haemophilic arthropathy.	reported as evaluation
	Reproducibility study	results
Deforth et al. 2019	The effect of foot type on the	No tendon forces/load
	Achilles tendon moment arm	evaluation
		craidation

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Delp et al. 2007	OpenSim: open-source software	Wrong publication type
	to create and analyze dynamic	with publication type
	simulations of movement.	
Dennerlein et al. 1999	In vivo finger flexor tendon	No dynamic exercises
	force while tapping on a	(everyday tasks)
	keyswitch	
Ebrahimi et al. 2020	Shear Wave Tensiometry	Tendon forces are used as
	Reveals an Age-Related Deficit	part of the calculation of
	in Triceps Surae Work at Slow	other parameters and not
	and Fast Walking Speeds	reported as evaluation
		results
Ejeskar et al. 1982	Finger flexion force and hand	No tendon forces/load
	grip strength after tendon	evaluation
	repair	
Farris et al. 2013	Differential strain patterns of	No dynamic exercises
	the human Achilles tendon	(isometric)
	determined in vivo with	
	freehand three-dimensional	
	ultrasound imaging	
Finni et al. 2008	Mechanical behavior of the	No dynamic exercises
	quadriceps femoris muscle	(laboratory setting)
	tendon unit during low-load	
	contractions	
Firminger et al. 2019	Effect of Shoe and Surface	Tendon forces are used as
	Stiffness on Lower Limb Tendon	part of the calculation of
	Strain in Jumping	other parameters and not
	6.	reported as evaluation
E N' 2000		results
Fowler and Nicol 2000	Interphalangeal joint and	No dynamic exercises
	tendon forces: normal model	(everyday tasks)
	and biomechanical	
	consequences of surgical	
Fowler et al 1000	Measurement of external three	No tendon forces/load
1 UWIEI EL dI. 1999	dimensional internhalangeal	evaluation
	loads applied during activities of	evaluation
	daily living	
Friesenbichler et al. 2019	Gait and strength asymmetries	No tendon forces/load
	in patients with insertional	evaluation
	achilles tendinonathy	
Fröberg et al. 2020	The Effect of Ankle Foot	No tendon forces/load
	Orthosis' Design and Degree of	evaluation
	Dorsiflexion on Achilles Tendon	
	Biomechanics-Tendon	
	Displacement. Lower Leg	
	Muscle Activation, and Plantar	
	Pressure During Walking	
Gerus et al. 2011	A method to characterize in vivo	Tendon forces are used as
	tendon force-strain relationship	part of the calculation of
	by combining ultrasonography	other parameters and not

1	
2	
3	
1	
5	
0	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20	
ו∠ רכ	
22	
∠3	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
20	
59 10	
40	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
57	
20	
59	

	motion capture and loading rates	reported as evaluation results
Gerus et al. 2012	Subject-Specific Tendon- Aponeurosis Definition in Hill- Type Model Predicts Higher Muscle Forces in Dynamic Tasks	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Giacomozzi et al. 2015	Does the thickening of Achilles tendon and plantar fascia contribute to the alteration of diabetic foot loading?	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gomes et al. 2020	Is there a relationship between back squat depth, ankle flexibility, and Achilles tendon stiffness?	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hager et al. 2020	Influence of joint angle on muscle fascicle dynamics and rate of torque development during isometric explosive contractions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hansen et al. 2006	Mechanical properties of the human patellar tendon, in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Harding et al. 1993	Finger joint force minimization in pianists using optimization techniques	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Harlaar et al. 2020	Patellofemoral joint contact forces at different activities - effects of modeling assumptions	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Harnie et al. 2020	Acute effect of tendon vibration applied during isometric contraction at two knee angles on maximal knee extension force production	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hashizume and Yanagiya 2016	Influences of the foot strike pattern and the running speed on the forces applied to foot	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Haufe et al. 2020	Biomechanical effects of passive hip springs during walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hauraix et al. 2015	In vivo maximal fascicle- shortening velocity during plantar flexion in humans.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Heinemeier et al. 2016	Methods of Assessing Human Tendon Metabolism and Tissue Properties in Response to Changes in Mechanical Loading	Wrong publication type (Book chapter)

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Helland et al. 2013	Mechanical properties of the patellar tendon in elite volleyball players with and without patellar tendinopathy.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Histen et al. 2017	Achilles Tendon Properties of Minimalist and Traditionally Shod Runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hoang et al. 2007	Passive mechanical properties of human gastrocnemius muscle-tendon units, muscle fascicles and tendons in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Hof et al. 2002	Mechanics of human triceps surae muscle in walking, running and jumping	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Holzer et al. 2020	Considerations on the human Achilles tendon moment arm for in vivo triceps surae muscle- tendon unit force estimates	Wrong study design (calculations using results from other studies)
Homayuouni et al. 2015	Modeling Implantable Passive Mechanisms for Modifying the Transmission of Forces and Movements Between Muscle and Tendons	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hopper et al. 2015	Dance floor force reduction influences ankle loads in dancers during drop landings.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hu et al. 2014	Biomechanical Analysis of Force Distribution in Human Finger Extensor Mechanisms	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hullfish et al. 2020	A simple instrumented insole algorithm to estimate plantar flexion moments	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Jones et al. 1985	Effect of muscle tendon vibration on the perception of force	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Joseph et al. 2014	Achilles tendon biomechanics in response to acute intense exercise.	No dynamic exercises
Kathy Cheng et al. 2008	Finite element analysis of plantar fascia under stretch— The relative contribution of windlass mechanism and Achilles tendon force	Wrong study design (Finite element analysis)/ No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kawakami et al. 2002	Effect of series elasticity on isokinetic torque-angle relationship in humans.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not

		reported as evaluation results
Kawakami et al. 2002	In vivo muscle fibre behaviour during counter-movement exercise in humans reveals a significant role for tendon elasticity	No dynamic exercises (laboratory setting)
Kaya and Yucesoy 2020	Muscle-tendon unit length- spastic muscle force data by combined intraoperative- musculoskeletal modelling work	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kernozek et al. 2016	Comparing Two Methods for Estimating Achilles Tendon Loading during Running	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Kernozek et al. 2018	The effects of habitual foot strike patterns on Achilles tendon loading in female runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Kongsgaard et al. 2006	Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats	No dynamic exercises
Kouno et al. 2019	Effects of the strain rate on mechanical properties of tendon structures in knee extensors and plantar flexors in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Kruse et al. 2019	Effects of serial casting on muscle-tendon properties, muscle function and gait in a healthy child with calf muscle shortening	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 1999	Influence of elastic properties of tendon structures on jump performance in humans	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2000	Elastic properties of muscle- tendon complex in long- distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2001	Influence of static stretching on viscoelastic properties of human tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2002	Measurement of viscoelastic properties of tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2003	Gender differences in the viscoelastic properties of tendon structures	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2005	Effects of cold and hot water	No dynamic exercises

	1	1
	properties of human muscle and tendon in vivo.	
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between elastic properties of tendon structures and performance in long distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between Achilles tendon properties and foot strike patterns in long-distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2020	Mechanical properties of muscle and tendon at high strain rate in sprinters	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lee et al. 2015	Repeatability and agreement of digital image correlation (DIC) for regional strain estimates of the in-vivo human patellar tendon	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lian et al. 1996 🧹	Characteristics of the leg extensors in male volleyball players with jumper's knee	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lian et al. 2003	Performance characteristics of volleyball players with patellar tendinopathy	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lichtwark et al. 2006	Interactions between the human gastrocnemius muscle and the Achilles tendon during incline, level and decline locomotion.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Lichtwark et al. 2011	Achilles tendon (3D): Do the mechanical properties of tendon change in response to exercise?	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Lima et al. 2017	Triceps surae elasticity modulus measured by shear wave elastography is not correlated to the plantar flexion torque	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Lu et al. 2013	Quantifying Catch-and-Release: The Extensor Tendon Force Needed to Overcome the Catching Flexors in Trigger Fingers	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Mademli et al. 2008	Age-related effect of static and cyclic loadings on the strain- force curve of the vastus lateralis tendon and aponeurosis	No dynamic exercises
Marouane et al. 2017	Changes in Knee Adduction Rotation and not Adduction Moment Influence Joint	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)

2	
2	
5	
4	
5	
6	
7	
/	
8	
9	
10	
10	
11	
12	
13	
1.4	
14	
15	
16	
17	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
24	
25	
26	
27	
27	
28	
29	
30	
21	
31	
32	
33	
24	
34	
35	
36	
20	
37	
38	
39	
10	
40	
41	
42	
4२	
-TJ	
44	
45	
46	
-TU 4-7	
4/	
48	
49	
50	
50	
51	
52	
52	
23	
54	
55	
55	
20	
57	
58	
50	
59	
60	

	Compartmental Load Partitioning	
Martin et al. 2012	Effects of the index finger position and force production on the flexor digitorum superficialis moment arms at the metacarpophalangeal joints - a magnetic resonance imaging study.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Martin et al. 2018	Gauging force by tapping tendons	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Matsubayashi et al. 2008	Ultrasonographic measurement of tendon displacement caused by active force generation in the psoas major muscle	No tendon forces/load evaluation
McCrum et al. 2018	Loading rate and contraction duration effects on in vivo human Achilles tendon mechanical properties	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
McMahon et al. 2013	The manipulation of strain, when stress is controlled, modulates in vivo tendon mechanical properties but not systemic TGF-β1 levels	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
McNair et al. 2013	Biomechanical properties of the plantar flexor muscle-tendon complex 6 months post-rupture of the Achilles tendon	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Mileusnic et al. 2009	Force estimation from ensembles of Golgi tendon organs	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Mimura 1986	[The load-bearing function of a patellar tendon bearing cast]	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Monte 2021	In vivo manipulation of muscle shape and tendinous stiffness affects the human ability to generate torque rapidly	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Nicol et al. 1998	Significance of passively induced stretch reflexes on achilles tendon force enhancement	No active exercises evaluated
Nicol et al. 1999	Quantification of Achilles tendon force enhancement by passively induced dorsiflexion stretches	No active exercises evaluated
Okuyama et al. 2019	Study on fingertip force sensor based on measurement of tendon tension	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters
Olszewski et al. 2015	Achilles tendon moment arms: the importance of measuring at	No dynamic exercises
Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

	constant tendon load when using the tendon excursion method.	
Pearson et al. 2013	The use of normalized cross- correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Peltonen et al. 2013	Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Perl et al. 2012	Effects of Footwear and Strike Type on Running Economy	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Petrescu et al. 2016	Evaluation of normal and pathological Achilles tendon by real-time shear wave elastography	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Rowley et al. 2000	The effect of the patellar tendon-bearing cast on loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Salman et al. 2019	Spatial Variations in Achilles Tendon Shear Wave Speed Using a Cost-Effective Method of Accelerometers	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Saltzman et al. 1992	The patellar tendon-bearing brace as treatment for neurotrophic arthropathy: a dynamic force monitoring study.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sasaki et al. 2019	Electromyographic analysis of infraspinatus and scapular muscles during external shoulder rotation with different weight loads and positions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sheehan et al. 2000	Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sinsel et al. 2013	The musculoskeletal loading profile of the thumb during pipetting based on tendon displacement	No tendon forces/load evaluation during exercises
Slane et al. 2014	Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Stafilidis et al. 2007	Muscle-tendon unit mechanical and morphological properties and sprint performance	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results

1
2
3
4
5
6
0
/
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
12
10
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
20
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
/1
יד גע
42 42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
52
55
54 55
55
56
57
58
59

Stanojev et al. 2018	Effects of patellar tendon strap bracing on the motor performance and biomechanics	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
	of healthy adolescent athletes	
Stegman et al. 2009	A feasibility study for measuring	Wrong publication type
	accurate tendon displacements	(Conference proceeding)
	using an audio-based Fourier	(
	analysis of pulsed-wave Doppler	
	ultrasound signals.	
Sugisaki et al. 2011	Effect of muscle contraction	Tendon forces are used as
	levels on the force-length	part of the calculation of
	relationship of the human	other parameters and not
	Achilles tendon during	reported as evaluation
	lengthening of the triceps surae	results
	muscle-tendon unit	
Sussmilch-Leitch et al.	Effect of foot orthoses on ankle	Wrong publication type
2012	kinematics and kinetics in male	(Conference proceeding)
	tendinonathy	
Taniguchi 1988	The load bearing function of	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon bearing brace	evaluation
	on the relation between shaft	
	length and rate of load bearing]	
Thomeer et al. 2020	Load Distribution at the	No tendon forces/load
	Patellofemoral Joint During	evaluation
	Walking.	
Totorean et al. 2014	The role of plantar pressure	No tendon forces/load
	evaluation in rehabilitation of	evaluation
	patients with Achilles tendon	
	ruptures	
Ullrich et al. 2010	Influence of length-restricted	No tendon forces/load
	strength training on athlete s	evaluation
	extensors and flexors	
Ushiyama et al. 2005	Difference in aftereffects	No tendon forces/load
	following prolonged Achilles	evaluation
	tendon vibration on muscle	
	activity during maximal	
	voluntary contraction among	
	plantar flexor synergists	
Veeger et al. 2002	Load on the shoulder in low	No tendon forces/load
	intensity wheelchair propulsion.	evaluation
Wearing et al. 2019	Do habitual foot-strike patterns	No tendon forces/load
	in running influence functional	evaluation
	Achilles tendon properties	
	during gait?	
Wearing et al. 2020	Transmission-Mode Ultrasound	No tendon forces/load
	for Monitoring the	evaluation
	Instantaneous Elastic Modulus	
	or the Achilles Tendon During	

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

	Unilateral Submaximal Vertical	
	Hopping	
Werkhausen et al. 2018	Effect of training-induced	No tendon forces/load
	changes in achilles tendon	evaluation
	stiffness on muscle-tendon	
	behavior during landing	
Werkhausen et al. 2019	Distinct muscle-tendon	No tendon forces/load
	interaction during running at	evaluation
	different speeds and in different	
	loading conditions.	
Westphal et al. 2013	Load-Dependent Variations in	No dynamic exercises (No
	Knee Kinematics Measured with	exercises are used)
	Dynamic MRI	
Woodburn et al. 2013	Achilles tendon biomechanics in	The method of evaluating
	psoriatic arthritis patients with	tendon forces is not
D	ultrasound proven enthesitis	specified.
Wretenberg et al. 1993 🦯	Passive knee muscle moment	No active exercises
	arms measured in vivo with MRI	
Wu et al. 2013 🧼	The musculoskeletal loading	No tendon forces/load
	profile of the thumb during	evaluation
	pipetting based on tendon	
	displacement	
Yamaguchi et al. 2002	Effect of different frequencies	Wrong language (Japanese)
	of skipping rope on elastic	
	components of muscle and	
	tendon in human triceps surae	
Yamamoto et al. 2020	Effects of Varying Plantarflexion	No tendon forces/load
	Stiffness of Ankle-Foot Orthosis	evaluation
	on Achilles Tendon and	
	Propulsion Force during Gait	
Yoshitake et al. 2004	Fluctuations in plantar flexion	No tendon forces/load
	force are reduced after	evaluation
	prolonged tendon vibration 🦷 🥖	

 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) Checklist

SECTION ITEM		ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #
	TITLE			
	Title	1	Identify the report as a scoping review.	1
	ABSTRACT			
Structured summary		2	Provide a structured summary that includes (as applicable): background, objectives, eligibility criteria, sources of evidence, charting methods, results, and conclusions that relate to the review questions and objectives.	2
	INTRODUCTION			
	Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known. Explain why the review questions/objectives lend themselves to a scoping review approach.	4
	Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the questions and objectives being addressed with reference to their key elements (e.g., population or participants, concepts, and context) or other relevant key elements used to conceptualize the review questions and/or objectives.	6
	METHODS			
	Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists; state if and where it can be accessed (e.g., a Web address); and if available, provide registration information, including the registration number.	7
Eligibility criteria		6	Specify characteristics of the sources of evidence used as eligibility criteria (e.g., years considered, language, and publication status), and provide a rationale.	7
Information sources*	7	Describe all information sources in the search (e.g., databases with dates of coverage and contact with authors to identify additional sources), as well as the date the most recent search was executed.	7	
	Search 8		Present the full electronic search strategy for at least 1 database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	7
	Selection of sources of evidence†	9	State the process for selecting sources of evidence (i.e., screening and eligibility) included in the scoping review.	8
Data charting process‡ 10		10	Describe the methods of charting data from the included sources of evidence (e.g., calibrated forms or forms that have been tested by the team before their use, and whether data charting was done independently or in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	8
	Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought and any assumptions and simplifications made.	8
Critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence§		12	If done, provide a rationale for conducting a critical appraisal of included sources of evidence; describe the methods used and how this information was used in any data synthesis (if appropriate).	N/A
	Synthesis of results	13	Describe the methods of handling and summarizing the data that were charted.	9



St. Michael's

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED
RESULTS			,
Selection of sources of evidence	14	Give numbers of sources of evidence screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally using a flow diagram.	10
Characteristics of sources of evidence	15	For each source of evidence, present characteristics for which data were charted and provide the citations.	10
Critical appraisal within sources of evidence	16	If done, present data on critical appraisal of included sources of evidence (see item 12).	N/A
Results of individual sources of of evidence	17	For each included source of evidence, present the relevant data that were charted that relate to the review questions and objectives.	10
Synthesis of results	18	Summarize and/or present the charting results as they relate to the review questions and objectives.	10
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	19	Summarize the main results (including an overview of concepts, themes, and types of evidence available), link to the review questions and objectives, and consider the relevance to key groups.	21
Limitations	20	Discuss the limitations of the scoping review process.	34
Conclusions	21	Provide a general interpretation of the results with respect to the review questions and objectives, as well as potential implications and/or next steps.	34
FUNDING			
Funding	22	Describe sources of funding for the included sources of evidence, as well as sources of funding for the scoping review. Describe the role of the funders of the scoping review.	35

extension for Scoping Reviews.

* Where *sources of evidence* (see second footnote) are compiled from, such as bibliographic databases, social media platforms, and Web sites.

⁺ A more inclusive/heterogeneous term used to account for the different types of evidence or data sources (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy documents) that may be eligible in a scoping review as opposed to only studies. This is not to be confused with *information sources* (see first footnote).

[‡] The frameworks by Arksey and O'Malley (6) and Levac and colleagues (7) and the JBI guidance (4, 5) refer to the process of data extraction in a scoping review as data charting.

§ The process of systematically examining research evidence to assess its validity, results, and relevance before using it to inform a decision. This term is used for items 12 and 19 instead of "risk of bias" (which is more applicable to systematic reviews of interventions) to include and acknowledge the various sources of evidence that may be used in a scoping review (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy document).

From: Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMAScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169:467–473. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850.



Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and strain in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

Journal:	BMJ Open
Manuscript ID	bmjopen-2021-057605.R2
Article Type:	Original research
Date Submitted by the Author:	21-Jun-2022
Complete List of Authors:	Escriche-Escuder, Adrian; Universidad de Málaga, Physiotherapy Cuesta-Vargas, Antonio I; University of Malaga, Physioterapy; Queensland University of Technology, Health Casaña, Jose; University of Valencia, Physiotherapy; University of Valencia,
Primary Subject Heading :	Rehabilitation medicine
Secondary Subject Heading:	Sports and exercise medicine
Keywords:	Musculoskeletal disorders < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, SPORTS MEDICINE, REHABILITATION MEDICINE, Foot & ankle < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, Hand & wrist < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY
	·





I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our <u>licence</u>.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which <u>Creative Commons</u> licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

terez oni

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies



Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Title: Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and strain in dynamic rehabilitation

exercises: a scoping review

Adrian Escriche-Escuder^{1,2}, Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas^{1,2,3} José Casaña⁴

Corresponding author: Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas; acuesta@uma.es

Departamento de Fisioterapia, Universidad de Málaga. C/ Arquitecto Peñalosa, 3. PC: 29071.

Malaga (Spain)

Affiliations

¹Department of Physiotherapy, University of Malaga, Malaga, Spain

²Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), Malaga, Spain

³School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology,

Brisbane, Queensland, Australia

⁴Department of Physiotherapy, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Word count: 6763

BMJ Open

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and strain in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Although exercise is considered the preferred approach for tendinopathies, the actual load that acts on the tendon in loading programmes is usually unknown. The objective of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises used during rehabilitation.

Design: Scoping review.

Data sources: Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar were searched from database inception to February 2021.

Eligibility criteria: Cross-sectional or longitudinal studies available in English or Spanish language were included if they focused on evaluating the forces or strain of human tendons in vivo during dynamic exercises. Studies were excluded if they did not evaluate tendon forces or strain; if they evaluated running, walking, jumping, landing or no dynamic exercise at all; and if they were conference proceedings or book chapters.

Data extraction and synthesis: Data extracted included year of publication; study setting; study population characteristics; technique used, and exercises evaluated. The studies were grouped by the types of techniques and the tendon location.

Results: Twenty-one studies were included. Fourteen studies used an indirect methodology based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles and five in the patellar tendon. Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. One study applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in the patellar tendon. Four studies measured strain using ultrasound-based techniques.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Conclusions: There is a predominant use of inverse dynamics, but force transducers, optic fibre, and estimations from strain data are also used. Although these tools may be used to make general estimates of tendon forces and strains, the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to provide immediate feedback to the individuals.

Keywords: Foot & ankle; hand & wrist; musculoskeletal disorders; rehabilitation medicine;

sports medicine

Strengths and limitations of this study

- The extensive search carried out in this review in four of the main databases allows the reader to approach a wide field of knowledge.
- This review provides a summary of the available literature on the study of forces and strain that act on the tendon during dynamic exercises.
- Grouping the assessment tools into subgroups allows an analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of each option.
- Some studies might not have been identified due to the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety of terms used.

 Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading[1]. The high incidence and prevalence of this disorder alters the ability of people to work, exercise, or perform activities of daily life, causing a great social and economic burden[2].

Current knowledge supports the need to integrate an active approach for tendinopathy, based on a conservative management that includes education, exercise (with appropriate management and modification of loads), and support interventions for pain and symptom control[2]. Thus, loading interventions with a progressive exercise programme are considered an essential part of the management of tendinopathies due to the vast evidence published in the last decades[3,2,4–6]. These approaches focus on producing an adequate stimulus for tendon adaptations and aim to increase the patients' loading capacity [3,7]. Regarding the adaptations in the tendon, research data suggests that tenocytes respond to mechanical loading by inducing anabolic and catabolic processes of matrix proteins, respectively, through a process known as mechanotransduction[7–11]. Therefore, tendon strain is an important factor for the maintenance and adaptation of the tissue.

Different exercise modalities and intensities have been applied in tendinopathy with reasonably good results[6,12–14]. Likewise, different strategies have been implemented for handling and modifying the applied loads[15–17]. However, although concepts such as repetition maximum (RM) have made it possible to parameterise and quantify the applied dose based on the subject's ability to perform an activity a specific number of repetitions, the actual load that acts on the tendon in these activities is usually unknown. In both prevention and treatment of tendinopathy, load management would benefit from a greater understanding of the loads that act on the tendon during exercises and the strain that occur under load, especially considering that there may be a "sweet spot" of tendon strain for stimulating adaptation[7].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

In the analysis of the loads that act on the tendon, it is relevant to differentiate between physical quantities such as force and strain. Tendon force is a measure of the absolute load that acts on the tendon, while strain refers to the deformation of the tendon relative to its resting state. Strain have a different nature depending on the force that produces it. Thus, tendons are subjected to compression, tension, or shear forces in daily activities[18,19], but it is the tensile load (and the strain it produces) that plays a leading role in the function of the tendon[20]. Therefore, the evaluation of the tensile strain is especially relevant for the study of the loading programmes[21].

Regardless of the parameter evaluated, it is important to take into account a factor that makes this study difficult: tendons are not uniaxial structures but are usually made up of different bundles[22]. This causes regional variations in mechanical properties, and the distribution of forces and strains throughout the tissue is not uniform[23]. Tendon forces have been calculated through in vitro studies[24], as well as have been estimated through in vivo indirect calculations based on body position, joint reaction forces, and inverse dynamic models[25–27]. Additionally, as underlined by a previous review, invasive evaluations using force transducers and optic fibre techniques have enabled the direct measurement of forces in tendons of the hand and the Achilles and patellar tendons[23].

Medical imaging techniques such as ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging have previously made it possible to directly measure strain during isometric contractions[28], walking[29,30], running[27,31], and hopping[32]. However, transducer position may affect ultrasound measurements significantly, and it is necessary a rigid fixation over the tissue that may alter movement patterns[33]. Therefore, its use in some dynamic activities is still limited.

Some reviews have been previously published focused on the evaluation of tendon loads[23,33]. These reviews are not specific to dynamic rehabilitation exercises and include mainly methods developed for the study of isometric contractions[28,34] or cyclic activities such as

BMJ Open

running[35,36], cycling[25,37], or walking[38,39]. Some of these methods have been adapted to
the study of dynamic exercises (such as rehabilitation exercises), but the study of this type of
exercises is still scarce due to the limitations of these tools[33]. Therefore, there is still a lack of
studies addressing the direct measurement of loads and the evaluation of dynamic exercises
commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

The aim of this study is to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to, directly and indirectly, estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

METHODS

This scoping review was undertaken following the PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guidelines[40]. This review has not been registered in PROSPERO because this platform does not currently accept registrations for scoping reviews, literature reviews or mapping reviews.

Information sources and search strategy

According to the recommendations of a recent study[41] for biomedical reviews, four databases were searched by two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) from database inception to February, 2021: Embase, PubMed (including Medline), Web of Science, and Google Scholar. The following combinations of terms were used in the first three databases: "Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]"; "Tendon AND wave"; "Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]". Additionally, "Tendon AND Load" was searched in Embase and PubMed. The combinations of terms "Tendon AND Force", "Tendon AND Biomechanics", "Tendon AND Properties", "Tendon AND Load", and "Tendon AND wave" were used in Google Scholar, retrieving the first 200 relevant references of each search. Detailed information on the sources of information and the combinations of terms used is available in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

Eligibility criteria

All studies that met the following eligibility criteria were included:

- (a) Cross-sectional studies published in scientific journals;
- (b) Focused on evaluating the forces and strain (tendon strain evaluation was included if it was described as a way to quantify loads) of tendons in vivo using direct or indirect techniques;
- (c) During dynamic exercises;
- (d) Available in English or Spanish language.

Conversely, those studies meeting any of these exclusion criteria were discarded: (a) Studies with evaluation of neuromuscular or joint forces that do not describe evaluating the tendon; (b) investigated tasks were running, walking, jumping, landing or other everyday tasks that are not rehabilitative exercises; (c) conference proceedings; (d) book chapters.

Study selection

All retrieved references were imported into Mendeley to later be included in Rayyan (https://www.rayyan.ai/), a systematic review support tool. Duplicates were identified and removed. The remaining references were screened by title and abstract by one author (A.E-E) to exclude clearly irrelevant articles. Finally, two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) screened the full

BMJ Open

texts of identified articles to select those that met the eligibility criteria. A third reviewer solved any disagreements (A.I.C.V).

Data extraction

Two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) assessed the full-texts of the selected studies. To obtain the information from the studies, an extraction form was used including the following data: authors and year of publication; study setting; study population; participant demographics; details of the evaluation technique; dynamic exercises evaluated; tendon forces /strain results. In this review, they were included those studies that analysed the forces and strain on the tendon in dynamic exercises, especially those commonly used in tendon rehabilitation. Dynamic analysis based on running, walking, or cycling, and batteries of exercises based on day-to-day or work activities were not taken into account.

Synthesis of results

The studies were grouped by the types of measurement techniques applied and by the tendon location, summarising the type of settings, populations and article types for each group, along with the broad findings.

Methodological quality analysis

Current guidelines on conducting a scoping review describe the inclusion of a methodological quality analysis as not necessary[42,43]. Likewise, the lack of a standardised tool for the methodological evaluation of the heterogeneous type of studies included in this review makes methodological analysis difficult. In this context, this review focus on analysing the forces, and

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

> strain evaluation methodologies used in the included studies rather than in the magnitude of the results obtained, with the lack of methodological quality analysis influencing the results and conclusions of this review to a lesser extent.

Patient and Public Involvement

Patients were not involved in this research.

RESULTS

A total of 16571 records were identified in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. Then, duplicates were removed, remaining 8536 references. Additionally, eight records were identified by additional sources. Among these, 153 were identified as potentially eligible after reading the title and the abstract, retrieving the full-texts of all of them. After evaluating the fulfilment of the eligibility criteria, 21 studies were finally included in the current review. The Figure 1 represents the flow diagram of the selection process. A detailed list of the studies excluded in the last stage is available in the Supplementary Appendix 2.

[Figure 1 near here]

In total, 300 subjects were included in the analysed studies. Among these, 202 correspond to healthy samples, while 98 of them were open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. However, due to the similarity in the characteristics of the sample and the concurrence of most of the authors in the case of three studies[44–46] (12 subjects in each study), it is pertinent to think that they are the same participants.

Different evaluation methodologies were identified in the included reports, including inverse dynamics, force transducers, and optic fibre sensors for the evaluation of tendon forces, and ultrasound imaging techniques for strain evaluation. The tendon locations evaluated were the Achilles, quadriceps, patellar, and different tendons of the hand. Table 1 shows the groups of evaluation techniques associated with the tendon location and the references of the records that included each one. Table 2 includes expanded information about the measurement PRC. methodology.

Table 1. Forces and strain evaluation method	odologies identified in the included studies
--	--

Measurement methodology	Tendon	References
Forces		
Inverse dynamics	Achilles	[47–55]
	Patellar	[56–60]
Force transducers	Hand	Buckle [44–46]
(Buckle force transducer, S-shaped		Load cell [61,62]
force transducer, load cell)		S-shaped [63]
Optic fibre sensors	Patellar	[64]
Strain		
Ultrasound imaging	Achilles	[49,51,54]
	Quadriceps	[59]

Force

Inverse dynamics

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

> Fourteen studies used an indirect evaluation methodology of tendon forces based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles tendon and five in the patellar tendon. When inverse dynamics are used, tendon forces are estimated using different equations based on joint torque and moment arms or integrating kinematic and kinetic data in musculoskeletal models. This methodology uses kinematics, often complemented with applied external forces, to calculate net joint moments[65]. Moment arms are estimated from previous literature data or estimated specifically for each patient through imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging or ultrasound.

> Most of the included studies used motion capture systems for kinematics, while force plates were the most used device for obtaining kinetic data. Some studies used generic moment arms based on the published literature[47,58], other used previously described procedures and equations[52,55,56,60], while other estimated subject-specific moment arms based on imaging techniques[48,49]. Kinematic and kinetic data were integrated into different musculoskeletal models: three studies[50,51,57] used the Human Body Model[66], one[47] study used the OpenSim model[67], one study[48] used the FreeBody model[68], while other studies[49,53,56] implemented other codes or models.

> Most of the studies reported normalised force values by body weight (BW), obtaining the lowest values in the Achilles through the seated heel raising exercise (0.41-0.5 BW)[47,48]. The single-leg heel raising and lowering obtained values between 3-5.12 BW for the Achilles tendon[47,48,50,53]. In the patellar tendon, the results were mainly reported in Newtons (N), obtaining mean values between 2899 and 5683 N for different variants of the squat[58,60].

Force transducers

Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. The introduction of the force transducers was carried

Page 13 of 60

BMJ Open

out during surgery with local anaesthesia. Three modalities of force transducers were applied: buckle force transducer[44–46], s-shaped force transducer[63], and load cell[61,62].

The buckle force transducers technique used in three of the studies[44–46] consisted of a modified version of the method described by Dennerlein et al. (1997)[69]. This device consisted of a 9 x 16 x 4.5 mm stainless steel frame and a removable fulcrum designed to fit inside the carpal canal [44–46]. In this system, each tendon lies in semi-circular arches in the device[44–46]. These studies evaluated unresisted finger flexion and extension at different wrist angles, obtaining a range of mean values between 1.3 N - 25.5 N for the flexor digitorum profundus (range -1.6 N – 74.7 N) and 1.3 N – 12.9 N (range -2.0 N – 47.53 N) for the flexor digitorum superficialis[44–46]. The S-shaped force transducer consisted of a stainless steel frame combined with four strain gauges attached on its central beam[63]. This study obtained values between 0 and 12.0 kgf (117.7 N, obtained with the active tip pinch) in the evaluation of different finger and wrist flexion and extension exercises[63]. In the case of load cell, an apparatus consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook" was used for the tendon force measurements[61,62]. The central hook was connected to a load cell, recording the applied forces. These studies evaluated different finger flexion and extension exercises, with and without resistance, obtaining values in a range between 1 N and 50 N (resisted finger flexion, 300 g)[61,62].

Optic fibre sensor

Dillon et al. (2008)[64] applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in both the anterior and the posterior regions of the proximal patellar tendon. This methodology was implemented inserting two 0.5-mm optic fibre sensor perpendicular through the entire cross section of the tendon under local anaesthesia. For the purpose of the study, one sensor was placed 1-2 mm anterior to the posterior border of the tendon, while the other sensor was placed 1-2 mm Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

posterior to the anterior border of the tendon[64]. The optic fibre was attached to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring. Then, tendon forces were registered during dynamic exercises, removing the sensor at the end of all tests[64]. In this study the sensors were not calibrated to record forces in N. Therefore, the data is only available through the differential output of the fibre signal[64]. In general, higher values were found in the posterior area of the proximal tendon (0.77-1.00 V) than in the anterior area (0.21-0.42 V). The highest values were found in the one-legged squat exercise (1.00 V)[64].

Strain as a load measure

Four studies [49,51,54,59] carried out additional measurements for quantifying loads on the tendon through strain or elongation measurement. Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius myotendinous junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion, using ultrasound imaging. Rees et al. (2008)[54] established and tracked the position of these anatomical sites in terms of 3D coordinates over time by using an active marker motion analysis system through a previously detailed methodology[32]. Chaudhry et al. (2015) implemented an algorithm that provides an intensity map of the ultrasound images, from which the 2D position and angular orientation of the most intense points can be established[49]. Thus, the authors used this mechanism to locate and track the myotendinous junction[49]. Elongation was calculated as the difference between the instantaneous length and the initial length. In these studies, standing eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises were assessed, both phases performed with bent and extended knee[49,54]. In the study by Rees et al., the authors found that the elongation of the tendon during the eccentric and concentric part of the exercise is similar (13.6mm and 14.9mm on average for eccentric and concentric phase, respectively)[54]. Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] also obtained similar

BMJ Open

elongation of the tendon during the eccentric (approximately 8 mm of peak mean elongation) and concentric phase (approximately 7 mm), [49]. Earp et al. (2016)[59] estimated the myotendinous unit length of the distal vastus lateralis using previous models based on joint position and individual limb lengths. This information was used to compare different ways of performing the squat, analysing the tendon lengthening pattern during the concentric and eccentric phases[59]. Revak et al. (2017)[51] estimated the tendon strain using the average Young modulus value (819 N/mm²) reported in previous literature[70]. First, the Achilles tendon stress (magnitude that quantifies the load per unit area of the tendon) was calculated by dividing the tendon force (estimated using inverse dynamics) by the cross-sectional area of each participant[51]. Then, the tendon strain was calculated by dividing the tendon stress by the Young modulus. In this case, ultrasound was used to measure the cross section of the tendon (not during exercises)[51]. The strain values obtained (expressed in %) were between 0.71±0.35 and 8.80±0.35, corresponding to the seated heel raising and lowering and the unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises, respectively[51].

Type of exercises

Different types of exercises were analysed in the included studies. Heel raising and lowering exercises, involving concentric or eccentric plantarflexion, are commonly applied in Achilles tendinopathy rehabilitation. Seven studies including this type of exercises[47,49–51,54,53,48]. In patellar tendon disorders, different modalities of squats are commonly prescribed, as well as exercises involving knee flexion and extension. Eight[47,50,52,56,58–60,64] and two[55,64] studies analysed these types of exercises, respectively. Another exercise commonly applied for lower limb disorders such as lunge was analysed in two studies[50,57]. Three studies analysed step-up and step-down exercises or stairs climbing[47,55,64]. Finally[44–46,61–63]. Table 2 includes the type of exercises analysed in each study.

to occurrence on the terms on the one of the terms on the one of t

1	
2	
_ ז	
4	
-	
5	
6	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
י 2∩	
∠∪ ว1	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
27	
رد در	
38 20	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	

Table 2. Characteristics of the included studies.

	e
For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml	-

)			BMJ Open	bmjopen-2021-0; J by copyright, ir
Table 2. Chara	cteristics of the included studie	s.		10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1
Autor and year	Population	Tendon	Type of exercise	Evaluated parameter and evaluation methodology
Baxter et al. 2021 [47]	N= 8; Healthy; 6M, 2F; 30 ±4 years; BMI: 24.1 ±3.2	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated single-legged heel raise with 15 kg placed on the thigh, single-leg and double-leg heel raises done at both comfortable and fast speed, lunges, squats, and step ups and step downs from a low box (12 cm) and a high box (20 cm)	Force: Inverse dynamics: A cilles tendon force was estimated as the plantarflexion moment calculated with a verse dynamic analysis divided by a plantarflexor moment arm of 5 cm and normalised endon load by participant bodyweight. Musculoskeletal model: OpenSim. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Chaudhry et al. 2015 [49]	N= 11; Healthy; 6M, 5F; 26.5 ±1.9 years; Weight: 65.92 ±10.5 kg; Height: 173 ±8 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: concentric (heel raising) and eccentric (heel lowering) ankle plantar flexion	Force: Inverse dynamic Schedules tendon force was calculated by dividing the externally applied ank is in moment by the moment arm and normalised across subjects by body weight. The perpendicular distance to the ankle joint center from the line joining the calculated are marker and the Achilles tendon marker was taken as the moment arm after correction for skin thickness measured by ultrasound. Data analysis: Matlab code. The procedure. Strain: Tendon length was calculated as the distance between the Achilles tendon insertion and the distance to the analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Gheidi et al. 2018 [50]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 22.1 ±1.8 years; Weight: 74.29 ±11.3 kg; Height: 177.7 ±8.4 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: unilateral and bilateral heel raising, squat, lunge	Force: Inverse dynamic Muscle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. Moment arms were assed on previous literature (graphics-based model) [71]. The calculated muscle forces were used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by summing the muscle forces of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus during the stance phase of each exercise. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
Rees et al. 2008 [54]	N= 7; Healthy; 4M, 3F; 19-41 years;	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises	Force: Inverse dynamic: A filles Tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankle joint moment by the normality arm between the Achilles tendon and the ankle joint centre. A motion analysis system, and force plate data were used for the procedure. Strain: The Achilles tere on and the scalculated as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius myoter in the motion (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion (ultrasonography and wetween to analysis system).
Revak et al. 2017 [51]	N= 21; Healthy; 21M; 21.59 ±1.92 years; Weight: 75.81 ±1.24 kg; Height: 178.22 ±8.02 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated bilateral heel raising and lowering, standing bilateral heel raising and lowering, unilateral heel raising and lowering, and bilateral heel raising and unilateral lowering.	Force: Inverse dynamics: Mescle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The muscle forces were then used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by summing the muscle forces of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus for each exercise. Musculoskeler and model: Human Body Model.
				bliographique 16

			BMJ Open	mjope by cop	- Page
				n-2021-057 yright, incl	
				A motion analysis system and Strain was indirectly concerns modulus of 819 N/mmoderent	force plate data were used for the procedure. Strain ed by dividing the tendon stress by the average Young rted in previous literature.
Sinclair et al. 2015 [52]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 23.61 ±4.17 years; Weight: 75.63 ±6.54 kg; Height: 178 ±10 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: back and front squat	Force; Inverse dynamig: The the plantar flexion modes: (MA): ATL = MPF / MA	Achilles tendon load (ATL) was determined by dividir MPF) by the estimated Achilles tendon moment arm coment arm was quantified as a function of the ankle cocedure described in previous literature [72].
Weinert- Aplin et al. 2015 [53]	N= 19; Healthy; 8M, 11F; M: 28 ±3 years; Weight: 73.4 ±12 kg; Height: 176 ±10 cm F: 29 ±6 years; Weight: 58.7 ±10.2 kg; Height: 163 ±5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: barefoot and in shoes eccentric heel lowering (with knee extended and flexed)	Force; Inverse dynamic: Big and inter-segmental more inverse dynamics utilisme [73]. Musculoskeletal more Matlab. A motion analysis system pressure measurements mate	ematics and kinetics were used to calculate the angle ts at the ankle, knee and hip joints following establish wton-Euler equations of motion and segment dynam lower limb musculoskeletal model implemented in d force plate data (all conditions), and an in-shoe plan m (for shod conditions) were used for the procedure.
Yeh et al. 2021 [48]	N= 18; Healthy; 11M, 7F; 29.6 ±3.8 years; Weight: 70.7 ±12.4 kg; Height: 171.8 ±7.5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: HSR and ECC protocols modification: Standing knee-straight heel drop and rise (100, 108-115, 125, 160 of %BW); seated heel drop and rise (13, 21-28, 38, 63 of %BW)	Force; Inverse dynamic:	illes tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankl cific effective moment arm estimated from the MRI. Body. A motion analysis system, force plate data and
Dillon et al. 2008 [64]	N= 7; Healthy; 7M; 26.4 ±3.9 years; BMI: 24.8 ±1.5	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: CONC and ECC one-leg squat (110°), CON and ECC knee extension with a 10-kg weight attached to the foot (90°), step up and step down	Force; Optic fibre: An optic fibre anterior and the poster or re- entails the optic fibre being and the ends being attaches monitoring.	bre technique was used to detect forces in both the gions of the proximal patellar tendon. The technique aserted through the entire cross section of the tendo to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity
Earp et al. 2016 [59]	N= 10; Healthy; 10M; 25.8 ±2.8 years; Weight: 83.8 ±9.4 kg; Height: 177 ±6 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: depth back squat lifts with 60% of 1RM at three different speeds: slowfixed- tempo, volitional-speed without a pause, and maximum-speed jump)	Force: Inverse dynamic: Page moment by the joint-darived a previously published mode were estimated by compining dynamics equations and with equations provided in previous and force plate data were us Strain: Myotendinous unit joint position and individue tendinous was calculated subtracted from the myote	ellar tendon forces were estimated by multiplying kn moment arm length of the patella; as determined us [74]. The relative ankle, knee, and hip joint moment force platform and kinematic using standard inverse segmental masses estimated using the cadaver-deri usly published literature [75]. A motion analysis syste ed for the procedure. ength was estimated using previous models based limb lengths. The quadriceps tendon length of th s the longitudinal length of the recorded fascicle ndinous unit length.
Frohm et al. 2007 [58]	N _{Total} = 14; Healthy; 14M N ₁ : 13; 36 ±9 years; Weight: 87 ±4 kg;	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: eccentric squats holding a weight (barbell disc) of 10 kg in decline board and horizontal surface, eccentric squat in	Force: Inverse dynamics: Pa moment by the patellar ten flexion angle. Moment arm	ellar tendon force was estimated dividing the knee on moment arm, specific for the corresponding knee were based on data for different angles reported in
				aphique d	17

Page 19 of 60	0			BMJ Open	bmjopen-2			
1 2 3	ight, incl							
4 5 6 7		Height: 183 ±5 cm N ₂ : 11; 39 ±10 years; Weight: 87 ±5 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm		Bromsman device in decline board and horizontal surface	previous literature [76] A notion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure. 9 9 9 5 5 5 5			
8 9 10 11 12	Reilly and Martens 1972 [55]	N= 3; Heathy; 3M; 24, 26, and 30 years	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: leg raising, stair climbing, and deep knee bends	Force: Inverse dynamic: The calculation for the leg raise exercise was a purely mathematical formulation. We seed on the moment arm and angles), whereas the other cases are a combination of the moment arm and angles), whereas the other determined parameter of the gradient of the patellar tendon force we here a seasured from roentgenograms. A stroboscopic photography system and deta were used for the procedure.			
13 14 15 16 17	Richards et al. 2016 [60]	N= 18; Healthy; 9M, 9F; 20-46 years; Weight: 75.1 kg (58.3-100)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20° and 25°)	Force: Inverse dynamics and all ar tendon force (PTF) was determined by dividing the extensor moment (MEEDE the tendon moment arm (PTMA): PTF = ME / PTMA. The moment arm was quantified as a function of the knee flexion angle by fitting a 2nd order polynomial curves of the published in previous literature [77]. A motion analysis system and for the data were used for the procedure.			
18 19 20 21 22 23	Zellmer et al. 2019 [57]	N= 25; Healthy; 25F 22.69 ±0.74 years; Weight: 61.55 ±9.74 kg; Height: 169.39 ±6.44 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: forward step lunge with knee in front of toes, forward step lunge with knee behind toes	Force: Inverse dynamic Subscience forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The calculated ausce forces were used to quantify the total patellar tendon force by summing the pusce forces of the rectus femoris, vastus medialis, vastus lateralis, and vastus intermedius throughout each repetition. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.			
24 25 26 27	Zwerver et al. 2007 [56]	N= 5; Healthy; 2M, 3F; 19-24 years (mean 22); Weight: 58-84 kg (mean 72); Height: 168-200 cm (mean 180)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: single-leg decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20°, 25° and 30°) with and without a backpack of 10 kg	Force: Inverse dynamic: Normalised patellar tendon forces were estimated according to the following formut: $F_{todon} = M/d$, where M is the ankle moment and d is the normalised moment and of the patellar tendon. The calculation of moment arms were based on previous literature [78]. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the proceeding.			
28 29 30 31	Edsfeldt et al. 2015 [45]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 (32-52) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted fingers extension and flexion of all fingers, unresisted isolated flexion of FDP, unresisted isolated flexion of FDS	Force: Buckle force transducer: After the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal incident, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force transducers were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surger were			
32 33 34 35	Kursa et al. 2006 [44]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension at different angles (MP extension, 15° MP, 45° MP, 60° MP, MP flexion)	Force: Buckle force traesducer: After the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal inciden, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force to ansducers were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surgery with local anaesthesia injected at the incision site.			
36 37 38 39	Nikanjam et al. 2007 [46]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension	Force: Buckle force transducer: After the flexor retinaculum ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index were isolated and buckle force transducers were placed around each. The experiment was conducted during open carpal tunnel regease surgery with local anaesthesia.			
40 41 42 43			For pee	r review only - http://bmiopen.hmi.com/site/al	aphique 18			

N= 33; open carpal	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and	Force: Load cell: An aparatos consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a
tunnel release surgery patients;		resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-	"hook' was used for the tergon force measurements. The central hook is connected
54 (24-86) years		500g)	to a load cell. During routing contain tunnel decompression under local anaesthetic
			infiltration, tendon for emeasurements were carried out on each exposed tendon
			(FDS of the ring finger,) to finger or index finger; FDP of the ring finger or little
			finger; FPL of the thump).
N= 24; open carpal	Hand	Dynamic exercises: resisted finger flexion (pulley	Force: Load cell: An ap
tunnel release surgery patients;		with weights 100-500g) and resisted finger	"hook' was used for the group of force measurements. The central hook is connected
12M, 12F;	K i	extension (rubber band)	to a load cell. During r 🕉 🏶 carpal tunnel decompression under local anaesthetic
57 (23-86) years			infiltration, tendon for a surements were carried out on each exposed tendon
		6	(FDS of the ring finger, 👬 🗟 finger or index finger).
N= 5; open carpal	Hand	Dynamic exercises: wrist and fingers flexion and	Force: S-shaped force and source: S-shaped force transducers were applied to the
tunnel release surgery patients;		extension	flexor pollicis longus and EDS and FDP tendons of the index finger in five patients
3M, 2F			operated on for treatn a carpal tunnel syndrome. The experiment was conducted
			during open carpal tung dur ease surgery with local anaesthesia.
	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) years N= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F; 57 (23-86) years N= 5; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 3M, 2F	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) yearsHandN= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F; 57 (23-86) yearsHandN= 5; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 3M, 2FHand	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) yearsHandDynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100- 500g)N= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F;

CONC: Concentric; ECC: Eccentric; FDP: Flexor digitorum profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficial; FPL: Flexor digitorum generation on profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficial; FPL: Fl CONC: Concentric; ECC: Eccentric; FDP: Flexor digitorum profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficialis; FPL: Flexor digitorum 🖬 👹 🖬 ndus longus; GRF: Ground Reaction

d by copyright, in bmjopen-2021-05

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes. The main finding of this review is that most studies used an indirect method such as inverse dynamics, while there is a lack of direct measurements due to the difficulties and limitations in its application.

Indirect force measurement: inverse dynamics

Most of the studies included in this review used inverse dynamics as an indirect evaluation of tendon forces. This methodology uses measured kinematics and external forces to indirectly calculate net joint torques and forces in a body segment model[79]. These calculations are usually based on the joint moments produced by the muscle or muscles to which the tendon is inserted. Then, the biomechanical study is based on a single agonist force vector in line with the tendon direction and, in some cases, on a single antagonist force vector in the opposite direction[80]. Although this method is widely used, it is suggested that the results obtained differ from the actual ones due to incorrect modelling assumptions and measurement errors[79]. For example, classical inverse dynamics assumes idealised pin joints and the existence of rigid body segments, and that does not match reality[79]. Kinetics are introduced in the procedures with the intention of limiting these errors. However, due to the aforementioned difficulties of kinematics measurements, the kinematics and kinetics data are not always consistent. This creates a new problem due to the concurrency of data that does not match, forcing part of the data to be discarded[79].

There are different procedures based on inverse dynamics for the calculation of forces. Thus, although most of the included studies used similar kinematics (motion capture devices) and kinetics (force plates) assessment systems, these data were processed in different ways. Some

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

studies integrated these data in musculoskeletal models such as Human Body Model[50,51,57], OpenSim[47], FreeBody[48], among others[49,53,56]. These models make more or less precise assumptions that allow us to transform the kinematics and kinetics data into net torques of body segments. Likewise, models such as the Human Body Model made an additional indirect estimate, first calculating the muscle forces and assuming that the forces in the tendon will be equal to the sum of the muscle forces of the agonist muscle group[50,51,57]. This fact could imply an additional error in the estimation since there may be differences between the agonist muscle group and tendon forces, and a potential error is made when only some of the muscles involved in the movement are taken into account[80]. Different methods were used for estimating the moment arms. Some musculoskeletal models used previous estimations of the moment arms, with some differences both in the models and in the equations used[49,53,56]. Some studies performed subject-specific calculations based on imaging techniques to minimise error [48,49], and others studies used data from previously published literature (e.g. 5 cm ankle moment arm)[47,58]. Alternatively, some studies used an intermediate method based on the use of new or previously published equations together with specific data from each patient[52,55,56,60]. Thus, the results obtained may be influenced by the specific limitations of each methodology. Using generic moment arms based on normative data ignores anatomical differences between individuals[80,81], and, sometimes, this value is not scaled to the rest of the anatomical structures[80,82]. Previous studies also suggest that the moment arm cannot be estimated from easily measured anthropometric characteristics or joint size differences, supporting the use of imaging techniques[83]. In cases where the moment arm is directly measured, it should be noted that the values in a resting position may not correspond to the values in another position or to those that would be obtained with the addition of muscle contraction[80,82]. The chosen method is relevant because, according to previous studies, there could be differences of up to 40-50% depending on the technique used (for the patellar tendon moment arm length at a

BMJ Open

Despite all the above mentioned limitations, modelling approaches have been widely employed to estimate tendon forces[65]. This may be due to its main advantage: it is a noninvasive procedure.

Direct force measurement

In the last decades, an attempt has been made to develop direct measurement techniques. However, this approach is limited due to the need to insert sensors into the body. This characteristic makes it a highly invasive procedure, making its use in healthy subjects difficult to justify.[33] Sensors must be biotolerable (for short-term measurements) and biocompatible (for long-term use), as well as easy to implant[23]. Additionally, devices should avoid damaging body tissues and alter the tendon and joint mobility and neuromuscular function[23]. It has been suggested that these sensors should also be flexible and allow wireless data transmission to facilitate their clinical use[33]. The transducers are implanted with an incision of several centimetres. Thus, the wound usually impedes normal activity for 2-3 weeks and sometimes makes it difficult to measure activity during the same session in which the sensor is inserted[84]. Additionally, potential complications such as local pain or infections have limited the use of this methodology to a restricted research population[84].

Force transducers

Buckle transducers were one of the first devices to show a successful ability to directly assess these forces in various activities such as walking, running, cycling or jumping[37,85–87]. This kind of transducer consists of a metallic buckle with strain gages through which a tendon is

looped[23]. When a tensile force is applied to the tendon, the buckle deforms and produces a voltage output proportional to the force[23]. Due to their configuration, these buckle transducers enable the measurement of force of the entire cross-section of the tendon[23]. This is an advantage over other implantable transducers (e.g., optic fibre) that only record forces in a specific area, since it is known that the load may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[23,88–90]. However, the placement of the tendon through the buckle shortens the tendon and can alter its natural movement[23]. Additionally, small changes in the placement may cause measurement differences, so it is recommended to carry out the calibration of these transducers within the specific tissue under study, and, once the sensor is placed and calibrated, it should be avoided to modify or remove it until the measurement is finished[23].

In this review, six studies introduced force transducers for measuring tendon forces during wrist and fingers flexion and extension rehabilitation exercises, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. Taking advantage of surgery to place the sensor makes it possible to compensate for part of the invasiveness that this procedure entails. However, reducing its application to this context limits the contexts in which it may be applied. In this regard, the development of biodegradable sensors that are reabsorbed after a certain time could increase the situations where their application can be justified, since the avoidance of a second surgery to remove the sensor would reduce some drawbacks of the technique[91]. In all cases, the procedure was carried out after the application of anaesthesia, which together with the surgical procedure itself could have some impact on the measurement results.

Optic fibre sensor

The use of optic fibre sensors appeared as a smaller solution compared to previous force transducers[92]. This kind of sensor is inserted perpendicular through the tendon. When a

BMJ Open

longitudinal tension is produced in the tendon, negative transverse tension is produced that squeezes the optical fibre[23,93]. The functioning of the optical fibre sensor is based on the amplitude modulation of the transmitted light that occurs when the optical fibre changes its shape due to the forces acting on it[23,93]. These differences can be seen in the receiver, which provides a voltage output proportional to the intensity of the light detected and therefore related to the tendon tensile strain[23,93]. This effect can be achieved using two types of sensors: intensity-based and spectral-based optical sensors[84].

During the last decades, different devices based on optic fibre have been developed and applied to directly measure tendon forces in vivo in humans during isometric contractions[94] and during dynamic activities such as walking or jumping[39,84,92,95,96]. These sensors have evolved from the earliest models (approximately 500µm)[97] to modern spectral-based models incorporating fibre Bragg gratings and micro-fabricated stainless steel housings (approximately 200µm)[84]. Modern optic fibre sensors offer some advantages such as small size, high sensitivity, fast response time, large dynamic range, and insensitivity to electromagnetic interference[84]. However, the main limitation of this measurement technique is still the invasiveness of the procedure for introducing and removing the sensor[84]. The procedure is usually performed under local anaesthesia, causing a little wound in the tissue that can interfere with movement[84]. Due to its smaller size, compared to the buckle transducer, the insertion process, the wound, and the recovery process are of lesser magnitude. Thus, its use in volunteers is more easily justified[23]. Also, the possible interference of the sensor during movement and changes in the natural shape of the tendon are reduced compared to other transducers, although still existing[23,92].

This technique has other limitations to take into account. Previous studies have found that skin movement, cable migration, and loading rate may influence the accuracy of the sensor[97].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Therefore, this technology may be considered an appropriate option for in vivo evaluation as long as these artefacts can be minimised[84].

Furthermore, this kind of sensor records forces in a specific area of the tendon, and this could be a source of differences between measurements due to the fact that force may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[23,88–90]. This phenomenon could be related to the relative sliding between the different tendon fascicles[88,89].

The lack of studies using this technique in dynamic exercise could be because of the current limitations that, although lower than those of other invasive techniques, still represent a significant barrier to its implementation. Thus, further study of the matter is encouraged.

Strain

Tenocytes are sensitive to strain[7,98,99,21]. Thus, it has been suggested that it is the strain magnitude experienced by tendon fibres, not force, that is more directly related to the positive or negative effects triggered in the tissue[7,21,98]. Previous studies have shown that tendon strain during activities such as walking or running is between 4.0-4.3% and 4.6-9.0%, respectively. The only study that reported the percentage of tendon strain in this review found a strain between 0.71% (seated heel raising and lowering) and 8.80% (standing unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises)[51].

The use of imaging techniques (e.g., 2D[28,100,101] and 3D[102] ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging[100]) has been previously reported, especially during isometric contractions, but most of these methods have not been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises.

BMJ Open

Tendon are viscoelastic, and their mechanical and viscoelastic properties of the tendon may imply a time-dependent behaviour of the tendon when a force is applied to it[11,59]. However, the hysteresis of tendons has been reported to be approximately 10%[103], and the loading rate effect does not seem to be decisive in the range of loading rates applied during physical activities[104,105]. Furthermore, current strain evaluation techniques (ultrasoundbased methods) seem not to be sensitive enough to detect the small effects that this range of loading rates produces[106]. To further minimise these loading rate effects, the application of conditioning contractions may allow a state of certain stability and reliability to be reached at the moment of the application of forces for its evaluation[107,108]. However, this is not done or at least described in most studies.

In this review, four studies[49,51,54,59] included a tendon elongation measurement for assessing tendon loads. Revak et al. (2017)[51] calculated the tendon strain by dividing the tendon stress (previously obtained) by the average Young modulus reported (819 N/mm²)[51]. This methodology again requires making various assumptions to estimate the tendon strain through the tendon stress, which in turn has been calculated using the tendon force value calculated indirectly using inverse dynamics. Therefore, this indirect method could accumulate the error of all the intermediate steps, some of which have been discussed in previous sections. Additionally, it also does not seem justified to assume a constant Young modulus for different individuals. Earp et al. (2016)[59] estimated the myotendinous unit length of the distal vastus lateralis using derived models based on joint position and individual limb lengths, a method that has been found to be reliable[109,110]. Differently, Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the tendon origin and the tendon insertion[54]. Thus, they tracked the position of these anatomical sites by using an active marker motion analysis system[54]. To do this, it is necessary to define what is the position for the initial length, also known as zero-length. Although the neutral position of the joint is often used as zero-length position[49], it should be

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

noted that this position of the ankle seems to be already associated with longitudinal tendon strain, and the zero-length has been previously related to a different position (knee angle of 180° and ankle angle of 110°)[111]. Thus, the joint position corresponding to the zero-length it is not always precisely known[23]. It is important to normalise this parameter to allow comparison between studies, for example, using a standardised position of the joint[23]. In these cases, we usually speak of "relative strain" with respect to that previously determined position. While this methodology may be useful when comparing the peak strains of a tendon under different exercises within a particular study or with studies that use that same position, this methodology does not allow for comparing these results with those of in vitro studies, where the position of zero-length is precisely determined [23]. The use of a force sensor in conjunction with ultrasonography could help determine the zero-length in each subject[23]. Other limitations of the approach used in these studies are the skin movements and the curved path of the tendon. Previous evidence have found that considering the Achilles tendon as a straight line between gastrocnemius medialis myotendinous junction and calcaneus results in an underestimation of the tendon length and carries errors of up to 78% of the length changes[112]. In this regard, Kharazi et al. (2021)[113] developed a new approach for Achilles strain in vivo measurement, which considers the tendon curve-path shape using skin reflective markers.

Imaging techniques

Ultrasonography as a strain measurement technique has some important advantages over other methods: it is non-invasive, does not expose the volunteers to radiation, and it is relatively affordable[33]. The absence of a sensor inside the body that can hinder mobility, together with the non-use of anaesthesia, allow natural movements[23]. Additionally, ultrasonography enables the differentiation of muscle and tendon interfaces, enabling muscle Page 29 of 60

BMJ Open

and tendon strains to be independently measured [33]. Basically, two approaches could be used to analyse strain using imaging techniques: on the one hand, displacement measurements between the tendon origin and insertion anatomical sites (myotendinous junction), approach used in this review by Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49]. The tracking of these anatomical sites is done through different methods. Initially, this task was performed through manual marking of the anatomical sites in successive ultrasound frames throughout the movement[49]. However, this methodology was excessively laborious, so it was limited to only a few frames[49]. For this reason, different algorithms, usually based on cross-correlation, have been developed to automate the process[49,114– 116]. In the Achilles tendon, for example, insertion is usually tracked using a marker placed on the calcaneus, while for the myotendinous junction, active marker motion analysis and ultrasound systems have been combined [49,54]. On the other hand, displacement measurements between known points within the tendon mid-substance, known as speckletracking, can be used[33]. The speckle-tracking technique allows unique speckle patterns of the tendon to be identified and tracked during movement[117]. The regional strain measurement approach is an advantage over implantable sensors that only enable point-topoint strain assessment. The choice of approach is important since, taking into account that the strain distribution is not consistent throughout the tendon, the result may also be different. While the first option provides the value of the global strain across the entire length of the tendon, the second one offers a measure of a specific region. Some studies have reported that the displacement of the proximal insertion point may be a representative measurement of the total tendon elongation during contraction, but more recent works have shown the limitations of this approach [80]. Thus, both methods may be adequate as long as they are properly reported, only being possible to compare results from the same approach[23]. Likewise, the choice of the anatomical site used as a tracking landmark is relevant. Thus, previous studies have shown that small variations (e.g., tibial tuberosity or

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

plateau) result in significant differences in the values obtained, both in tendon strain itself and in other calculated mechanical properties (e.g., tendon stiffness)[118]. Numerous limitations of imaging techniques have been widely reported[23,33,80]. It is worth emphasising that most of these limitations are already present in measurements during isometric contractions, making progress to the measurement of dynamic exercises even more challenging. First, the ultrasound probe placement and orientation may affect the measurements, and any motion produced during the body segment movement can be a source of error[33,80,119]. In the case of the study of isometric contractions, researchers have tried to overcome this limitation by means of rigid fixation with straps. However, this fixation is difficult to achieve during dynamic exercises and, especially during great joint angle excursions, it is difficult to maintain a stable image of the tendon or myotendinous junction. Additionally, the fixation can interfere with the movement pattern[33]. The type of exercises that can be evaluated is also limited by the fact that, except in the case of using wireless ultrasound probes, the subject must always be positioned a short distance from the ultrasound cart[33,80]. Second, the ultrasound image has a spatial limitation directly related to the length of the ultrasound transducer, especially affecting the measurement of long tendons[80]. This limitation could be obviated by scanning only the myotendinous junction [80]. However, this requires assuming that the movement of the distal structures to which the tendons attach is negligible, and this does not appear to be the case even with isometric contractions[80]. For this reason, it is recommended to scan both tendon ends, using longer transducers when necessary[80]. Third, another of the key limitations of ultrasonography is due to the use of 2D images to assess a tendon deformation that occurs in three dimensions[33,80]. While the measurement is done through the identification and tracking of anatomical sites in planar 2D images, the reality of threedimensional movement means that tendon bulging, rotation, or twisting can occur, and this fact may introduce a systematic over- or underestimation of tendon length[33,80]. This limitation has been partially addressed with new 3D ultrasound techniques by capturing

For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml
BMJ Open

images in multiple static postures (e.g., Freehand 3D[102]). In this technique, the ultrasound transducer is moved along the tendon, and a 3D image is created by reconstruction of the captured 2D images. However, this technology requires remaining in a static position for relatively long periods of time to scan the different planes, so its use is limited to resting states or for sustained static contractions[33,80]. Some strategies have been suggested to minimise these limitations as much as possible. Some of the most relevant are available in Table 1 of the article by Seynnes et al. (2015)[80].

Other techniques

During the review process, other techniques were identified. However, its current application is limited to isometric contractions, exercises such as walking, running, or cycling, or controlled contractions in a laboratory setting.

Magnetic resonance imaging

Some authors have used MRI as an imaging technique to measure tendon strain. Finni et al. (2008)[120] in knee extension-flexion cycles against calibrated resistance. Sheehan and Drace (2020)[100] used phase-contrast cine MRI for evaluating the patellar tendon strain during active knee extensions. In both cases, the reference zero length was identified by analysing MRI images of the tendon in a movie loop of film, noting the joint angle at which the tendon was slack[100,120]. This technique allows a three-dimensional analysis, reducing some of the limitations of ultrasonography. However, the nature of the MRI technique makes it difficult to evaluate exercises that require greater mobility.

Stretchable strain sensors

Novel stretchable strain sensors, based on soft elastomers and nanomaterials, are showing great potential for directly measuring musculoskeletal soft tissue strains in vivo[33]. These sensors provide direct strain measurement (not force as most of the other available

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

transducers), so they can offer very representative values of the tendon strain. On the other hand, these strain sensors share many of their limitations with other implantable devices and must be biotolerable, biocompatible, and easy to implant[33].

Vibrational behaviour

A proof-of-concept study was identified with a novel technique for evaluating tendon force during walking, running, and unilateral and bilateral heel raising[121]. Tendon loads were measured using a vibration motor and an accelerometer placed 2 cm apart from each other on the skin superior to the Achilles tendon. The systems consist of exciting a vibration motor and collecting the signals influenced by the tendon force in the accelerometer[121]. It is suggested that a tendon on which low force is applied responds to vibration with a steeper rising and falling edge, attributable to faster energy absorption and dissipation[121]. However, a tendon on which high force is applied responds with a progressive rising and falling edge, attributable to slower energy absorption and dissipation[121].

Another novel non-invasive approach is being developed for in vivo evaluation by tracking vibrational behaviour[122]. In this case, the direct relationship between axial stress and the speed of shear wave propagation is exploited through tensiometers consisting of a piezo-actuated tapper and two skin-mounted miniature accelerometers[122].

Although these techniques have some limitations such as artefacts caused by noise on the skin caused by movement of the limbs[121], their non-invasiveness gives them an advantage over other evaluation methods.

Limitations

BMJ Open

The main limitation of this study is the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety and heterogeneity of terms used. This limitation has been minimised through a search including broad terms, but some studies might still not have been identified.

Conclusions

Different evaluation methodologies are used for quantifying tendon forces and strain. However, only a minority of these techniques have been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises. There is a predominant use of modelling and inverse dynamics, but force transducers and optic fibre sensors have also been used for measuring tendon force. Ultrasound imaging is used for measuring tendon strain. Direct force or strain measurement techniques provide significant data, but their current limitations and high invasiveness reduce their application context. Indirect force estimation through inverse dynamics is not invasive but requires making controversial assumptions that may limit its accuracy. Assessing strain using imaging techniques, as long as its limitations are controlled, is a non-invasive method to assess a direct response to the loads acting on the tendon. There are other potentially applicable methods, but they have not yet been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises, possibly due to the difficulty of overcoming some of their limitations. Although the methods collected in this review allow direct or indirect estimation of the forces and strain applied to the tendon during dynamic exercises, their very nature makes their applicability difficult in a clinical context. Research can use these tools to make general estimates of forces and strain in dynamic exercises, but the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to study each patient individually and provide immediate feedback to the individuals measured. The field should continue to be developed,

looking for precise, direct techniques with less measurement error and less invasiveness.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Funding

This work is part of a government-funded project supported by the University Teaching Training Programme (FPU) of the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of Spain. Grant number: FPU17/00161.

Competing interests

None

Data availability statement

No additional data available.

Contributors

All authors contributed to the study design. AEE and AICV searched and screened the articles, with assistance from JC. All authors contributed to data analysis and interpretation of the data. AEE drafted the manuscript, AICV and JC revised it critically, and all authors contributed to revisions and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Scott A, Squier K, Alfredson H, et al. ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. Br J Sports Med 2020;54:260–2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885
- 2 Cardoso TB, Pizzari T, Kinsella R, *et al.* Current trends in tendinopathy management. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* Published Online First: 8 March 2019. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001

2	
3	
4 5	
6	
7	
8 9	
10	
11	
12	
14	
15	
16 17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
23	
24	
25 26	
27	
28	
29 30	
31	
32	
33 34	
35	
36	
37	
39	
40	
41 42	
43	
44	
45 46	
47	
48	
49 50	
50	
52	
53	
54 55	
56	
57	
58 59	
60	

- 3 Docking SI, Cook J. How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact* 2019;**19**:300–10.
- 4 Mellor R, Bennell K, Grimaldi A, *et al.* Education plus exercise versus corticosteroid injection use versus a wait and see approach on global outcome and pain from gluteal tendinopathy: prospective, single blinded, randomised clinical trial. *BMJ* 2018;**361**:k1662. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1662
- 5 Beyer R, Kongsgaard M, Hougs Kjær B, *et al.* Heavy Slow Resistance Versus Eccentric Training as Treatment for Achilles Tendinopathy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Sports Med* 2015;**43**:1704–11. doi:10.1177/0363546515584760
- 6 Kongsgaard M, Kovanen V, Aagaard P, et al. Corticosteroid injections, eccentric decline squat training and heavy slow resistance training in patellar tendinopathy. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009;19:790–802. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.00949.x
- 7 Pizzolato C, Lloyd DG, Zheng MH, et al. Finding the sweet spot via personalised Achilles tendon training: the future is within reach. Br J Sports Med 2019;53:11–2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099020
- 8 Wang JH-C. Mechanobiology of tendon. *J Biomech* 2006;**39**:1563–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.05.011
- 9 Chiquet M, Renedo AS, Huber F, et al. How do fibroblasts translate mechanical signals into changes in extracellular matrix production? *Matrix Biol J Int Soc Matrix Biol* 2003;22:73–80. doi:10.1016/s0945-053x(03)00004-0
- 10 Wang T, Lin Z, Day RE, *et al.* Programmable mechanical stimulation influences tendon homeostasis in a bioreactor system. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2013;**110**:1495–507. doi:10.1002/bit.24809
- 11 Arampatzis A, Karamanidis K, Albracht K. Adaptational responses of the human Achilles tendon by modulation of the applied cyclic strain magnitude. *J Exp Biol* 2007;**210**:2743–53. doi:10.1242/jeb.003814
- 12 Rio E, van Ark M, Docking S, *et al.* Isometric Contractions Are More Analgesic Than Isotonic Contractions for Patellar Tendon Pain: An In-Season Randomized Clinical Trial. *Clin J Sport Med* 2017;**27**:253–9. doi:10.1097/JSM.0000000000364
- 13 Alfredson H, Pietilä T, Jonsson P, *et al.* Heavy-load eccentric calf muscle training for the treatment of chronic Achilles tendinosis. *Am J Sports Med* 1998;**26**:360–6. doi:10.1177/03635465980260030301
- 14 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Thomeé P, *et al.* Eccentric overload training for patients with chronic Achilles tendon pain--a randomised controlled study with reliability testing of the evaluation methods. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2001;**11**:197–206.
- 15 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Eriksson BI, *et al.* Continued sports activity, using a painmonitoring model, during rehabilitation in patients with Achilles tendinopathy: a randomized controlled study. *Am J Sports Med* 2007;**35**:897–906. doi:10.1177/0363546506298279

16 Malliaras P, Cook J, Purdam C, *et al.* Patellar Tendinopathy: Clinical Diagnosis, Load Management, and Advice for Challenging Case Presentations. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 2015;**45**:887–98. doi:10.2519/jospt.2015.5987

- 17 Mascaró A, Cos MÀ, Morral A, et al. Load management in tendinopathy: Clinical progression for Achilles and patellar tendinopathy. Apunts Med Esport 2018;53:19–27. doi:10.1016/j.apunts.2017.11.005
- 18 Cook JL, Purdam C. Is compressive load a factor in the development of tendinopathy? *Br J Sports Med* 2012;**46**:163–8. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2011-090414
- 19 Cook JL, Purdam CR. Is tendon pathology a continuum? A pathology model to explain the clinical presentation of load-induced tendinopathy. Br J Sports Med 2009;43:409–16. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.051193
- 20 Wang JH-C, Guo Q, Li B. Tendon biomechanics and mechanobiology--a minireview of basic concepts and recent advancements. *J Hand Ther Off J Am Soc Hand Ther* 2012;**25**:133–40; quiz 141. doi:10.1016/j.jht.2011.07.004
- 21 Huang L, Korhonen RK, Turunen MJ, *et al.* Experimental mechanical strain measurement of tissues. *PeerJ* 2019;**7**:e6545. doi:10.7717/peerj.6545
- 22 Kannus P. Structure of the tendon connective tissue. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2000;**10**:312–20. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0838.2000.010006312.x
- 23 Fleming BC, Beynnon BD. In vivo measurement of ligament/tendon strains and forces: a review. *Ann Biomed Eng* 2004;**32**:318–28. doi:10.1023/b:abme.0000017542.75080.86
- 24 Glos DL, Butler DL, Grood ES, *et al.* In vitro evaluation of an implantable force transducer (IFT) in a patellar tendon model. *J Biomech Eng* 1993;**115**:335–43. doi:10.1115/1.2895495
- 25 Dick TJM, Arnold AS, Wakeling JM. Quantifying Achilles tendon force in vivo from ultrasound images. *J Biomech* 2016;**49**:3200–7. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.036
- 26 Dumas R, Barré A, Moissenet F, et al. Can a reduction approach predict reliable joint contact and musculo-tendon forces? J Biomech 2019;95:109329. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.109329
- 27 Farris DJ, Buckeridge E, Trewartha G, et al. The effects of orthotic heel lifts on Achilles tendon force and strain during running. J Appl Biomech 2012;28:511–9. doi:10.1123/jab.28.5.511
- 28 Kongsgaard M, Aagaard P, Roikjaer S, et al. Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats. Clin Biomech Bristol Avon 2006;21:748–54. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.03.004
- 29 Joseph CW, Bradshaw EJ, Furness TP, *et al.* Early changes in Achilles tendon behaviour in vivo following downhill backwards walking. *J Sports Sci* 2016;**34**:1215–21. doi:10.1080/02640414.2015.1102955
- 30 Franz JR, Slane LC, Rasske K, *et al.* Non-uniform in vivo deformations of the human Achilles tendon during walking. *Gait Posture* 2015;**41**:192–7. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.10.001

	-
Protected by copyright, including	•
Enseignement Superieur (ABES g for uses related to text and data min	
ing, Al tr	
aining, and simila	•
r technologic	
es.	C
	(

31	Lichtwark GA, Bougoulias K, Wilson AM. Muscle fascicle and series elastic element length changes along the length of the human gastrocnemius during walking and running. <i>J Biomech</i> 2007; 40 :157–64. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.10.035
32	Lichtwark GA, Wilson AM. In vivo mechanical properties of the human Achilles tendon during one-legged hopping. <i>J Exp Biol</i> 2005; 208 :4715–25. doi:10.1242/jeb.01950
33	Zhang Q, Adam NC, Hosseini Nasab SH, <i>et al.</i> Techniques for In Vivo Measurement of Ligament and Tendon Strain: A Review. <i>Ann Biomed Eng</i> 2021; 49 :7–28. doi:10.1007/s10439-020-02635-5
34	Bull AMJ, Reilly P, Wallace AL, <i>et al.</i> A novel technique to measure active tendon forces: application to the subscapularis tendon. <i>Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA</i> 2005; 13 :145–50. doi:10.1007/s00167-004-0556-y
35	Zhang X, Deng L, Yang Y, <i>et al</i> . Acute shoe effects on Achilles tendon loading in runners with habitual rearfoot strike pattern. <i>Gait Posture</i> 2020; 82 :322–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.09.027
36	Dixon SJ, Kerwin DG. The Influence of Heel Lift Manipulation on Achilles Tendon Loading in Running. <i>J Appl Biomech</i> 1998; 14 :374–89. doi:10.1123/jab.14.4.374
37	Gregor RJ, Komi PV, Järvinen M. Achilles tendon forces during cycling. <i>Int J Sports Med</i> 1987; 8 Suppl 1 :9–14. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025698
38	Ebrahimi A, Loegering IF, Martin JA, <i>et al</i> . Achilles tendon loading is lower in older adults than young adults across a broad range of walking speeds. <i>Exp Gerontol</i> 2020; 137 :110966. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2020.110966
39	Fröberg A, Komi P, Ishikawa M, <i>et al.</i> Force in the achilles tendon during walking with ankle foot orthosis. <i>Am J Sports Med</i> 2009; 37 :1200–7. doi:10.1177/0363546508330126
40	Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, <i>et al.</i> PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 2018; 169 :467–73. doi:10.7326/M18-0850
41	Bramer WM, Rethlefsen ML, Kleijnen J, <i>et al.</i> Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. <i>Syst Rev</i> 2017; 6 :245. doi:10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y
42	Khalil H, Peters M, Godfrey CM, <i>et al</i> . An Evidence-Based Approach to Scoping Reviews. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2016; 13 :118–23. doi:10.1111/wvn.12144
43	Peters MDJ, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, <i>et al</i> . Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. <i>Int J Evid Based Healthc</i> 2015; 13 :141–6. doi:10.1097/XEB.000000000000000000000000000000000000
44	Kursa K, Lattanza L, Diao E, <i>et al.</i> In vivo flexor tendon forces increase with finger and wrist flexion during active finger flexion and extension. <i>J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc</i> 2006; 24 . doi:10.1002/jor.20110
45	Edsfeldt S, Rempel D, Kursa K, <i>et al.</i> In vivo flexor tendon forces generated during different rehabilitation exercises. <i>J Hand Surg Eur Vol</i> 2015; 40 :705–10. doi:10.1177/1753193415591491
	30

46 Nikanjam M, Kursa K, Lehman S, *et al.* Finger flexor motor control patterns during active flexion: an in vivo tendon force study. *Hum Mov Sci* 2007;**26**:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2006.09.002

- 47 Baxter JR, Corrigan P, Hullfish TJ, *et al.* Exercise Progression to Incrementally Load the Achilles Tendon. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2021;**53**:124–30. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000002459
- 48 Yeh C-H, Calder JD, Antflick J, *et al.* Maximum dorsiflexion increases Achilles tendon force during exercise for midportion Achilles tendinopathy. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* Published Online First: 16 April 2021. doi:10.1111/sms.13974
- 49 Chaudhry S, Morrissey D, Woledge RC, *et al.* Eccentric and concentric loading of the triceps surae: an in vivo study of dynamic muscle and tendon biomechanical parameters. *J Appl Biomech* 2015;**31**:69–78. doi:10.1123/jab.213-0284
- 50 Gheidi N, Kernozek TW, Willson JD, *et al.* Achilles tendon loading during weight bearing exercises. *Phys Ther Sport* 2018;**32**:260–8. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.05.007
- 51 Revak A, Diers K, Kernozek TW, et al. Achilles Tendon Loading During Heel-Raising and -Lowering Exercises. J Athl Train 2017;**52**:89–96. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.04
- 52 Sinclair J, Edmundson C, Atkins S, *et al.* The effect of front and back squat techniques on peak loads experienced by the Achilles tendon. *Balt J Health Phys Act* 2015;**07**. doi:10.29359/BJHPA.07.3.01
- 53 Weinert-Aplin RA, Bull AMJ, McGregor AH. Investigating the Effects of Knee Flexion during the Eccentric Heel-Drop Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med* 2015;**14**:459–65.
- 54 Rees JD, Lichtwark GA, Wolman RL, *et al.* The mechanism for efficacy of eccentric loading in Achilles tendon injury; an in vivo study in humans. *Rheumatol Oxf Engl* 2008;**47**:1493–7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken262
- 55 Reilly DT, Martens M. Experimental Analysis of the Quadriceps Muscle Force and Patello-Femoral Joint Reaction Force for Various Activities. *Acta Orthop Scand* 1972;**43**:126–37. doi:10.3109/17453677208991251
- 56 Zwerver J, Bredeweg SW, Hof AL. Biomechanical analysis of the single-leg decline squat. *Br J Sports Med* 2007;**41**:264–8. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032482
- 57 Zellmer M, Kernozek TW, Gheidi N, *et al.* Patellar tendon stress between two variations of the forward step lunge. *J Sport Health Sci* 2019;**8**:235–41. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2016.12.005
- 58 Frohm A, Halvorsen K, Thorstensson A. Patellar tendon load in different types of eccentric squats. *Clin Biomech* 2007;**22**:704–11. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.12.006
- 59 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* Faster Movement Speed Results in Greater Tendon Strain during the Loaded Squat Exercise. *Front Physiol* 2016;**7**:366. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00366
- 60 Richards J, Selfe J, Sinclair J, *et al.* The effect of different decline angles on the biomechanics of double limb squats and the implications to clinical and training practice. *J Hum Kinet* 2016;**52**:125–38. doi:10.1515/hukin-2015-0200

2 3 4 5	61
6 7 8 9	62
10 11 12 13	63
14 15 16 17 18	64
19 20 21 22 23	65
24 25 26 27	66
28 29 30 31	67
32 33 34 35	68
36 37 38 39	69
40 41 42 43	70
44 45 46 47	71
48 49 50 51	72
52 53 54	73
55 56 57 58 59	74
60	

- 61 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons--the effect of extending the fingers against the resistance provided by rubber bands. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2009;**34**:186–9. doi:10.1177/1753193408096016
- 62 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons during passive and active movements of the fingers. J Hand Surg 2004;29:386–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhsb.2004.02.004
- 63 Schuind F, Garcia-Elias M, Cooney WP, *et al.* Flexor tendon forces: in vivo measurements. *J* Hand Surg 1992;**17**:291–8. doi:10.1016/0363-5023(92)90408-h
- 64 Dillon EM, Erasmus PJ, Müller JH, *et al.* Differential forces within the proximal patellar tendon as an explanation for the characteristic lesion of patellar tendinopathy: an in vivo descriptive experimental study. *Am J Sports Med* 2008;**36**:2119–27. doi:10.1177/0363546508319311
- 65 Kernozek T, Gheidi N, Ragan R. Comparison of estimates of Achilles tendon loading from inverse dynamics and inverse dynamics-based static optimisation during running. J Sports Sci 2017;35:2073–9. doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1255769
- 66 van den Bogert AJ, Geijtenbeek T, Even-Zohar O, et al. A real-time system for biomechanical analysis of human movement and muscle function. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2013;**51**:1069–77. doi:10.1007/s11517-013-1076-z
- 67 Seth A, Hicks JL, Uchida TK, et al. OpenSim: Simulating musculoskeletal dynamics and neuromuscular control to study human and animal movement. PLoS Comput Biol 2018;14:e1006223. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006223
- 68 Cleather DJ, Bull AMJ. The development of a segment-based musculoskeletal model of the lower limb: introducing FreeBody. *R Soc Open Sci* 2015;**2**:140449. doi:10.1098/rsos.140449
- 69 Dennerlein JT, Miller JM, Mote CDJ, *et al.* A low profile human tendon force transducer: the influence of tendon thickness on calibration. *J Biomech* 1997;**30**:395–7. doi:10.1016/s0021-9290(96)00158-3
- 70 Wren TA, Yerby SA, Beaupré GS, *et al.* Mechanical properties of the human achilles tendon. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2001;**16**:245–51. doi:10.1016/s0268-0033(00)00089-9
- 71 Delp SL, Loan JP, Hoy MG, *et al.* An interactive graphics-based model of the lower extremity to study orthopaedic surgical procedures. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1990;**37**:757–67. doi:10.1109/10.102791
- 72 Self BP, Paine D. Ankle biomechanics during four landing techniques. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2001;**33**:1338–44. doi:10.1097/00005768-200108000-00015
- 73 Winter DA. Three-Dimensional Kinematics and Kinetics. In: *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd 2009. 176–99. doi:10.1002/9780470549148.ch7
- 74 Visser JJ, Hoogkamer JE, Bobbert MF, et al. Length and moment arm of human leg muscles as a function of knee and hip-joint angles. Eur J Appl Physiol 1990;61:453–60. doi:10.1007/BF00236067

- 75 Robertson D, Caldwell G, Hamill J, *et al. Research Methods in Biomechanics*. Champlain, IL: : Human Kinetics 2004.
- 76 Smidt GL. Biomechanical analysis of knee flexion and extension. *J Biomech* 1973;**6**:79–92. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(73)90040-7
- 77 Herzog W, Read LJ. Lines of action and moment arms of the major force-carrying structures crossing the human knee joint. *J Anat* 1993;**182**:213–30.

- 78 Krevolin JL, Pandy MG, Pearce JC. Moment arm of the patellar tendon in the human knee. *J Biomech* 2004;**37**:785–8. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2003.09.010
- 79 Faber H, Soest AJ van, Kistemaker DA. Inverse dynamics of mechanical multibody systems: An improved algorithm that ensures consistency between kinematics and external forces. *PLOS ONE* 2018;**13**:e0204575. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0204575
- 80 Seynnes OR, Bojsen-Møller J, Albracht K, et al. Ultrasound-based testing of tendon mechanical properties: a critical evaluation. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2015;118:133–41. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00849.2014
- 81 Tsaopoulos DE, Baltzopoulos V, Maganaris CN. Human patellar tendon moment arm length: measurement considerations and clinical implications for joint loading assessment. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2006;**21**:657–67. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.02.009
- 82 Maganaris CN. Imaging-based estimates of moment arm length in intact human muscletendons. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2004;**91**:130–9. doi:10.1007/s00421-003-1033-x
- 83 Tsaopoulos DE, Maganaris CN, Baltzopoulos V. Can the patellar tendon moment arm be predicted from anthropometric measurements? *J Biomech* 2007;**40**:645–51. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2006.01.022
- 84 Behrmann GP, Hidler J, Mirotznik MS. Fiber optic micro sensor for the measurement of tendon forces. *Biomed Eng Online* 2012;**11**:77. doi:10.1186/1475-925X-11-77
- 85 Komi PV, Salonen M, Järvinen M, et al. In vivo registration of Achilles tendon forces in man. I. Methodological development. Int J Sports Med 1987;8 Suppl 1:3–8. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025697
- 86 Fukashiro S, Komi PV, Järvinen M, *et al.* In vivo Achilles tendon loading during jumping in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1995;**71**:453–8. doi:10.1007/BF00635880
- 87 Komi PV. Relevance of in vivo force measurements to human biomechanics. *J Biomech* 1990;**23 Suppl 1**:23–34. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(90)90038-5
- 88 Bojsen-Møller J, Magnusson SP. Heterogeneous Loading of the Human Achilles Tendon In Vivo. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 2015;**43**:190–7. doi:10.1249/JES.000000000000062
- 89 Slane LC, Thelen DG. Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading. *J Biomech* 2014;**47**:2831–5. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.07.032

3	
1	
-	
ر م	
0	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
20	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
22	
27	
24	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
40	
-т/ /0	
40 10	
49 50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
59	
60	

- 90 Slane LC, Dandois F, Bogaerts S, *et al.* Non-uniformity in the healthy patellar tendon is greater in males and similar in different age groups. *J Biomech* 2018;**80**:16–22. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.08.021
- 91 Boutry CM, Kaizawa Y, Schroeder BC, *et al*. A stretchable and biodegradable strain and pressure sensor for orthopaedic application. *Nat Electron* 2018;**1**:314–21. doi:10.1038/s41928-018-0071-7
- 92 Finni T, Komi PV, Lukkariniemi J. Achilles tendon loading during walking: application of a novel optic fiber technique. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1998;**77**:289–91. doi:10.1007/s004210050335
- 93 Ravary B, Pourcelot P, Bortolussi C, et al. Strain and force transducers used in human and veterinary tendon and ligament biomechanical studies. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2004;**19**:433–47. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2004.01.008
- 94 Arndt AN, Komi PV, Brüggemann G-P, *et al.* Individual muscle contributions to the in vivo achilles tendon force. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 1998;**13**:532–41.
- 95 Ishikawa M, Finni T, Komi PV. Behaviour of vastus lateralis muscle-tendon during high intensity SSC exercises in vivo. Acta Physiol Scand 2003;**178**:205–13. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01149.x
- 96 Finni T, Komi PV, Lepola V. In vivo human triceps surae and quadriceps femoris muscle function in a squat jump and counter movement jump. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2000;**83**:416–26. doi:10.1007/s004210000289
- 97 Komi PV, Belli A, Huttunen V, *et al.* Optic fibre as a transducer of tendomuscular forces. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1996;**72**:278–80.
- 98 Arampatzis A, Mersmann F, Bohm S. Individualized Muscle-Tendon Assessment and Training. *Front Physiol* 2020;11.https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2020.00723 (accessed 28 Mar 2022).
- 99 Magnusson SP, Langberg H, Kjaer M. The pathogenesis of tendinopathy: balancing the response to loading. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2010;**6**:262–8. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2010.43
- 100 Sheehan FT, Drace JE. Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study. *Clin Orthop* 2000;:201–7.
- 101 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo. *SpringerPlus* 2013;**2**:212. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-212
- 102 Farris DJ, Trewartha G, McGuigan MP, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human Achilles tendon determined in vivo with freehand three-dimensional ultrasound imaging. *J Exp Biol* 2013;**216**:594–600. doi:10.1242/jeb.077131
- 103 Finni T, Peltonen J, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viewpoint: On the hysteresis in the human Achilles tendon. *J Appl Physiol* 2013;**114**:515–7. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01005.2012

104 Mademli L, Arampatzis A, Walsh M. Effect of muscle fatigue on the compliance of the gastrocnemius medialis tendon and aponeurosis. *J Biomech* 2006;**39**:426–34. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.12.016

- 105 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al*. Achilles tendon stiffness is unchanged one hour after a marathon. *J Exp Biol* 2012;**215**:3665–71. doi:10.1242/jeb.068874
- 106 McCrum C, Oberländer KD, Epro G, *et al.* Loading rate and contraction duration effects on in vivo human Achilles tendon mechanical properties. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging* 2018;**38**:517–23. doi:10.1111/cpf.12472
- 107 Maganaris CN. Tendon conditioning: artefact or property? *Proc Biol Sci* 2003;**270 Suppl** 1:S39-42. doi:10.1098/rsbl.2003.0004
- 108 Schulze F, Mersmann F, Bohm S, *et al.* A wide number of trials is required to achieve acceptable reliability for measurement patellar tendon elongation in vivo. *Gait Posture* 2012;**35**:334–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.09.107
- 109 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* The influence of loading intensity on muscletendon unit behavior during maximal knee extensor stretch shortening cycle exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2014;**114**:59–69. doi:10.1007/s00421-013-2744-2
- 110 Kurokawa S, Fukunaga T, Fukashiro S. Behavior of fascicles and tendinous structures of human gastrocnemius during vertical jumping. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2001;90:1349–58. doi:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.4.1349
- 111 De Monte G, Arampatzis A, Stogiannari C, *et al.* In vivo motion transmission in the inactive gastrocnemius medialis muscle–tendon unit during ankle and knee joint rotation. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 2006;**16**:413–22. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2005.10.001
- 112 Fukutani A, Hashizume S, Kusumoto K, *et al.* Influence of neglecting the curved path of the Achilles tendon on Achilles tendon length change at various ranges of motion. *Physiol Rep* 2014;**2**:e12176. doi:10.14814/phy2.12176
- 113 Kharazi M, Bohm S, Theodorakis C, *et al.* Quantifying mechanical loading and elastic strain energy of the human Achilles tendon during walking and running. *Sci Rep* 2021;**11**:5830. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-84847-w
- 114 Korstanje J-WH, Selles RW, Stam HJ, *et al.* Development and validation of ultrasound speckle tracking to quantify tendon displacement. *J Biomech* 2010;**43**:1373–9. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.01.001
- 115 Pearson SJ, Ritchings T, Mohamed ASA. The use of normalized cross-correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging. *J Appl Biomech* 2013;**29**:165–73. doi:10.1123/jab.29.2.165
- 116 Magnusson SP, Hansen P, Aagaard P, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human gastrocnemius aponeurosis and free tendon, in vivo. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2003;**177**:185–95. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01048.x
- 117 Svensson RB, Slane LC, Magnusson SP, et al. Ultrasound-based speckle-tracking in tendons: a critical analysis for the technician and the clinician. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 Published Online First: 17 December 2020. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00654.2020

- 118 Mersmann F, Seynnes OR, Legerlotz K, *et al.* Effects of tracking landmarks and tibial point of resistive force application on the assessment of patellar tendon mechanical properties in vivo. *J Biomech* 2018;**71**:176–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.02.005
 - 119 Klimstra M, Dowling J, Durkin JL, *et al.* The effect of ultrasound probe orientation on muscle architecture measurement. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol Off J Int Soc Electrophysiol Kinesiol* 2007;**17**:504–14. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.04.011
 - 120 Finni T, Havu M, Sinha S, et al. Mechanical behavior of the quadriceps femoris muscle tendon unit during low-load contractions. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2008;104:1320–8. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01069.2007
 - 121 Bolus NB, Jeong HK, Blaho BM, *et al.* Fit to Burst: Toward Noninvasive Estimation of Achilles Tendon Load Using Burst Vibrations. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2021;**68**:470–81. doi:10.1109/TBME.2020.3005353
 - 122 Martin JA, Brandon SCE, Keuler EM, *et al.* Gauging force by tapping tendons. *Nat Commun* 2018;**9**:1592. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-03797-6

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

 FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process.

to beet terien only



Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process.

210x297mm (150 x 150 DPI)

ng, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

SUPPLEMENTARY FILE

BMJ OPEN

Supplement to: *Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review*

re-Escuder, Anto.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Supplementary Appendices

Appendix S1.	Detailed information sources and search strategy	3

				Google Scholar
	Pubmed	EMBASE	WOS	(200 primeras)
Tendon AND Load	3837	4311		200
Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]	100	183	536	
Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]	185	202	297	
Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]	90	111	83	
Tendon AND wave	893	1220	1282	200
Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]	685	755	801	
Tendon AND Force				200
Tendon AND Biomechanics				200
Tendon AND Properties				200
	5790	6782	2999	1000
Total		1	16571	

Appendix S1. Detailed information sources and search strategy

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons

Autor and year	Title	Reasons for exclusion
Acuna et al. 2019	Achilles tendon shear wave	No tendon forces/load
	speed tracks the dynamic	evaluation
	modulation of standing balance	
Aita et al. 1998	The load applied to the foot in a	No tendon forces/load
	patellar ligament-bearing cast	evaluation
Andarawis-Puri et al.	Infraspinatus and supraspinatus	No tendon forces/load
2010	tendon strain explained using	evaluation
	multiple regression models.	
Ando et al. 2019	Positive relationship between	No tendon forces/load
	passive muscle stiffness and	evaluation
	rapid force production	
Ateş et al. 2015	Muscle shear elastic modulus is	No tendon forces/load
	linearly related to muscle	evaluation
	torque over the entire range of	
	isometric contraction intensity	
Beck et al. 2020	Cyclically producing the same	No tendon forces/load
	average muscle-tendon force	evaluation
	with a smaller duty increases	
	metabolic rate	
Bobbert et al. 1986	An estimation of power output	No tendon forces/load
	and work done by the human	evaluation
	triceps surae musle-tendon	
	complex in jumping	
Bojsen-Moller et al. 2003	Measuring mechanical	No tendon forces/load
	properties of the vastus lateralis	evaluation
	tendon-aponeurosis complex in	
	vivo by ultrasound imaging	
Bojsen-Møller et al. 2005	Muscle performance during	No tendon forces/load
	maximal isometric and dynamic	evaluation
	contractions is influenced by	
	the stiffness of the tendinous	
	structures	3
Bolus et al. 2021	Fit to Burst: Toward	Proof-of-concept study
	Noninvasive Estimation of	
	Achilles Tendon Load Using	
	Burst Vibrations	
Breda et al. 2020	The association between	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon stiffness	evaluation
	measured with shear-wave	
	elastography and patellar	
	tendinopathy—a case-control	
	study	
Bruggemann 1985	Mechanical load on the Achilles-	Wrong publication type
	tendon during rapid dynamic	(Book chapter)
	sport movements	
Brum et al. 2013	In Vivo Achilles Tendon	No tendon forces/load
	Elasticity Assessment using	evaluation

	Supersonic Shear Imaging: a	
Bujalski et al. 2018	A Monte Carlo analysis of muscle force estimation sensitivity to muscle-tendon properties using a Hill-based muscle model	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Burgess et al. 2007	Plyometric vs. Isometric training influences on tendon properties and muscle output	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cao et al. 2019	A multicenter large-sample shear wave ultrasound elastographic study of the achilles tendon in chinese adults	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cattagni et al. 2017	No Alteration of the Neuromuscular Performance of Plantar-Flexor Muscles After Achilles Tendon Vibration	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Centner et al. 2019	Low-load blood flow restriction training induces similar morphological and mechanical Achilles tendon adaptations compared with high-load resistance training	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Chang et al. 2020	Strain ratio of ultrasound elastography for the evaluation of tendon elasticity	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cheung et al. 2006	Effect of Achilles tendon loading on plantar fascia tension in the standing foot.	No dynamic exercises (No exercises evaluated)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2015	Estimation of tensile properties of the Achilles tendon in haemophilic arthropathy of the ankle: case study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2019	Assessment of tensile mechanical properties of the Achilles tendon in adult patients with haemophilic arthropathy. Reproducibility study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Deforth et al. 2019	The effect of foot type on the Achilles tendon moment arm and biomechanics	No tendon forces/load evaluation

2	
3	
Δ	
5	
2	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
10	
10	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
2/	
ב-ד ⊃⊑	
20	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
21	
21	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
20	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
11	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
50	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

Delp et al. 2007	OpenSim: open-source software to create and analyze dynamic simulations of movement.	Wrong publication type
Dennerlein et al. 1999	In vivo finger flexor tendon force while tapping on a keyswitch	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Ebrahimi et al. 2020	Shear Wave Tensiometry Reveals an Age-Related Deficit in Triceps Surae Work at Slow and Fast Walking Speeds	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Ejeskar et al. 1982	Finger flexion force and hand grip strength after tendon repair	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Farris et al. 2013	Differential strain patterns of the human Achilles tendon determined in vivo with freehand three-dimensional ultrasound imaging	No dynamic exercises (isometric)
Finni et al. 2008	Mechanical behavior of the quadriceps femoris muscle tendon unit during low-load contractions	No dynamic exercises (laboratory setting)
Firminger et al. 2019	Effect of Shoe and Surface Stiffness on Lower Limb Tendon Strain in Jumping	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Fowler and Nicol 2000	Interphalangeal joint and tendon forces: normal model and biomechanical consequences of surgical reconstruction	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Fowler et al. 1999	Measurement of external three- dimensional interphalangeal loads applied during activities of daily living	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Friesenbichler et al. 2019	Gait and strength asymmetries in patients with insertional achilles tendinopathy	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Fröberg et al. 2020	The Effect of Ankle Foot Orthosis' Design and Degree of Dorsiflexion on Achilles Tendon Biomechanics-Tendon Displacement, Lower Leg Muscle Activation, and Plantar Pressure During Walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gerus et al. 2011	A method to characterize in vivo tendon force-strain relationship by combining ultrasonography,	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
/
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
22 22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
30
72
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
50
57
58
59

	motion capture and loading rates	reported as evaluation results
Gerus et al. 2012	Subject-Specific Tendon- Aponeurosis Definition in Hill- Type Model Predicts Higher Muscle Forces in Dynamic Tasks	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Giacomozzi et al. 2015	Does the thickening of Achilles tendon and plantar fascia contribute to the alteration of diabetic foot loading?	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gomes et al. 2020	Is there a relationship between back squat depth, ankle flexibility, and Achilles tendon stiffness?	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hager et al. 2020	Influence of joint angle on muscle fascicle dynamics and rate of torque development during isometric explosive contractions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hansen et al. 2006	Mechanical properties of the human patellar tendon, in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Harding et al. 1993	Finger joint force minimization in pianists using optimization techniques	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Harlaar et al. 2020	Patellofemoral joint contact forces at different activities - effects of modeling assumptions	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Harnie et al. 2020	Acute effect of tendon vibration applied during isometric contraction at two knee angles on maximal knee extension force production	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hashizume and Yanagiya 2016	Influences of the foot strike pattern and the running speed on the forces applied to foot	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Haufe et al. 2020	Biomechanical effects of passive hip springs during walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hauraix et al. 2015	In vivo maximal fascicle- shortening velocity during plantar flexion in humans.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Heinemeier et al. 2016	Methods of Assessing Human Tendon Metabolism and Tissue Properties in Response to Changes in Mechanical Loading	Wrong publication type (Book chapter)

2	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
,	
8	
9	
10	
11	
10	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
10	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
27	
25	
26	
27	
28	
20	
29	
30	
31	
32	
22	
22	
34	
35	
36	
27	
57	
38	
39	
40	
<u>4</u> 1	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
40	
47	
48	
49	
50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
51	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
50	
59	
60	

Helland et al. 2013	Mechanical properties of the patellar tendon in elite volleyball players with and without patellar tendinopathy.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Histen et al. 2017	Achilles Tendon Properties of Minimalist and Traditionally Shod Runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hoang et al. 2007	Passive mechanical properties of human gastrocnemius muscle-tendon units, muscle fascicles and tendons in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Hof et al. 2002	Mechanics of human triceps surae muscle in walking, running and jumping	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Holzer et al. 2020	Considerations on the human Achilles tendon moment arm for in vivo triceps surae muscle- tendon unit force estimates	Wrong study design (calculations using results from other studies)
Homayuouni et al. 2015	Modeling Implantable Passive Mechanisms for Modifying the Transmission of Forces and Movements Between Muscle and Tendons	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hopper et al. 2015	Dance floor force reduction influences ankle loads in dancers during drop landings.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hu et al. 2014	Biomechanical Analysis of Force Distribution in Human Finger Extensor Mechanisms	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hullfish et al. 2020	A simple instrumented insole algorithm to estimate plantar flexion moments	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Jones et al. 1985	Effect of muscle tendon vibration on the perception of force	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Joseph et al. 2014	Achilles tendon biomechanics in response to acute intense exercise.	No dynamic exercises
Kathy Cheng et al. 2008	Finite element analysis of plantar fascia under stretch— The relative contribution of windlass mechanism and Achilles tendon force	Wrong study design (Finite element analysis)/ No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kawakami et al. 2002	Effect of series elasticity on isokinetic torque-angle relationship in humans.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

2
2
ر ۸
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
10
10
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
20 26
26
27
28
29
30
31
27
32
33
34
35
36
37
20
20
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
50
52
22
54
55
56
57
58
50
59
υu

		reported as evaluation
		results
Kawakami et al. 2002	In vivo muscle fibre behaviour	No dynamic exercises
	during counter-movement	(laboratory setting)
	exercise in humans reveals a	
	significant role for tendon	
	elasticity	
Kaya and Yucesoy 2020	Muscle-tendon unit length-	No tendon forces/load
	spastic muscle force data by	evaluation
	combined intraoperative-	
	musculoskeletal modelling work	
Kernozek et al. 2016	Comparing Two Methods for	Wrong publication type
	Estimating Achilles Tendon	(Conference proceeding)
	Loading during Running	(
Kernozek et al. 2018	The effects of habitual foot	Tendon forces are used as
	strike natterns on Achilles	part of the calculation of
	tendon loading in female	other parameters and not
	runners	reported as evaluation
	Turners	results
Kongegaard et al. 2006	Decline accentric squats	No dynamic exercises
Kongsgaard et al. 2000	increases natellar tendon	NO dynamic exercises
	loading compared to standard	
Kauna at al. 2010		
Kouno et al. 2019	Effects of the strain rate on	No dynamic exercises
	mechanical properties of	
	tendon structures in knee	
	extensors and plantar flexors in	
	VIVO	
Kruse et al. 2019	Effects of serial casting on	No tendon forces/load
	muscle-tendon properties,	evaluation
	muscle function and gait in a	
	healthy child with calf muscle	
	shortening	
Kubo et al. 1999	Influence of elastic properties of	No tendon forces/load
	tendon structures on jump	evaluation
	performance in humans	
Kubo et al. 2000	Elastic properties of muscle-	No tendon forces/load
	tendon complex in long-	evaluation
	distance runners	
Kubo et al. 2001	Influence of static stretching on	No tendon forces/load
	viscoelastic properties of	evaluation
	human tendon structures in	
	vivo	
Kubo et al. 2002	Measurement of viscoelastic	No tendon forces/load
	properties of tendon structures	evaluation
	in vivo	
Kubo et al. 2003	Gender differences in the	No tendon forces/load
	viscoelastic properties of	evaluation
	tendon structures	
Kubo et al. 2005	Effects of cold and hot water	No dynamic exercises
	immersion on the mechanical	

2	
3	
1	
-	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
17	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
20	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
27	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
10	
-+U ⊿1	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
Δ7	
-1/ /0	
4ð	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
51	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
59	
60	

	properties of human muscle	
	and tendon in vivo.	
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between elastic	No tendon forces/load
	properties of tendon structures	evaluation
	and performance in long	
	distance runners	
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between Achilles	No tendon forces/load
	tendon properties and foot	evaluation
	strike natterns in long-distance	evaluation
	runners	
Kubo et al 2020	Mechanical properties of	No tendon forces/load
	muscle and tendon at high	evaluation
	strain rate in sprinters	evaluation
Les et al. 2015	Strain rate in sprinters	No toudou foreco/lood
Lee et al. 2015	Repeatability and agreement of	No tendon forces/load
	digital image correlation (DIC)	evaluation
	for regional strain estimates of	
	the in-vivo human patellar	
	tendon	
Lian et al. 1996	Characteristics of the leg	No tendon forces/load
	extensors in male volleyball	evaluation
	players with jumper's knee	
Lian et al. 2003	Performance characteristics of	No tendon forces/load
	volleyball players with patellar	evaluation
	tendinopathy 🥢	
Lichtwark et al. 2006	Interactions between the	Tendon forces are used as
	human gastrocnemius muscle	part of the calculation of
	and the Achilles tendon during	other parameters and not
	incline, level and decline	reported as evaluation
	locomotion.	results
Lichtwark et al. 2011	Achilles tendon (3D): Do the	Wrong publication type
	mechanical properties of	(Conference proceeding)
	tendon change in response to	(conterence proceeding)
	evercise?	
lima et al 2017	Tricens surge elasticity modulus	No tendon forces/load
	moscured by choor wayo	ovaluation
	alastagraphy is not correlated	evaluation
	to the planter flowing to reve	
L	to the plantar flexion torque	
Lu et al. 2013	Quantifying Catch-and-Release:	No dynamic exercises
	The Extensor Tendon Force	(everyday tasks)
	Needed to Overcome the	
	Catching Flexors in Trigger	
	Fingers	
Mademli et al. 2008	Age-related effect of static and	No dynamic exercises
	cyclic loadings on the strain-	
	force curve of the vastus	
	lateralis tendon and	
	aponeurosis	
Marouane et al. 2017	Changes in Knee Adduction	Wrong publication type
	Rotation and not Adduction	(Conference proceeding)
	Moment Influence Joint	

	Compartmental Load	
	Partitioning	
Martin et al. 2012	Effects of the index finger	No tendon forces/load
	position and force production	evaluation
	on the flexor digitorum	
	superficialis moment arms at	
	the metacarpophalangeal joints	
	- a magnetic resonance imaging	
	study.	
Martin et al. 2018	Gauging force by tapping	No tendon forces/load
	tendons	evaluation
Matsubayashi et al. 2008	Ultrasonographic measurement	No tendon forces/load
	of tendon displacement caused	evaluation
	by active force generation in the	
	psoas major muscle	
McCrum et al. 2018	Loading rate and contraction	Tendon forces are used a
	duration effects on in vivo	nart of the calculation of
	human Achilles tendon	other parameters and p
	mechanical properties	reported as evaluation
	inechanical properties	repuited as evaluation
McMahan at al 2012	The manipulation of strain	Tondon forces are used
Nicivianon et al. 2013	when stress is controlled	rendon forces are used
	when stress is controlled,	part of the calculation of
	modulates in vivo tendon	other parameters and no
	mechanical properties but not	reported as evaluation
	systemic TGF-β1 levels	results
McNair et al. 2013	Biomechanical properties of the	No tendon forces/load
	plantar flexor muscle-tendon	evaluation
	complex 6 months post-rupture	
	of the Achilles tendon	
Mileusnic et al. 2009	Force estimation from	No tendon forces/load
	ensembles of Golgi tendon	evaluation
	organs	
Mimura 1986	[The load-bearing function of a	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon bearing cast]	evaluation
Monte 2021	In vivo manipulation of muscle	No tendon forces/load
	shape and tendinous stiffness	evaluation
	affects the human ability to	
	generate torque rapidly	
Nicol et al. 1998	Significance of passively	No active exercises
	induced stretch reflexes on	evaluated
	achilles tendon force	cvalatea
	enhancement	
Nicol et al. 1000	Quantification of Achillos	No activo ovorcicos
Nicol et al. 1999	Qualitification of Achines	NO active exercises
	rendon force enhancement by	evaluated
	passively induced dorsiflexion	
	stretches	
Okuyama et al. 2019	Study on fingertip force sensor	Tendon forces are used
	based on measurement of	part of the calculation of
	tendon tension	other parameters
Olszowski ot al. 2015	Achilles tendon moment arms:	No dynamic exercises
OISZEWSKI EL al. 2015		

1	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
/ 0	
0	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
27	
22	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
⊿२	
11	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
55	
20	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

	constant tendon load when using the tendon excursion method.	
Pearson et al. 2013	The use of normalized cross- correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Peltonen et al. 2013	Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Perl et al. 2012	Effects of Footwear and Strike Type on Running Economy	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Petrescu et al. 2016	Evaluation of normal and pathological Achilles tendon by real-time shear wave elastography	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Rowley et al. 2000	The effect of the patellar tendon-bearing cast on loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Salman et al. 2019	Spatial Variations in Achilles Tendon Shear Wave Speed Using a Cost-Effective Method of Accelerometers	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Saltzman et al. 1992	The patellar tendon-bearing brace as treatment for neurotrophic arthropathy: a dynamic force monitoring study.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sasaki et al. 2019	Electromyographic analysis of infraspinatus and scapular muscles during external shoulder rotation with different weight loads and positions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sheehan et al. 2000	Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sinsel et al. 2013	The musculoskeletal loading profile of the thumb during pipetting based on tendon displacement	No tendon forces/load evaluation during exercises
Slane et al. 2014	Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Stafilidis et al. 2007	Muscle-tendon unit mechanical and morphological properties and sprint performance	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Stanojev et al. 2018	Effects of patellar tendon strap bracing on the motor performance and biomechanics of healthy adolescent athletes	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Stegman et al. 2009	A feasibility study for measuring accurate tendon displacements using an audio-based Fourier analysis of pulsed-wave Doppler ultrasound signals.	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Sugisaki et al. 2011	Effect of muscle contraction levels on the force-length relationship of the human Achilles tendon during lengthening of the triceps surae muscle-tendon unit	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Sussmilch-Leitch et al. 2012	Effect of foot orthoses on ankle kinematics and kinetics in male runners with Achilles tendinopathy	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Taniguchi 1988	[The load bearing function of patellar tendon bearing brace on the relation between shaft length and rate of load bearing]	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Thomeer et al. 2020	Load Distribution at the Patellofemoral Joint During Walking.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Totorean et al. 2014	The role of plantar pressure evaluation in rehabilitation of patients with Achilles tendon ruptures	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Ullrich et al. 2010	Influence of length-restricted strength training on athlete's power-load curves of knee extensors and flexors	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Ushiyama et al. 2005	Difference in aftereffects following prolonged Achilles tendon vibration on muscle activity during maximal voluntary contraction among plantar flexor synergists	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Veeger et al. 2002	Load on the shoulder in low intensity wheelchair propulsion.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Wearing et al. 2019	Do habitual foot-strike patterns in running influence functional Achilles tendon properties during gait?	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Wearing et al. 2020	Transmission-Mode Ultrasound for Monitoring the Instantaneous Elastic Modulus of the Achilles Tendon During	No tendon forces/load evaluation

2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
10	
10	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
2∓ 2⊑	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
21	
51	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
20	
3/	
38	
39	
40	
41	
<u>4</u> 2	
-⊤∠ //⊃	
45	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
10	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
59	

	Unilateral Submaximal Vertical	
	Hopping	
Werkhausen et al. 2018	Effect of training-induced	No tendon forces/load
	changes in achilles tendon	evaluation
	stiffness on muscle-tendon	
	behavior during landing	
Werkhausen et al. 2019	Distinct muscle-tendon	No tendon forces/load
	interaction during running at	evaluation
	different speeds and in different	
	loading conditions.	
Westphal et al. 2013	Load-Dependent Variations in	No dynamic exercises (No
	Knee Kinematics Measured with	exercises are used)
	Dynamic MRI	
Woodburn et al. 2013	Achilles tendon biomechanics in	The method of evaluating
	psoriatic arthritis patients with	tendon forces is not
	ultrasound proven enthesitis	specified.
Wretenberg et al. 1993 🧪	Passive knee muscle moment	No active exercises
	arms measured in vivo with MRI	
Wu et al. 2013 🧼	The musculoskeletal loading	No tendon forces/load
	profile of the thumb during	evaluation
	pipetting based on tendon	
	displacement	
Yamaguchi et al. 2002	Effect of different frequencies	Wrong language (Japanese)
	of skipping rope on elastic	
	components of muscle and	
	tendon in human triceps surae	
Yamamoto et al. 2020	Effects of Varying Plantarflexion	No tendon forces/load
	Stiffness of Ankle-Foot Orthosis	evaluation
	on Achilles Tendon and	
	Propulsion Force during Gait	
Yoshitake et al. 2004	Fluctuations in plantar flexion	No tendon forces/load
	force are reduced after	evaluation
	prolonged tendon vibration 🦷 🥒	
L	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) Checklist

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a scoping review.	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary that includes (as applicable): background, objectives, eligibility criteria, sources of evidence, charting methods, results, and conclusions that relate to the review questions and objectives.	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known. Explain why the review questions/objectives lend themselves to a scoping review approach.	4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the questions and objectives being addressed with reference to their key elements (e.g., population or participants, concepts, and context) or other relevant key elements used to conceptualize the review questions and/or objectives.	6
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists; state if and where it can be accessed (e.g., a Web address); and if available, provide registration information, including the registration number.	6
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify characteristics of the sources of evidence used as eligibility criteria (e.g., years considered, language, and publication status), and provide a rationale.	7
Information sources*	7	Describe all information sources in the search (e.g., databases with dates of coverage and contact with authors to identify additional sources), as well as the date the most recent search was executed.	6
Search	8	Present the full electronic search strategy for at least 1 database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	6
Selection of sources of evidence†	9	State the process for selecting sources of evidence (i.e., screening and eligibility) included in the scoping review.	7
Data charting process‡	10	Describe the methods of charting data from the included sources of evidence (e.g., calibrated forms or forms that have been tested by the team before their use, and whether data charting was done independently or in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	8
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought and any assumptions and simplifications made.	8
Critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence§	12	If done, provide a rationale for conducting a critical appraisal of included sources of evidence; describe the methods used and how this information was used in any data synthesis (if appropriate).	N/A
Synthesis of results	13	Describe the methods of handling and summarizing the data that were charted.	8



St. Michael's

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #	
RESULTS				
Selection of sources of evidence	14	Give numbers of sources of evidence screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally using a flow diagram.	9	
Characteristics of sources of evidence	15	For each source of evidence, present characteristics for which data were charted and provide the citations.	9	
Critical appraisal within sources of evidence	16	If done, present data on critical appraisal of included sources of evidence (see item 12).	N/A	
Results of individual sources of of evidence	17	For each included source of evidence, present the relevant data that were charted that relate to the review questions and objectives.	10	
Synthesis of results	18	Summarize and/or present the charting results as they relate to the review questions and objectives.	10	
DISCUSSION				
Summary of evidence	19	Summarize the main results (including an overview of concepts, themes, and types of evidence available), link to the review questions and objectives, and consider the relevance to key groups.	20	
Limitations	20	Discuss the limitations of the scoping review process.	31	
Conclusions	21	Provide a general interpretation of the results with respect to the review questions and objectives, as well as potential implications and/or next steps.	32	
FUNDING				
Funding	22	Describe sources of funding for the included sources of evidence, as well as sources of funding for the scoping review. Describe the role of the funders of the scoping review.	33	

JBI = Joanna Briggs Institute; PRISMA-ScR = Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews.

* Where *sources of evidence* (see second footnote) are compiled from, such as bibliographic databases, social media platforms, and Web sites.

† A more inclusive/heterogeneous term used to account for the different types of evidence or data sources (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy documents) that may be eligible in a scoping review as opposed to only studies. This is not to be confused with *information sources* (see first footnote).

[‡] The frameworks by Arksey and O'Malley (6) and Levac and colleagues (7) and the JBI guidance (4, 5) refer to the process of data extraction in a scoping review as data charting.

§ The process of systematically examining research evidence to assess its validity, results, and relevance before using it to inform a decision. This term is used for items 12 and 19 instead of "risk of bias" (which is more applicable to systematic reviews of interventions) to include and acknowledge the various sources of evidence that may be used in a scoping review (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy document).

From: Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMAScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169:467–473. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850.



BMJ Open

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and strain in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review

Journal:	BMJ Open
Manuscript ID	bmjopen-2021-057605.R3
Article Type:	Original research
Date Submitted by the Author:	12-Jul-2022
Complete List of Authors:	Escriche-Escuder, Adrian; University of Malaga, Physiotherapy Cuesta-Vargas, Antonio I; University of Malaga, Physioterapy; Queensland University of Technology, Health Casaña, Jose; University of Valencia, Physiotherapy
Primary Subject Heading :	Rehabilitation medicine
Secondary Subject Heading:	Sports and exercise medicine
Keywords:	Musculoskeletal disorders < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, SPORTS MEDICINE, REHABILITATION MEDICINE, Foot & ankle < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY, Hand & wrist < ORTHOPAEDIC & TRAUMA SURGERY





I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our <u>licence</u>.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which <u>Creative Commons</u> licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

terez oni

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies



Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and strain in dynamic rehabilitation

exercises: a scoping review

Adrian Escriche-Escuder^{1,2}, Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas^{1,2,3} José Casaña⁴

Correspondence to:

Antonio I. Cuesta-Vargas

acuesta@uma.es

Departamento de Fisioterapia, Universidad de Málaga. C/ Arquitecto Peñalosa, 3. PC: 29071.

Malaga (Spain)

Affiliations

¹Department of Physiotherapy, University of Malaga, Malaga, Spain

²Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), Malaga, Spain

³School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology,

Brisbane, Queensland, Australia

⁴Department of Physiotherapy, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Although exercise is considered the preferred approach for tendinopathies, the actual load that acts on the tendon in loading programmes is usually unknown. The objective of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises used during rehabilitation.

Design: Scoping review.

Data sources: Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar were searched from database inception to February 2021.

Eligibility criteria: Cross-sectional or longitudinal studies available in English or Spanish language were included if they focused on evaluating the forces or strain of human tendons in vivo during dynamic exercises. Studies were excluded if they did not evaluate tendon forces or strain; if they evaluated running, walking, jumping, landing or no dynamic exercise at all; and if they were conference proceedings or book chapters.

Data extraction and synthesis: Data extracted included year of publication; study setting; study population characteristics; technique used, and exercises evaluated. The studies were grouped by the types of techniques and the tendon location.

Results: Twenty-one studies were included. Fourteen studies used an indirect methodology based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles and five in the patellar tendon. Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. One study applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in the patellar tendon. Four studies measured strain using ultrasound-based techniques.

Conclusions: There is a predominant use of inverse dynamics, but force transducers, optic fibre, and estimations from strain data are also used. Although these tools may be used to

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

> make general estimates of tendon forces and strains, the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to provide immediate feedback to the individuals.

Keywords: Foot & ankle; hand & wrist; musculoskeletal disorders; rehabilitation medicine;

sports medicine

Strengths and limitations of this study

- The extensive search carried out in this review in four of the main databases allows the reader to approach a wide field of knowledge.
- This review provides a summary of the available literature on the study of forces and strain that act on the tendon during dynamic exercises.
- Grouping the assessment tools into subgroups allows an analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of each option.
- Some studies might not have been identified due to the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety of terms used.
INTRODUCTION

Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading[1]. The high incidence and prevalence of this disorder alters the ability of people to work, exercise, or perform activities of daily life, causing a great social and economic burden[2].

Current knowledge supports the need to integrate an active approach for tendinopathy, based on a conservative management that includes education, exercise (with appropriate management and modification of loads), and support interventions for pain and symptom control[2]. Thus, loading interventions with a progressive exercise programme are considered an essential part of the management of tendinopathies due to the vast evidence published in the last decades[3,2,4–6]. These approaches focus on producing an adequate stimulus for tendon adaptations and aim to increase the patients' loading capacity [3,7]. Regarding the adaptations in the tendon, research data suggests that tenocytes respond to mechanical loading by inducing anabolic and catabolic processes of matrix proteins, respectively, through a process known as mechanotransduction[7–11]. Therefore, tendon strain is an important factor for the maintenance and adaptation of the tissue.

Different exercise modalities and intensities have been applied in tendinopathy with reasonably good results[6,12–14]. Likewise, different strategies have been implemented for handling and modifying the applied loads[15–17]. However, although concepts such as repetition maximum (RM) have made it possible to parameterise and quantify the applied dose based on the subject's ability to perform an activity a specific number of repetitions, the actual load that acts on the tendon in these activities is usually unknown. In both prevention and treatment of tendinopathy, load management would benefit from a greater understanding of the loads that act on the tendon during exercises and the strain that occur under load, especially considering that there may be a "sweet spot" of tendon strain for stimulating adaptation[7].

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

In the analysis of the loads that act on the tendon, it is relevant to differentiate between physical quantities such as force and strain. Tendon force is a measure of the absolute load that acts on the tendon, while strain refers to the deformation of the tendon relative to its resting state. Strain have a different nature depending on the force that produces it. Thus, tendons are subjected to compression, tension, or shear forces in daily activities[18,19], but it is the tensile load (and the strain it produces) that plays a leading role in the function of the tendon[20]. Therefore, the evaluation of the tensile strain is especially relevant for the study of the loading programmes[21].

Regardless of the parameter evaluated, it is important to take into account a factor that makes studying in vivo tendon mechanics difficult: tendons are not uniaxial structures but are usually made up of different bundles[22]. This causes regional variations in mechanical properties, and the distribution of forces and strains throughout the tissue is not uniform[23]. Tendon forces have been calculated through in vitro studies[24], as well as have been estimated through in vivo indirect calculations based on body position, joint reaction forces, and inverse dynamic models[25–27]. Additionally, as underlined by a previous review, invasive evaluations using force transducers and optic fibre techniques have enabled the direct measurement of forces in tendons of the hand and the Achilles and patellar tendons[23].

Medical imaging techniques such as ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging have previously made it possible to directly measure strain during isometric contractions[28], walking[29,30], running[27,31], and hopping[32]. However, transducer position may affect the ultrasound measurements significantly, and it is necessary to use a rigid fixation over the tissue that may alter movement patterns[33]. Therefore, its use in some dynamic activities is still limited.

Some reviews have been previously published focused on the evaluation of tendon loads[23,33]. These reviews are not specific to dynamic rehabilitation exercises and include mainly methods developed for the study of isometric contractions[28,34] or cyclic activities such as

BMJ Open

running[35,36], cycling[25,37], or walking[38,39]. Some of these methods have been adapted to the study of dynamic exercises (such as rehabilitation exercises), but the study of this type of exercises is still scarce due to the limitations of these tools[33]. Therefore, there is still a lack of studies addressing the direct measurement of loads and the evaluation of dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

The aim of this study is to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to, directly and indirectly, estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes.

METHODS

This scoping review was undertaken following the PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guidelines[40]. This review has not been registered in PROSPERO because this platform does not currently accept registrations for scoping reviews, literature reviews or mapping reviews.

Information sources and search strategy

According to the recommendations of a recent study[41] for biomedical reviews, four databases were searched by two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) from database inception to February, 2021: Embase, PubMed (including Medline), Web of Science, and Google Scholar. The following combinations of terms were used in the first three databases: "Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]"; "Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]"; "Tendon AND wave"; "Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]". Additionally, "Tendon AND Load" was searched in Embase and PubMed. The combinations of terms "Tendon AND Force", "Tendon AND Biomechanics", "Tendon AND Properties", "Tendon AND Load", and "Tendon AND wave" were used in Google Scholar, retrieving the first 200 relevant references of each search. Detailed information on the sources of information and the combinations of terms used is available in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

Eligibility criteria

All studies that met the following eligibility criteria were included:

- (a) Cross-sectional studies published in scientific journals;
- (b) Focused on evaluating the forces and strain (tendon strain evaluation was included if it was described as a way to quantify loads) of tendons in vivo using direct or indirect techniques;
- (c) During dynamic exercises;
- (d) Available in English or Spanish language.

Conversely, those studies meeting any of these exclusion criteria were discarded: (a) Studies with evaluation of neuromuscular or joint forces that do not describe evaluating the tendon; (b) investigated tasks were running, walking, jumping, landing or other everyday tasks that are not rehabilitative exercises; (c) conference proceedings; (d) book chapters.

Study selection

All retrieved references were imported into Mendeley to later be included in Rayyan (https://www.rayyan.ai/), a systematic review support tool. Duplicates were identified and removed. The remaining references were screened by title and abstract by one author (A.E-E) to exclude clearly irrelevant articles. Finally, two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) screened the full

BMJ Open

texts of identified articles to select those that met the eligibility criteria. A third reviewer solved any disagreements (A.I.C.V).

Data extraction

Two reviewers (A.E-E, J.C.G.) assessed the full-texts of the selected studies. To obtain the information from the studies, an extraction form was used including the following data: authors and year of publication; study setting; study population; participant demographics; details of the evaluation technique; dynamic exercises evaluated; tendon forces /strain results. In this review, they were included those studies that analysed the forces and strain on the tendon in dynamic exercises, especially those commonly used in tendon rehabilitation. Dynamic analysis based on running, walking, or cycling, and batteries of exercises based on day-to-day or work activities were not taken into account.

Synthesis of results

The studies were grouped by the types of measurement techniques applied and by the tendon location, summarising the type of settings, populations and article types for each group, along with the broad findings.

Methodological quality

Current guidelines on conducting a scoping review describe the inclusion of a methodological quality analysis as not necessary[42,43]. Likewise, the lack of a standardised tool for the methodological evaluation of the heterogeneous type of studies included in this review makes methodological analysis difficult. In this context, this review focus on analysing the forces, and

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

strain evaluation methodologies used in the included studies rather than in the magnitude of the results obtained, with the lack of methodological quality analysis influencing the results and conclusions of this review to a lesser extent.

Patient and public involvement

None.

RESULTS

A total of 16571 records were identified in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. Then, duplicates were removed, remaining 8536 references. Additionally, eight records were identified by additional sources. Among these, 153 were identified as potentially eligible after reading the title and the abstract, retrieving the full-texts of all of them. After evaluating the fulfilment of the eligibility criteria, 21 studies were finally included in the current review. The Figure 1 represents the flow diagram of the selection process. A detailed list of the studies excluded in the last stage is available in the Supplementary Appendix 2.

[Figure 1 near here]

In total, 300 subjects were included in the analysed studies. Among these, 202 correspond to healthy samples, while 98 of them were open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. However, due to the similarity in the characteristics of the sample and the concurrence of most of the authors in the case of three studies[44–46] (12 subjects in each study), it is pertinent to think that they are the same participants.

Different evaluation methodologies were identified in the included reports, including inverse dynamics, force transducers, and optic fibre sensors for the evaluation of tendon forces, and ultrasound imaging techniques for strain evaluation. The tendon locations evaluated were the Achilles, quadriceps, patellar, and different tendons of the hand. Table 1 shows the groups of evaluation techniques associated with the tendon location and the references of the records that included each one. Table 2 includes expanded information about the measurement methodology.

Measurement methodology	Tendon	References
Forces		
Inverse dynamics	Achilles	[47–55]
	Patellar	[56–60]
Force transducers	Hand	Buckle [44–46]
(Buckle force transducer, S-shaped		Load cell [61,62]
force transducer, load cell)		S-shaped [63]
Optic fibre sensors	Patellar	[64]
Strain		
Ultrasound imaging	Achilles	[49,51,54]
	Quadriceps	[59]

Table 1. Forces and strain evaluation methodologies identified in the included studies

Force

Inverse dynamics

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

> Fourteen studies used an indirect evaluation methodology of tendon forces based on inverse dynamics, nine of them in the Achilles tendon and five in the patellar tendon. When inverse dynamics are used, tendon forces are estimated using different equations based on joint torque and moment arms or integrating kinematic and kinetic data in musculoskeletal models. This methodology uses kinematics, often complemented with applied external forces, to calculate net joint moments[65]. Moment arms are estimated from previous literature data or estimated specifically for each patient through imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging or ultrasound.

> Most of the included studies used motion capture systems for kinematics, while force plates were the most used device for obtaining kinetic data. Some studies used generic moment arms based on the published literature[47,58], other used previously described procedures and equations[52,55,56,60], while other estimated subject-specific moment arms based on imaging techniques[48,49]. Kinematic and kinetic data were integrated into different musculoskeletal models: three studies[50,51,57] used the Human Body Model[66], one[47] study used the OpenSim model[67], one study[48] used the FreeBody model[68], while other studies[49,53,56] implemented other codes or models.

> Most of the studies reported normalised force values by body weight (BW), obtaining the lowest values in the Achilles through the seated heel raising exercise (0.41-0.5 BW)[47,48]. The single-leg heel raising and lowering obtained values between 3-5.12 BW for the Achilles tendon[47,48,50,53]. In the patellar tendon, the results were mainly reported in Newtons (N), obtaining mean values between 2899 and 5683 N for different variants of the squat[58,60].

Force transducers

Six studies implemented force transducers for measuring tendon forces, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. The introduction of the force transducers was carried

Page 13 of 60

BMJ Open

out during surgery with local anaesthesia. Three modalities of force transducers were applied: buckle force transducer[44–46], s-shaped force transducer[63], and load cell[61,62].

The buckle force transducers technique used in three of the studies[44–46] consisted of a modified version of the method described by Dennerlein et al. (1997)[69]. This device consisted of a 9 x 16 x 4.5 mm stainless steel frame and a removable fulcrum designed to fit inside the carpal canal [44–46]. In this system, each tendon lies in semi-circular arches in the device[44–46]. These studies evaluated unresisted finger flexion and extension at different wrist angles, obtaining a range of mean values between 1.3 N - 25.5 N for the flexor digitorum profundus (range -1.6 N – 74.7 N) and 1.3 N – 12.9 N (range -2.0 N – 47.53 N) for the flexor digitorum superficialis[44–46]. The S-shaped force transducer consisted of a stainless steel frame combined with four strain gauges attached on its central beam[63]. This study obtained values between 0 and 12.0 kgf (117.7 N, obtained with the active tip pinch) in the evaluation of different finger and wrist flexion and extension exercises[63]. In the case of load cell, an apparatus consisting of three vertical rods, each terminating in a "hook" was used for the tendon force measurements[61,62]. The central hook was connected to a load cell, recording the applied forces. These studies evaluated different finger flexion and extension exercises, with and without resistance, obtaining values in a range between 1 N and 50 N (resisted finger flexion, 300 g)[61,62].

Optic fibre sensor

Dillon et al. (2008)[64] applied an optic fibre technique to detect forces in both the anterior and the posterior regions of the proximal patellar tendon. This methodology was implemented inserting two 0.5-mm optic fibre sensor perpendicular through the entire cross section of the tendon under local anaesthesia. For the purpose of the study, one sensor was placed 1-2 mm anterior to the posterior border of the tendon, while the other sensor was placed 1-2 mm

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

posterior to the anterior border of the tendon[64]. The optic fibre was attached to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity monitoring. Then, tendon forces were registered during dynamic exercises, removing the sensor at the end of all tests[64]. In this study the sensors were not calibrated to record forces in N. Therefore, the data is only available through the differential output of the fibre signal[64]. In general, higher values were found in the posterior area of the proximal tendon (0.77-1.00 V) than in the anterior area (0.21-0.42 V). The highest values were found in the one-legged squat exercise (1.00 V)[64].

Strain as a load measure

Four studies [49,51,54,59] carried out additional measurements for quantifying loads on the tendon through strain or elongation measurement. Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the medial gastrocnemius myotendinous junction (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion, using ultrasound imaging. Rees et al. (2008)[54] established and tracked the position of these anatomical sites in terms of 3D coordinates over time by using an active marker motion analysis system through a previously detailed methodology[32]. Chaudhry et al. (2015) implemented an algorithm that provides an intensity map of the ultrasound images, from which the 2D position and angular orientation of the most intense points can be established[49]. Thus, the authors used this mechanism to locate and track the myotendinous junction[49]. Elongation was calculated as the difference between the instantaneous length and the initial length. In these studies, standing eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises were assessed, both phases performed with bent and extended knee[49,54]. In the study by Rees et al., the authors found that the elongation of the tendon during the eccentric and concentric part of the exercise is similar (13.6mm and 14.9mm on average for eccentric and concentric phase, respectively)[54]. Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] also obtained similar

BMJ Open

elongation of the tendon during the eccentric (approximately 8 mm of peak mean elongation) and concentric phase (approximately 7 mm), [49]. Earp et al. (2016)[59] estimated the myotendinous unit length of the distal vastus lateralis using previous models based on joint position and individual limb lengths. This information was used to compare different ways of performing the squat, analysing the tendon lengthening pattern during the concentric and eccentric phases based on the muscle fascicle behaviour[59]. Revak et al. (2017)[51] estimated the tendon strain using the average Young modulus value (819 N/mm²) reported in previous literature[70]. First, the Achilles tendon stress (magnitude that quantifies the load per unit area of the tendon) was calculated by dividing the tendon force (estimated using inverse dynamics) by the cross-sectional area of each participant[51]. Then, the tendon strain was calculated by dividing the tendon stress by the Young modulus. In this case, ultrasound was used to measure the cross section of the tendon (not during exercises)[51]. The strain values obtained (expressed in %) were between 0.71±0.35 and 8.80±0.35, corresponding to the seated heel raising and lowering and the unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises, respectively[51].

Type of exercises

Different types of exercises were analysed in the included studies. Heel raising and lowering exercises, involving concentric or eccentric plantarflexion, are commonly applied in Achilles tendinopathy rehabilitation. Seven studies including this type of exercises[47,49–51,54,53,48]. In patellar tendon disorders, different modalities of squats are commonly prescribed, as well as exercises involving knee flexion and extension. Eight[47,50,52,56,58–60,64] and two[55,64] studies analysed these types of exercises, respectively. Another exercise commonly applied for lower limb disorders such as lunge was analysed in two studies[50,57]. Three studies analysed

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

step-up and step-down exercises or stairs climbing[47,55,64]. Finally[44–46,61–63]. Table 2 includes the type of exercises analysed in each study.

to peet teries only

Table 2. Characteristics of the included studies

Population

 30 ± 4 years;

BMI: 24.1 ±3.2

N= 8; Healthy; 6M, 2F;

Weight: 75.81 ±1.24 kg;

Height: 178.22 ±8.02 cm

Tendon

Achilles

Type of exercise

Dynamic exercises: seated single-legged heel

and double-leg heel raises done at both

raise with 15 kg placed on the thigh, single-leg

comfortable and fast speed, lunges, squats, and

Autor and

Baxter et al.

Chaudhry et

al. 2015 [49]

Gheidi et al.

2018 [50]

Rees et al.

2008 [54]

Revak et al.

2017 [51]

2021 [47]

year

		step ups and step downs from a low box (12 cm) and a high box (20 cm)	procedure. to the to the to the total sector to the total sector to the total sector total secto
N= 11; Healthy; 6M, 5F; 26.5 ±1.9 years; Weight: 65.92 ±10.5 kg; Height: 173 ±8 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: concentric (heel raising) and eccentric (heel lowering) ankle plantar flexion	Force: Inverse dynamic Schilles tendon force was calculated by dividing the externally applied ank is moment by the moment arm and normalised across subjects by body weight. The perpendicular distance to the ankle joint center from the line joining the calculated is marker and the Achilles tendon marker was taken as the moment arm after correction for skin thickness measured by ultrasound. Data analysis: Matlab code. The procedure. Strain: Tendon length was calculated as the distance between the Achilles tendon insertion and the distant ultroif the medial gastrocnemius (ultrasonography and active motion analysis system).
N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 22.1 ±1.8 years; Weight: 74.29 ±11.3 kg; Height: 177.7 ±8.4 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: unilateral and bilateral heel raising, squat, lunge	Force: Inverse dynamic: Muscle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. Moment arms Gere assed on previous literature (graphics-based model) [71]. The calculated muscle brees were used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by summing the muscle forces of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus during the stance phase of each exercise. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
N= 7; Healthy; 4M, 3F; 19-41 years;	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: eccentric heel-drop and concentric heel-raises exercises	Force: Inverse dynamica: Actilles Tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankle joint moment by the noment arm between the Achilles tendon and the ankle joint centre. A motion analysis system, and force plate data were used for the procedure. Strain: The Achilles tendon and the medial gastrocnemius myoter in the motion (tendon origin) and the tendon insertion (ultrasonography and setive motion analysis system).
N= 21; Healthy; 21M; 21.59 ±1.92 years;	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: seated bilateral heel raising and lowering, standing bilateral heel raising and	Force: Inverse dynamics: Mescle forces were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The muscle forces were then used to quantify total Achilles tendon force by

1 by copyright, including bmjopen-2021-057605 or

Evaluated parameter and egaluation methodology

Force: Inverse dynamion and the plantarflexion force was estimated as the plantarflexion momer

moment calculated with my red dynamic analysis divided by a plantarflexor moment

arm of 5 cm and normalise tendon load by participant bodyweight. Musculoskeletal

model: OpenSim. A mo and force plate data were used for the

summing the muscle forces of the medial and lateral gastrocnemius and soleus for

each exercise. Musculoskel **M**al model: Human Body Model.

bliographique de l

lowering, unilateral heel raising and lowering,

and bilateral heel raising and unilateral lowering.

			BMJ Open	by cop	Pag
				yright, incl	
				A motion analysis system and Strain was indirectly cerculage modulus of 819 N/mmorect	g force plate data were used for the procedure. Strain ed by dividing the tendon stress by the average Young rted in previous literature.
Sinclair et al. 2015 [52]	N= 18; Healthy; 18M; 23.61 ±4.17 years; Weight: 75.63 ±6.54 kg; Height: 178 ±10 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: back and front squat	Force; Inverse dynamig: The the plantar flexion mogging (MA): ATL = MPF / MA The sagittal plane angle us the A motion analysis system and	Achilles tendon load (ATL) was determined by dividir MPF) by the estimated Achilles tendon moment arm goment arm was quantified as a function of the ankle gocedure described in previous literature [72].
Weinert- Aplin et al. 2015 [53]	N= 19; Healthy; 8M, 11F; M: 28 ±3 years; Weight: 73.4 ±12 kg; Height: 176 ±10 cm F: 29 ±6 years; Weight: 58.7 ±10.2 kg; Height: 163 ±5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: barefoot and in shoes eccentric heel lowering (with knee extended and flexed)	Force; Inverse dynamic: 310 and inter-segmental monopole inverse dynamics utilisme [73]. Musculoskeletal monopole Matlab. A motion analysis system pressure measurements with	ematics and kinetics were used to calculate the angle ts at the ankle, knee and hip joints following establish wton-Euler equations of motion and segment dynam lower limb musculoskeletal model implemented in force plate data (all conditions), and an in-shoe plan m (for shod conditions) were used for the procedure.
Yeh et al. 2021 [48]	N= 18; Healthy; 11M, 7F; 29.6 ±3.8 years; Weight: 70.7 ±12.4 kg; Height: 171.8 ±7.5 cm	Achilles	Dynamic exercises: HSR and ECC protocols modification: Standing knee-straight heel drop and rise (100, 108-115, 125, 160 of %BW); seated heel drop and rise (13, 21-28, 38, 63 of %BW)	Force; Inverse dynamic torque by the participates Musculoskeletal mode were used for the procedure	illes tendon force was calculated by dividing the ankl cific effective moment arm estimated from the MRI. Body. A motion analysis system, force plate data and
Dillon et al. 2008 [64]	N= 7; Healthy; 7M; 26.4 ±3.9 years; BMI: 24.8 ±1.5	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: CONC and ECC one-leg squat (110°), CON and ECC knee extension with a 10-kg weight attached to the foot (90°), step up and step down	Force; Optic fibre: An Aptic anterior and the poster or entails the optic fibre being and the ends being attached monitoring.	bre technique was used to detect forces in both the gions of the proximal patellar tendon. The technique nserted through the entire cross section of the tendo to a transmitter-receiver unit for light intensity
Earp et al. 2016 [59]	N= 10; Healthy; 10M; 25.8 ±2.8 years; Weight: 83.8 ±9.4 kg; Height: 177 ±6 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: depth back squat lifts with 60% of 1RM at three different speeds: slowfixed- tempo, volitional-speed without a pause, and maximum-speed jump)	Force: Inverse dynamic: Page moment by the joint-derived a previously published mode were estimated by componing dynamics equations and with equations provided in previous and force plate data were us Strain: Myotendinous unit joint position and individue tendinous was calculated subtracted from the myote	ellar tendon forces were estimated by multiplying kn moment arm length of the patella; as determined us [74]. The relative ankle, knee, and hip joint moment force platform and kinematic using standard inverse segmental masses estimated using the cadaver-deri usly published literature [75]. A motion analysis syste of for the procedure. ength was estimated using previous models based limb lengths. The quadriceps tendon length of th the longitudinal length of the recorded fascicle ndinous unit length.
Frohm et al. 2007 [58]	N _{Total} = 14; Healthy; 14M N ₁ : 13; 36 ±9 years; Weight: 87 ±4 kg;	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: eccentric squats holding a weight (barbell disc) of 10 kg in decline board and horizontal surface, eccentric squat in	Force: Inverse dynamics: Pa moment by the patellar ten flexion angle. Moment arm	ellar tendon force was estimated dividing the knee on moment arm, specific for the corresponding knee were based on data for different angles reported in
				apnique de	17

Page 19 of 60	BMJ Open			bmjopen-2	
1 2 3					.021-0576
4 5 6 7		Height: 183 ±5 cm N ₂ : 11; 39 ±10 years; Weight: 87 ±5 kg; Height: 183 ±5 cm		Bromsman device in decline board and horizontal surface	previous literature [76] A notion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure. 9 9 9 5 5 5 5 5
8 9 10 11 12	Reilly and Martens 1972 [55]	N= 3; Heathy; 3M; 24, 26, and 30 years	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: leg raising, stair climbing, and deep knee bends	Force: Inverse dynamic: The calculation for the leg raise exercise was a purely mathematical formulation (based on the moment arm and angles), whereas the other cases are a combination of the mathematical formulation with experimentally determined parameter (based on the moment arm of the patellar tendon force we because from roentgenograms. A stroboscopic photography system and based on the moment are used for the procedure.
13 14 15 16 17	Richards et al. 2016 [60]	N= 18; Healthy; 9M, 9F; 20-46 years; Weight: 75.1 kg (58.3-100)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20° and 25°)	Force: Inverse dynamics: Facellar tendon force (PTF) was determined by dividing the extensor moment (MEE) the tendon moment arm (PTMA): PTF = ME / PTMA. The moment arm was quantified as a function of the knee flexion angle by fitting a 2nd order polynomial curves of the previous literature [77]. A motion analysis system and for the data were used for the procedure.
18 19 20 21 22 23	Zellmer et al. 2019 [57]	N= 25; Healthy; 25F 22.69 ±0.74 years; Weight: 61.55 ±9.74 kg; Height: 169.39 ±6.44 cm	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: forward step lunge with knee in front of toes, forward step lunge with knee behind toes	Force: Inverse dynamic Sciences were estimated from a musculoskeletal model. The calculated busces forces were used to quantify the total patellar tendon force by summing the busces forces of the rectus femoris, vastus medialis, vastus lateralis, and vastus intermedius throughout each repetition. Musculoskeletal model: Human Body Model. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the procedure.
24 25 26 27	Zwerver et al. 2007 [56]	N= 5; Healthy; 2M, 3F; 19-24 years (mean 22); Weight: 58-84 kg (mean 72); Height: 168-200 cm (mean 180)	Patellar	Dynamic exercises: single-leg decline squats at different angles of declination (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°, 20°, 25° and 30°) with and without a backpack of 10 kg	Force: Inverse dynamics: Normalised patellar tendon forces were estimated according to the following formut: $F_{todon} = M/d$, where M is the ankle moment and d is the normalised moment and the patellar tendon. The calculation of moment arms were based on previous literature [78]. A motion analysis system and force plate data were used for the proceeding.
28 29 30 31	Edsfeldt et al. 2015 [45]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 (32-52) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted fingers extension and flexion of all fingers, unresisted isolated flexion of FDP, unresisted isolated flexion of FDS	Force: Buckle force transducer: After the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal incident, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force transducers were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surger with local anaesthesia injected at the incision site.
32 33 34 35	Kursa et al. 2006 [44]	 N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years 	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension at different angles (MP extension, 15° MP, 45° MP, 60° MP, MP flexion)	Force: Buckle force traesducer: After the transverse carpal ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index finger were isolated, and buckle force to ansducers were mounted on each. The experiment was conducted during surgery with local anaesthesia injected at the incision site.
36 37 38 39	Nikanjam et al. 2007 [46]	N= 12; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 4M, 8F; 42 ±10 years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and extension	Force: Buckle force transducer: After the flexor retinaculum ligament was released with a longitudinal incision, the FDP and FDS tendons of the index were isolated and buckle force transducers were placed around each. The experiment was conducted during open carpal tunnel regease surgery with local anaesthesia.
40 41 42 43			For pee	r review only - http://bmiopen.hmi.com/site/ak	aphique 18

			BMJ Open	bmjopen-2021-0576 J by copyright, inclu	Page 20
Powell and Trail 2004 [62]	N= 33; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 54 (24-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: unresisted finger flexion and resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g)	Force: Load cell: An apparate consisting of three vertical roo "hook' was used for the ters on force measurements. The ce to a load cell. During routing carpal tunnel decompression un infiltration, tendon force measurements were carried out on (FDS of the ring finger, market finger or index finger; FDP of the finger; FPL of the thum (2.2)	ds, each terminating in a entral hook is connected nder local anaesthetic each exposed tendon the ring finger or little
Powell and Trail 2009 [61]	N= 24; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 12M, 12F; 57 (23-86) years	Hand	Dynamic exercises: resisted finger flexion (pulley with weights 100-500g) and resisted finger extension (rubber band)	Force: Load cell: An appearing of three vertical roo "hook' was used for the endon force measurements. The ce to a load cell. During room carpal tunnel decompression us infiltration, tendon force measurements were carried out on (FDS of the ring finger, and be finger or index finger).	ds, each terminating in a entral hook is connected nder local anaesthetic neach exposed tendon
Schuind et al. 1992 [63]	N= 5; open carpal tunnel release surgery patients; 3M, 2F	Hand	Dynamic exercises: wrist and fingers flexion and extension	Force: S-shaped force and source: S-shaped force transducer flexor pollicis longus and EDS and FDP tendons of the index f operated on for treatman of carpal tunnel syndrome. The e during open carpal tung operates surgery with local anaesth	s were applied to the inger in five patients xperiment was conducted esia.

CONC: Concentric; ECC: Eccentric; FDP: Flexor digitorum profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficialis; FPI: Flexor digitorum gegaes surgery with local anaest Forces; HSR: Heavy Slow Resistance; M: Male; MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imaging; MTI: Myotendinous junction; F: Female; %W: Bercentage of body weight and similar rechnologies. A training and similar rechnologies. For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml CONC: Concentric; ECC: Eccentric; FDP: Flexor digitorum profundus; FDS: Flexor digitorum superficialis; FPL: Flexor digitorum amount for the section and the s

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to review the techniques that have been applied in vivo to estimate the forces and strain that act on the human tendon in dynamic exercises commonly used during rehabilitation processes. The main finding of this review is that most studies used an indirect method such as inverse dynamics, while there is a lack of direct measurements due to the difficulties and limitations in its application.

Indirect force measurement: inverse dynamics

Most of the studies included in this review used inverse dynamics as an indirect evaluation of tendon forces. This methodology uses measured kinematics and external forces to indirectly calculate net joint torques and forces in a body segment model[79]. These calculations are usually based on the joint moments produced by the muscle or muscles to which the tendon is inserted. Then, the biomechanical study is based on a single agonist force vector in line with the tendon direction and, in some cases, on a single antagonist force vector in the opposite direction[80]. Although this method is widely used, it is suggested that the results obtained differ from the actual ones due to incorrect modelling assumptions and measurement errors[79]. For example, classical inverse dynamics assumes idealised pin joints and the existence of rigid body segments, and that does not match reality[79]. Kinetics are introduced in the procedures with the intention of limiting these errors. However, due to the aforementioned difficulties of kinematics measurements, the kinematics and kinetics data are not always consistent. This creates a new problem due to the concurrency of data that does not match, forcing part of the data to be discarded[79].

There are different procedures based on inverse dynamics for the calculation of forces. Thus, although most of the included studies used similar kinematics (motion capture devices) and kinetics (force plates) assessment systems, these data were processed in different ways. Some

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

studies integrated these data in musculoskeletal models such as Human Body Model[50,51,57], OpenSim[47], FreeBody[48], among others[49,53,56]. These models make more or less precise assumptions that allow us to transform the kinematics and kinetics data into net torques of body segments. Likewise, models such as the Human Body Model made an additional indirect estimate, first calculating the muscle forces and assuming that the forces in the tendon will be equal to the sum of the muscle forces of the agonist muscle group[50,51,57]. This fact could imply an additional error in the estimation since there may be differences between the agonist muscle group and tendon forces, and a potential error is made when only some of the muscles involved in the movement are taken into account[80]. Different methods were used for estimating the moment arms. Some musculoskeletal models used previous estimations of the moment arms, with some differences both in the models and in the equations used[49,53,56]. Some studies performed subject-specific calculations based on imaging techniques to minimise error [48,49], and others studies used data from previously published literature (e.g. 5 cm ankle moment arm)[47,58]. Alternatively, some studies used an intermediate method based on the use of new or previously published equations together with specific data from each patient[52,55,56,60]. Thus, the results obtained may be influenced by the specific limitations of each methodology. Using generic moment arms based on normative data ignores anatomical differences between individuals[80,81], and, sometimes, this value is not scaled to the rest of the anatomical structures[80,82]. Previous studies also suggest that the moment arm cannot be estimated from easily measured anthropometric characteristics or joint size differences, supporting the use of imaging techniques[83]. In cases where the moment arm is directly measured, it should be noted that the values in a resting position may not correspond to the values in another position or to those that would be obtained with the addition of muscle contraction[80,82]. The chosen method is relevant because, according to previous studies, there could be differences of up to 40-50% depending on the technique used (for the patellar tendon moment arm length at a

BMJ Open

Despite all the above mentioned limitations, modelling approaches have been widely employed to estimate tendon forces[65]. This may be due to its main advantage: it is a noninvasive procedure.

Direct force measurement

In the last decades, an attempt has been made to develop direct measurement techniques. However, this approach is limited due to the need to insert sensors into the body. This characteristic makes it a highly invasive procedure, making its use in healthy subjects difficult to justify.[33] Sensors must be biotolerable (for short-term measurements) and biocompatible (for long-term use), as well as easy to implant[23]. Additionally, devices should avoid damaging body tissues and alter the tendon and joint mobility and neuromuscular function[23]. It has been suggested that these sensors should also be flexible and allow wireless data transmission to facilitate their clinical use[33]. The transducers are implanted with an incision of several centimetres. Thus, the wound usually impedes normal activity for 2-3 weeks and sometimes makes it difficult to measure activity during the same session in which the sensor is inserted[84]. Additionally, potential complications such as local pain or infections have limited the use of this methodology to a restricted research population[84].

Force transducers

Buckle transducers were one of the first devices to show a successful ability to directly assess these forces in various activities such as walking, running, cycling or jumping[37,85–87]. This kind of transducer consists of a metallic buckle with strain gages through which a tendon is

BMJ Open

looped[23]. When a tensile force is applied to the tendon, the buckle deforms and produces a voltage output proportional to the force[23]. Due to their configuration, these buckle transducers enable the measurement of force of the entire cross-section of the tendon[23]. This is an advantage over other implantable transducers (e.g., optic fibre) that only record forces in a specific area, since it is known that the load may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[23,88–90]. However, the placement of the tendon through the buckle shortens the tendon and can alter its natural movement[23]. Additionally, small changes in the placement may cause measurement differences, so it is recommended to carry out the calibration of these transducers within the specific tissue under study, and, once the sensor is placed and calibrated, it should be avoided to modify or remove it until the measurement is finished[23].

In this review, six studies introduced force transducers for measuring tendon forces during wrist and fingers flexion and extension rehabilitation exercises, all of them in open carpal tunnel release surgery patients. Taking advantage of surgery to place the sensor makes it possible to compensate for part of the invasiveness that this procedure entails. However, reducing its application to this context limits the contexts in which it may be applied. In this regard, the development of biodegradable sensors that are reabsorbed after a certain time could increase the situations where their application can be justified, since the avoidance of a second surgery to remove the sensor would reduce some drawbacks of the technique[91]. In all cases, the procedure was carried out after the application of anaesthesia, which together with the surgical procedure itself could have some impact on the measurement results.

Optic fibre sensor

The use of optic fibre sensors appeared as a smaller solution compared to previous force transducers[92]. This kind of sensor is inserted perpendicular through the tendon. When a

BMJ Open

longitudinal tension is produced in the tendon, negative transverse tension is produced that squeezes the optical fibre[23,93]. The functioning of the optical fibre sensor is based on the amplitude modulation of the transmitted light that occurs when the optical fibre changes its shape due to the forces acting on it[23,93]. These differences can be seen in the receiver, which provides a voltage output proportional to the intensity of the light detected and therefore related to the tendon tensile strain[23,93]. This effect can be achieved using two types of sensors: intensity-based and spectral-based optical sensors[84].

During the last decades, different devices based on optic fibre have been developed and applied to directly measure tendon forces in vivo in humans during isometric contractions[94] and during dynamic activities such as walking or jumping[39,84,92,95,96]. These sensors have evolved from the earliest models (approximately 500µm)[97] to modern spectral-based models incorporating fibre Bragg gratings and micro-fabricated stainless steel housings (approximately 200µm)[84]. Modern optic fibre sensors offer some advantages such as small size, high sensitivity, fast response time, large dynamic range, and insensitivity to electromagnetic interference[84]. However, the main limitation of this measurement technique is still the invasiveness of the procedure for introducing and removing the sensor[84]. The procedure is usually performed under local anaesthesia, causing a little wound in the tissue that can interfere with movement[84]. Due to its smaller size, compared to the buckle transducer, the insertion process, the wound, and the recovery process are of lesser magnitude. Thus, its use in volunteers is more easily justified[23]. Also, the possible interference of the sensor during movement and changes in the natural shape of the tendon are reduced compared to other transducers, although still existing[23,92].

This technique has other limitations to take into account. Previous studies have found that skin movement, cable migration, and loading rate may influence the accuracy of the sensor[97].

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

Therefore, this technology may be considered an appropriate option for in vivo evaluation as long as these artefacts can be minimised[84].

Furthermore, this kind of sensor records forces in a specific area of the tendon, and this could be a source of differences between measurements due to the fact that force may not be uniformly transmitted throughout the entire tendon section[23,88–90]. This phenomenon could be related to the relative sliding between the different tendon fascicles[88,89].

The lack of studies using this technique in dynamic exercise could be because of the current limitations that, although lower than those of other invasive techniques, still represent a significant barrier to its implementation. Thus, further study of the matter is encouraged.

Strain

Tenocytes are sensitive to strain[7,98,99,21]. Thus, it has been suggested that it is the strain magnitude experienced by tendon fibres, not force, that is more directly related to the positive or negative effects triggered in the tissue[7,21,98]. Previous studies have shown that tendon strain during activities such as walking or running is between 4.0-4.3% and 4.6-9.0%, respectively. The only study that reported the percentage of tendon strain in this review found a strain between 0.71% (seated heel raising and lowering) and 8.80% (standing unilateral heel raising and lowering exercises)[51].

The use of imaging techniques (e.g., 2D[28,100,101] and 3D[102] ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging[100]) has been previously reported, especially during isometric contractions, but most of these methods have not been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises.

BMJ Open

Tendon are viscoelastic, and their mechanical and viscoelastic properties of the tendon may imply a time-dependent behaviour of the tendon when a force is applied to it[11,59]. However, the hysteresis of tendons has been reported to be approximately 10%[103], and the loading rate effect does not seem to be decisive in the range of loading rates applied during physical activities[104,105]. Furthermore, current strain evaluation techniques (ultrasoundbased methods) seem not to be sensitive enough to detect the small effects that this range of loading rates produces[106]. To further minimise these loading rate effects, the application of conditioning contractions may allow a state of certain stability and reliability to be reached at the moment of the application of forces for its evaluation[107,108]. However, this is not done or at least described in most studies.

In this review, four studies[49,51,54,59] included a tendon elongation measurement for assessing tendon loads. Revak et al. (2017)[51] calculated the tendon strain by dividing the tendon stress (previously obtained) by the average Young modulus reported (819 N/mm²)[51]. This methodology again requires making various assumptions to estimate the tendon strain through the tendon stress, which in turn has been calculated using the tendon force value calculated indirectly using inverse dynamics. Therefore, this indirect method could accumulate the error of all the intermediate steps, some of which have been discussed in previous sections. Additionally, it also does not seem justified to assume a constant Young modulus for different individuals. Earp et al. (2016)[59] estimated the myotendinous unit length of the distal vastus lateralis using derived models based on joint position and individual limb lengths and calculated tendon lengthening based on muscle fascicle behaviour, a method that has been found to be reliable[109,110]. Differently, Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49] calculated the Achilles tendon length as the distance between the tendon origin and the tendon insertion [54]. Thus, they tracked the position of these anatomical sites by using an active marker motion analysis system [54]. To do this, it is necessary to define what is the position for the initial length, also known as zero-length. Although the neutral position of

BMJ Open

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

the joint is often used as zero-length position [49], it should be noted that this position of the ankle seems to be already associated with longitudinal tendon strain, and the zero-length has been previously related to a different position (knee angle of 180° and ankle angle of 110°)[111]. Thus, the joint position corresponding to the zero-length it is not always precisely known[23]. It is important to normalise this parameter to allow comparison between studies, for example, using a standardised position of the joint[23]. In these cases, we usually speak of "relative strain" with respect to that previously determined position. While this methodology may be useful when comparing the peak strains of a tendon under different exercises within a particular study or with studies that use that same position, this methodology does not allow for comparing these results with those of in vitro studies, where the position of zero-length is precisely determined[23]. The use of a force sensor in conjunction with ultrasonography could help determine the zero-length in each subject[23]. Other limitations of the approach used in these studies are the skin movements and the curved path of the tendon. Previous evidence have found that considering the Achilles tendon as a straight line between gastrocnemius medialis myotendinous junction and calcaneus results in an underestimation of the tendon length and carries errors of up to 78% of the length changes[112]. In this regard, Kharazi et al. (2021)[113] developed a new approach for Achilles strain in vivo measurement, which considers the tendon curve-path shape using skin reflective markers.

Imaging techniques

Ultrasonography as a strain measurement technique has some important advantages over other methods: it is non-invasive, does not expose the volunteers to radiation, and it is relatively affordable[33]. The absence of a sensor inside the body that can hinder mobility, together with the non-use of anaesthesia, allow natural movements[23]. Additionally, ultrasonography enables the differentiation of muscle and tendon interfaces, enabling muscle Page 29 of 60

BMJ Open

and tendon strains to be independently measured [33]. Basically, two approaches could be used to analyse strain using imaging techniques: on the one hand, displacement measurements between the tendon origin and insertion anatomical sites (myotendinous junction), approach used in this review by Rees et al. (2008)[54] and Chaudhry et al. (2015)[49]. The tracking of these anatomical sites is done through different methods. Initially, this task was performed through manual marking of the anatomical sites in successive ultrasound frames throughout the movement[49]. However, this methodology was excessively laborious, so it was limited to only a few frames[49]. For this reason, different algorithms, usually based on cross-correlation, have been developed to automate the process[49,114– 116]. In the Achilles tendon, for example, insertion is usually tracked using a marker placed on the calcaneus, while for the myotendinous junction, active marker motion analysis and ultrasound systems have been combined [49,54]. On the other hand, displacement measurements between known points within the tendon mid-substance, known as speckletracking, can be used[33]. The speckle-tracking technique allows unique speckle patterns of the tendon to be identified and tracked during movement[117]. The regional strain measurement approach is an advantage over implantable sensors that only enable point-topoint strain assessment. The choice of approach is important since, taking into account that the strain distribution is not consistent throughout the tendon, the result may also be different. While the first option provides the value of the global strain across the entire length of the tendon, the second one offers a measure of a specific region. Some studies have reported that the displacement of the proximal insertion point may be a representative measurement of the total tendon elongation during contraction, but more recent works have shown the limitations of this approach [80]. Thus, both methods may be adequate as long as they are properly reported, only being possible to compare results from the same approach[23]. Likewise, the choice of the anatomical site used as a tracking landmark is relevant. Thus, previous studies have shown that small variations (e.g., tibial tuberosity or

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open

plateau) result in significant differences in the values obtained, both in tendon strain itself and in other calculated mechanical properties (e.g., tendon stiffness)[118]. Numerous limitations of imaging techniques have been widely reported[23,33,80]. It is worth emphasising that most of these limitations are already present in measurements during isometric contractions, making progress to the measurement of dynamic exercises even more challenging. First, the ultrasound probe placement and orientation may affect the measurements, and any motion produced during the body segment movement can be a source of error[33,80,119]. In the case of the study of isometric contractions, researchers have tried to overcome this limitation by means of rigid fixation with straps. However, this fixation is difficult to achieve during dynamic exercises and, especially during great joint angle excursions, it is difficult to maintain a stable image of the tendon or myotendinous junction. Additionally, the fixation can interfere with the movement pattern[33]. The type of exercises that can be evaluated is also limited by the fact that, except in the case of using wireless ultrasound probes, the subject must always be positioned a short distance from the ultrasound cart[33,80]. Second, the ultrasound image has a spatial limitation directly related to the length of the ultrasound transducer, especially affecting the measurement of long tendons[80]. This limitation could be obviated by scanning only the myotendinous junction [80]. However, this requires assuming that the movement of the distal structures to which the tendons attach is negligible, and this does not appear to be the case even with isometric contractions[80]. For this reason, it is recommended to scan both tendon ends, using longer transducers when necessary[80]. Third, another of the key limitations of ultrasonography is due to the use of 2D images to assess a tendon deformation that occurs in three dimensions[33,80]. While the measurement is done through the identification and tracking of anatomical sites in planar 2D images, the reality of threedimensional movement means that tendon bulging, rotation, or twisting can occur, and this fact may introduce a systematic over- or underestimation of tendon length[33,80]. This limitation has been partially addressed with new 3D ultrasound techniques by capturing

For peer review only - http://bmjopen.bmj.com/site/about/guidelines.xhtml

BMJ Open

images in multiple static postures (e.g., Freehand 3D[102]). In this technique, the ultrasound transducer is moved along the tendon, and a 3D image is created by reconstruction of the captured 2D images. However, this technology requires remaining in a static position for relatively long periods of time to scan the different planes, so its use is limited to resting states or for sustained static contractions[33,80]. Some strategies have been suggested to minimise these limitations as much as possible. Some of the most relevant are available in Table 1 of the article by Seynnes et al. (2015)[80].

Other techniques

During the review process, other techniques were identified. However, its current application is limited to isometric contractions, exercises such as walking, running, or cycling, or controlled contractions in a laboratory setting.

Magnetic resonance imaging

Some authors have used MRI as an imaging technique to measure tendon strain. Finni et al. (2008)[120] in knee extension-flexion cycles against calibrated resistance. Sheehan and Drace (2020)[100] used phase-contrast cine MRI for evaluating the patellar tendon strain during active knee extensions. In both cases, the reference zero length was identified by analysing MRI images of the tendon in a movie loop of film, noting the joint angle at which the tendon was slack[100,120]. This technique allows a three-dimensional analysis, reducing some of the limitations of ultrasonography. However, the nature of the MRI technique makes it difficult to evaluate exercises that require greater mobility.

Stretchable strain sensors

Novel stretchable strain sensors, based on soft elastomers and nanomaterials, are showing great potential for directly measuring musculoskeletal soft tissue strains in vivo[33]. These sensors provide direct strain measurement (not force as most of the other available

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

transducers), so they can offer very representative values of the tendon strain. On the other hand, these strain sensors share many of their limitations with other implantable devices and must be biotolerable, biocompatible, and easy to implant[33].

Vibrational behaviour

A proof-of-concept study was identified with a novel technique for evaluating tendon force during walking, running, and unilateral and bilateral heel raising[121]. Tendon loads were measured using a vibration motor and an accelerometer placed 2 cm apart from each other on the skin superior to the Achilles tendon. The systems consist of exciting a vibration motor and collecting the signals influenced by the tendon force in the accelerometer[121]. It is suggested that a tendon on which low force is applied responds to vibration with a steeper rising and falling edge, attributable to faster energy absorption and dissipation[121]. However, a tendon on which high force is applied responds with a progressive rising and falling edge, attributable to slower energy absorption and dissipation[121].

Another novel non-invasive approach is being developed for in vivo evaluation by tracking vibrational behaviour[122]. In this case, the direct relationship between axial stress and the speed of shear wave propagation is exploited through tensiometers consisting of a piezo-actuated tapper and two skin-mounted miniature accelerometers[122].

Although these techniques have some limitations such as artefacts caused by noise on the skin caused by movement of the limbs[121], their non-invasiveness gives them an advantage over other evaluation methods.

Limitations

BMJ Open

The main limitation of this study is the difficulty in tracking the literature because of the variety and heterogeneity of terms used. This limitation has been minimised through a search including broad terms, but some studies might still not have been identified.

Conclusions

Different evaluation methodologies are used for quantifying tendon forces and strain. However, only a minority of these techniques have been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises. There is a predominant use of modelling and inverse dynamics, but force transducers and optic fibre sensors have also been used for measuring tendon force. Ultrasound imaging is used for measuring tendon strain. Direct force or strain measurement techniques provide significant data, but their current limitations and high invasiveness reduce their application context. Indirect force estimation through inverse dynamics is not invasive but requires making controversial assumptions that may limit its accuracy. Assessing strain using imaging techniques, as long as its limitations are controlled, is a non-invasive method to assess a direct response to the loads acting on the tendon. There are other potentially applicable methods, but they have not yet been transferred to the study of dynamic rehabilitation exercises, possibly due to the difficulty of overcoming some of their limitations. Although the methods collected in this review allow direct or indirect estimation of the forces and strain applied to the tendon during dynamic exercises, their very nature makes their applicability difficult in a clinical context. Research can use these tools to make general estimates of forces and strain in dynamic exercises, but the invasiveness of some methods and the loss of immediacy of others make it difficult to study each patient individually and provide immediate feedback to the individuals measured. The field should continue to be developed,

looking for precise, direct techniques with less measurement error and less invasiveness.

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Contributors

All authors contributed to the study design. AEE and AICV searched and screened the articles, with assistance from JC. All authors contributed to data analysis and interpretation of the data. AEE drafted the manuscript, AICV and JC revised it critically, and all authors contributed to revisions and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work is part of a government-funded project supported by the University Teaching Training Programme (FPU) of the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of Spain. ati Grant number: FPU17/00161.

Competing interests

None.

Ethics approval

Not required.

Data availability statement

No additional data available.

REFERENCES

- 1 Scott A, Squier K, Alfredson H, et al. ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. Br J Sports Med 2020;54:260-2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885
- Cardoso TB, Pizzari T, Kinsella R, et al. Current trends in tendinopathy management. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol Published Online First: 8 March 2019. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001
- Docking SI, Cook J. How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2019;19:300-10.
- Mellor R, Bennell K, Grimaldi A, et al. Education plus exercise versus corticosteroid injection use versus a wait and see approach on global outcome and pain from gluteal tendinopathy: prospective, single blinded, randomised clinical trial. BMJ 2018;361:k1662. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1662

ว		
2		
3		
4		
5		
6		
7		
8		
0		
9		
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		
15		
10		
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
20		
29		
30		
31		
32		
33		
34		
35		
36		
27		
57		
38		
39		
40		
41		
42		
43		
44		
45		
45		
46		
47		
48		
49		
50		
51		
51		
52		
53		
54		
55		
56		
57		
58		
50		
59		
60		

- 5 Beyer R, Kongsgaard M, Hougs Kjær B, *et al.* Heavy Slow Resistance Versus Eccentric Training as Treatment for Achilles Tendinopathy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Sports Med* 2015;**43**:1704–11. doi:10.1177/0363546515584760
- 6 Kongsgaard M, Kovanen V, Aagaard P, et al. Corticosteroid injections, eccentric decline squat training and heavy slow resistance training in patellar tendinopathy. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009;19:790–802. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.00949.x
- 7 Pizzolato C, Lloyd DG, Zheng MH, et al. Finding the sweet spot via personalised Achilles tendon training: the future is within reach. Br J Sports Med 2019;53:11–2. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099020
- 8 Wang JH-C. Mechanobiology of tendon. *J Biomech* 2006;**39**:1563–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.05.011
- 9 Chiquet M, Renedo AS, Huber F, *et al.* How do fibroblasts translate mechanical signals into changes in extracellular matrix production? *Matrix Biol J Int Soc Matrix Biol* 2003;22:73–80. doi:10.1016/s0945-053x(03)00004-0
- 10 Wang T, Lin Z, Day RE, *et al.* Programmable mechanical stimulation influences tendon homeostasis in a bioreactor system. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2013;**110**:1495–507. doi:10.1002/bit.24809
- 11 Arampatzis A, Karamanidis K, Albracht K. Adaptational responses of the human Achilles tendon by modulation of the applied cyclic strain magnitude. *J Exp Biol* 2007;**210**:2743–53. doi:10.1242/jeb.003814
- 12 Rio E, van Ark M, Docking S, *et al.* Isometric Contractions Are More Analgesic Than Isotonic Contractions for Patellar Tendon Pain: An In-Season Randomized Clinical Trial. *Clin J Sport Med* 2017;**27**:253–9. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000364
- 13 Alfredson H, Pietilä T, Jonsson P, *et al.* Heavy-load eccentric calf muscle training for the treatment of chronic Achilles tendinosis. *Am J Sports Med* 1998;**26**:360–6. doi:10.1177/03635465980260030301
- 14 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Thomeé P, *et al.* Eccentric overload training for patients with chronic Achilles tendon pain--a randomised controlled study with reliability testing of the evaluation methods. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2001;**11**:197–206.
- 15 Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, Eriksson BI, et al. Continued sports activity, using a painmonitoring model, during rehabilitation in patients with Achilles tendinopathy: a randomized controlled study. Am J Sports Med 2007;35:897–906. doi:10.1177/0363546506298279
- 16 Malliaras P, Cook J, Purdam C, *et al.* Patellar Tendinopathy: Clinical Diagnosis, Load Management, and Advice for Challenging Case Presentations. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 2015;**45**:887–98. doi:10.2519/jospt.2015.5987
- 17 Mascaró A, Cos MÀ, Morral A, *et al.* Load management in tendinopathy: Clinical progression for Achilles and patellar tendinopathy. *Apunts Med Esport* 2018;**53**:19–27. doi:10.1016/j.apunts.2017.11.005

18 Cook JL, Purdam C. Is compressive load a factor in the development of tendinopathy? *Br J Sports Med* 2012;**46**:163–8. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2011-090414

- 19 Cook JL, Purdam CR. Is tendon pathology a continuum? A pathology model to explain the clinical presentation of load-induced tendinopathy. *Br J Sports Med* 2009;**43**:409–16. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.051193
- 20 Wang JH-C, Guo Q, Li B. Tendon biomechanics and mechanobiology--a minireview of basic concepts and recent advancements. J Hand Ther Off J Am Soc Hand Ther 2012;25:133–40; quiz 141. doi:10.1016/j.jht.2011.07.004
- 21 Huang L, Korhonen RK, Turunen MJ, *et al.* Experimental mechanical strain measurement of tissues. *PeerJ* 2019;**7**:e6545. doi:10.7717/peerj.6545
- 22 Kannus P. Structure of the tendon connective tissue. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2000;**10**:312–20. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0838.2000.010006312.x
- 23 Fleming BC, Beynnon BD. In vivo measurement of ligament/tendon strains and forces: a review. Ann Biomed Eng 2004;**32**:318–28. doi:10.1023/b:abme.0000017542.75080.86
- 24 Glos DL, Butler DL, Grood ES, *et al.* In vitro evaluation of an implantable force transducer (IFT) in a patellar tendon model. *J Biomech Eng* 1993;**115**:335–43. doi:10.1115/1.2895495
- 25 Dick TJM, Arnold AS, Wakeling JM. Quantifying Achilles tendon force in vivo from ultrasound images. *J Biomech* 2016;**49**:3200–7. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.036
- 26 Dumas R, Barré A, Moissenet F, et al. Can a reduction approach predict reliable joint contact and musculo-tendon forces? J Biomech 2019;95:109329. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.109329
- 27 Farris DJ, Buckeridge E, Trewartha G, et al. The effects of orthotic heel lifts on Achilles tendon force and strain during running. J Appl Biomech 2012;28:511–9. doi:10.1123/jab.28.5.511
- 28 Kongsgaard M, Aagaard P, Roikjaer S, et al. Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats. Clin Biomech Bristol Avon 2006;21:748–54. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.03.004
- 29 Joseph CW, Bradshaw EJ, Furness TP, *et al.* Early changes in Achilles tendon behaviour in vivo following downhill backwards walking. *J Sports Sci* 2016;**34**:1215–21. doi:10.1080/02640414.2015.1102955
- 30 Franz JR, Slane LC, Rasske K, *et al.* Non-uniform in vivo deformations of the human Achilles tendon during walking. *Gait Posture* 2015;**41**:192–7. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.10.001
- 31 Lichtwark GA, Bougoulias K, Wilson AM. Muscle fascicle and series elastic element length changes along the length of the human gastrocnemius during walking and running. *J Biomech* 2007;**40**:157–64. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.10.035
- 32 Lichtwark GA, Wilson AM. In vivo mechanical properties of the human Achilles tendon during one-legged hopping. *J Exp Biol* 2005;**208**:4715–25. doi:10.1242/jeb.01950

2	
3	
4	
5	
2	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
10	
11	
12	
13	
11	
1-	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
17	
20	
21	
22	
23	
21	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
20	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
24	
54	
35	
36	
37	
30	
20	
39	
40	
41	
42	
/3	
40	
44	
45	
46	
47	
18	
40	
49	
50	
51	
52	
52	
22	
54	
55	
56	
57	
50	
50	
59	
60	

- 33 Zhang Q, Adam NC, Hosseini Nasab SH, et al. Techniques for In Vivo Measurement of Ligament and Tendon Strain: A Review. Ann Biomed Eng 2021;49:7–28. doi:10.1007/s10439-020-02635-5
- 34 Bull AMJ, Reilly P, Wallace AL, *et al.* A novel technique to measure active tendon forces: application to the subscapularis tendon. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA* 2005;**13**:145–50. doi:10.1007/s00167-004-0556-y
- 35 Zhang X, Deng L, Yang Y, *et al.* Acute shoe effects on Achilles tendon loading in runners with habitual rearfoot strike pattern. *Gait Posture* 2020;**82**:322–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.09.027
- 36 Dixon SJ, Kerwin DG. The Influence of Heel Lift Manipulation on Achilles Tendon Loading in Running. *J Appl Biomech* 1998;**14**:374–89. doi:10.1123/jab.14.4.374
- 37 Gregor RJ, Komi PV, Järvinen M. Achilles tendon forces during cycling. *Int J Sports Med* 1987;**8 Suppl 1**:9–14. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025698
- 38 Ebrahimi A, Loegering IF, Martin JA, *et al*. Achilles tendon loading is lower in older adults than young adults across a broad range of walking speeds. *Exp Gerontol* 2020;**137**:110966. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2020.110966
- 39 Fröberg A, Komi P, Ishikawa M, *et al.* Force in the achilles tendon during walking with ankle foot orthosis. *Am J Sports Med* 2009;**37**:1200–7. doi:10.1177/0363546508330126
- 40 Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, *et al.* PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Ann Intern Med* 2018;**169**:467–73. doi:10.7326/M18-0850
- 41 Bramer WM, Rethlefsen ML, Kleijnen J, *et al.* Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. *Syst Rev* 2017;**6**:245. doi:10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y
- 42 Khalil H, Peters M, Godfrey CM, *et al.* An Evidence-Based Approach to Scoping Reviews. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs* 2016;**13**:118–23. doi:10.1111/wvn.12144
- 43 Peters MDJ, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, *et al.* Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *Int J Evid Based Healthc* 2015;**13**:141–6. doi:10.1097/XEB.000000000000000000
- 44 Kursa K, Lattanza L, Diao E, *et al.* In vivo flexor tendon forces increase with finger and wrist flexion during active finger flexion and extension. *J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc* 2006;**24**. doi:10.1002/jor.20110
- 45 Edsfeldt S, Rempel D, Kursa K, *et al.* In vivo flexor tendon forces generated during different rehabilitation exercises. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2015;**40**:705–10. doi:10.1177/1753193415591491
- 46 Nikanjam M, Kursa K, Lehman S, *et al.* Finger flexor motor control patterns during active flexion: an in vivo tendon force study. *Hum Mov Sci* 2007;**26**:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2006.09.002
- 47 Baxter JR, Corrigan P, Hullfish TJ, *et al.* Exercise Progression to Incrementally Load the Achilles Tendon. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2021;**53**:124–30. doi:10.1249/MSS.0000000002459

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

48 Yeh C-H, Calder JD, Antflick J, *et al.* Maximum dorsiflexion increases Achilles tendon force during exercise for midportion Achilles tendinopathy. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* Published Online First: 16 April 2021. doi:10.1111/sms.13974

- 49 Chaudhry S, Morrissey D, Woledge RC, *et al.* Eccentric and concentric loading of the triceps surae: an in vivo study of dynamic muscle and tendon biomechanical parameters. *J Appl Biomech* 2015;**31**:69–78. doi:10.1123/jab.213-0284
- 50 Gheidi N, Kernozek TW, Willson JD, *et al.* Achilles tendon loading during weight bearing exercises. *Phys Ther Sport* 2018;**32**:260–8. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.05.007
- 51 Revak A, Diers K, Kernozek TW, *et al.* Achilles Tendon Loading During Heel-Raising and -Lowering Exercises. *J Athl Train* 2017;**52**:89–96. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.04
- 52 Sinclair J, Edmundson C, Atkins S, *et al.* The effect of front and back squat techniques on peak loads experienced by the Achilles tendon. *Balt J Health Phys Act* 2015;**07**. doi:10.29359/BJHPA.07.3.01
- 53 Weinert-Aplin RA, Bull AMJ, McGregor AH. Investigating the Effects of Knee Flexion during the Eccentric Heel-Drop Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med* 2015;**14**:459–65.
- 54 Rees JD, Lichtwark GA, Wolman RL, *et al.* The mechanism for efficacy of eccentric loading in Achilles tendon injury; an in vivo study in humans. *Rheumatol Oxf Engl* 2008;**47**:1493–7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken262
- 55 Reilly DT, Martens M. Experimental Analysis of the Quadriceps Muscle Force and Patello-Femoral Joint Reaction Force for Various Activities. Acta Orthop Scand 1972;43:126–37. doi:10.3109/17453677208991251
- 56 Zwerver J, Bredeweg SW, Hof AL. Biomechanical analysis of the single-leg decline squat. *Br* J Sports Med 2007;**41**:264–8. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032482
- 57 Zellmer M, Kernozek TW, Gheidi N, *et al.* Patellar tendon stress between two variations of the forward step lunge. *J Sport Health Sci* 2019;**8**:235–41. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2016.12.005
- 58 Frohm A, Halvorsen K, Thorstensson A. Patellar tendon load in different types of eccentric squats. *Clin Biomech* 2007;**22**:704–11. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.12.006
- 59 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* Faster Movement Speed Results in Greater Tendon Strain during the Loaded Squat Exercise. *Front Physiol* 2016;**7**:366. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00366
- 60 Richards J, Selfe J, Sinclair J, *et al.* The effect of different decline angles on the biomechanics of double limb squats and the implications to clinical and training practice. *J Hum Kinet* 2016;**52**:125–38. doi:10.1515/hukin-2015-0200
- 61 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons--the effect of extending the fingers against the resistance provided by rubber bands. *J Hand Surg Eur Vol* 2009;**34**:186–9. doi:10.1177/1753193408096016
- 62 Powell ES, Trail IA. Forces transmitted along human flexor tendons during passive and active movements of the fingers. *J Hand Surg* 2004;**29**:386–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhsb.2004.02.004

- 63 Schuind F, Garcia-Elias M, Cooney WP, *et al.* Flexor tendon forces: in vivo measurements. *J* Hand Surg 1992;**17**:291–8. doi:10.1016/0363-5023(92)90408-h
- 64 Dillon EM, Erasmus PJ, Müller JH, *et al.* Differential forces within the proximal patellar tendon as an explanation for the characteristic lesion of patellar tendinopathy: an in vivo descriptive experimental study. *Am J Sports Med* 2008;**36**:2119–27. doi:10.1177/0363546508319311
- 65 Kernozek T, Gheidi N, Ragan R. Comparison of estimates of Achilles tendon loading from inverse dynamics and inverse dynamics-based static optimisation during running. *J Sports Sci* 2017;**35**:2073–9. doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1255769
- van den Bogert AJ, Geijtenbeek T, Even-Zohar O, *et al.* A real-time system for
 biomechanical analysis of human movement and muscle function. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2013;51:1069–77. doi:10.1007/s11517-013-1076-z
- 67 Seth A, Hicks JL, Uchida TK, et al. OpenSim: Simulating musculoskeletal dynamics and neuromuscular control to study human and animal movement. PLoS Comput Biol 2018;14:e1006223. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006223
- 68 Cleather DJ, Bull AMJ. The development of a segment-based musculoskeletal model of the lower limb: introducing FreeBody. *R Soc Open Sci* 2015;**2**:140449. doi:10.1098/rsos.140449
- 69 Dennerlein JT, Miller JM, Mote CDJ, *et al.* A low profile human tendon force transducer: the influence of tendon thickness on calibration. *J Biomech* 1997;**30**:395–7. doi:10.1016/s0021-9290(96)00158-3
- 70 Wren TA, Yerby SA, Beaupré GS, *et al.* Mechanical properties of the human achilles tendon. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2001;**16**:245–51. doi:10.1016/s0268-0033(00)00089-9
- 71 Delp SL, Loan JP, Hoy MG, et al. An interactive graphics-based model of the lower extremity to study orthopaedic surgical procedures. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1990;37:757–67. doi:10.1109/10.102791
- 72 Self BP, Paine D. Ankle biomechanics during four landing techniques. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2001;**33**:1338–44. doi:10.1097/00005768-200108000-00015
- 73 Winter DA. Three-Dimensional Kinematics and Kinetics. In: *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd 2009. 176–99. doi:10.1002/9780470549148.ch7
- 74 Visser JJ, Hoogkamer JE, Bobbert MF, *et al.* Length and moment arm of human leg muscles as a function of knee and hip-joint angles. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1990;**61**:453–60. doi:10.1007/BF00236067
- 75 Robertson D, Caldwell G, Hamill J, *et al. Research Methods in Biomechanics*. Champlain, IL: : Human Kinetics 2004.
- 76 Smidt GL. Biomechanical analysis of knee flexion and extension. *J Biomech* 1973;**6**:79–92. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(73)90040-7
- 77 Herzog W, Read LJ. Lines of action and moment arms of the major force-carrying structures crossing the human knee joint. *J Anat* 1993;**182**:213–30.

78 Krevolin JL, Pandy MG, Pearce JC. Moment arm of the patellar tendon in the human knee. *J Biomech* 2004;**37**:785–8. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2003.09.010

- 79 Faber H, Soest AJ van, Kistemaker DA. Inverse dynamics of mechanical multibody systems: An improved algorithm that ensures consistency between kinematics and external forces. PLOS ONE 2018;13:e0204575. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0204575
- Seynnes OR, Bojsen-Møller J, Albracht K, et al. Ultrasound-based testing of tendon mechanical properties: a critical evaluation. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2015;118:133–41. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00849.2014
- 81 Tsaopoulos DE, Baltzopoulos V, Maganaris CN. Human patellar tendon moment arm length: measurement considerations and clinical implications for joint loading assessment. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 2006;**21**:657–67. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.02.009
- 82 Maganaris CN. Imaging-based estimates of moment arm length in intact human muscletendons. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2004;**91**:130–9. doi:10.1007/s00421-003-1033-x
- 83 Tsaopoulos DE, Maganaris CN, Baltzopoulos V. Can the patellar tendon moment arm be predicted from anthropometric measurements? *J Biomech* 2007;40:645–51. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2006.01.022
- 84 Behrmann GP, Hidler J, Mirotznik MS. Fiber optic micro sensor for the measurement of tendon forces. *Biomed Eng Online* 2012;**11**:77. doi:10.1186/1475-925X-11-77
- 85 Komi PV, Salonen M, Järvinen M, et al. In vivo registration of Achilles tendon forces in man. I. Methodological development. Int J Sports Med 1987;8 Suppl 1:3–8. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1025697
- 86 Fukashiro S, Komi PV, Järvinen M, *et al.* In vivo Achilles tendon loading during jumping in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1995;**71**:453–8. doi:10.1007/BF00635880
- 87 Komi PV. Relevance of in vivo force measurements to human biomechanics. *J Biomech* 1990;**23 Suppl 1**:23–34. doi:10.1016/0021-9290(90)90038-5
- 88 Bojsen-Møller J, Magnusson SP. Heterogeneous Loading of the Human Achilles Tendon In Vivo. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 2015;**43**:190–7. doi:10.1249/JES.000000000000062
- 89 Slane LC, Thelen DG. Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading. *J Biomech* 2014;**47**:2831–5. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.07.032
- 90 Slane LC, Dandois F, Bogaerts S, *et al.* Non-uniformity in the healthy patellar tendon is greater in males and similar in different age groups. *J Biomech* 2018;**80**:16–22. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.08.021
- 91 Boutry CM, Kaizawa Y, Schroeder BC, *et al.* A stretchable and biodegradable strain and pressure sensor for orthopaedic application. *Nat Electron* 2018;**1**:314–21. doi:10.1038/s41928-018-0071-7
- Finni T, Komi PV, Lukkariniemi J. Achilles tendon loading during walking: application of a novel optic fiber technique. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1998;**77**:289–91. doi:10.1007/s004210050335
| 2 | |
|--------|--|
| 3 | |
| 4 | |
| 5 | |
| 6 | |
| 7 | |
| ,
Q | |
| 0 | |
| 9 | |
| 10 | |
| 11 | |
| 12 | |
| 13 | |
| 11 | |
| 14 | |
| 15 | |
| 16 | |
| 17 | |
| 18 | |
| 19 | |
| 20 | |
| 20 | |
| 21 | |
| 22 | |
| 23 | |
| 24 | |
| 25 | |
| 26 | |
| 20 | |
| 27 | |
| 28 | |
| 29 | |
| 30 | |
| 31 | |
| 32 | |
| 22 | |
| 33 | |
| 34 | |
| 35 | |
| 36 | |
| 37 | |
| 20 | |
| 20 | |
| 39 | |
| 40 | |
| 41 | |
| 42 | |
| 43 | |
| ΔΔ | |
| 44 | |
| 45 | |
| 46 | |
| 47 | |
| 48 | |
| 49 | |
| 50 | |
| 50 | |
| 21 | |
| 52 | |
| 53 | |
| 54 | |
| 55 | |
| 56 | |
| 50 | |
| 5/ | |
| 58 | |
| 59 | |
| 60 | |

- 93 Ravary B, Pourcelot P, Bortolussi C, et al. Strain and force transducers used in human and veterinary tendon and ligament biomechanical studies. Clin Biomech Bristol Avon 2004;19:433–47. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2004.01.008
- 94 Arndt AN, Komi PV, Brüggemann G-P, *et al.* Individual muscle contributions to the in vivo achilles tendon force. *Clin Biomech Bristol Avon* 1998;**13**:532–41.
- 95 Ishikawa M, Finni T, Komi PV. Behaviour of vastus lateralis muscle-tendon during high intensity SSC exercises in vivo. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2003;**178**:205–13. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01149.x
- 96 Finni T, Komi PV, Lepola V. In vivo human triceps surae and quadriceps femoris muscle function in a squat jump and counter movement jump. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2000;**83**:416–26. doi:10.1007/s004210000289
- 97 Komi PV, Belli A, Huttunen V, *et al.* Optic fibre as a transducer of tendomuscular forces. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 1996;**72**:278–80.
- 98 Arampatzis A, Mersmann F, Bohm S. Individualized Muscle-Tendon Assessment and Training. *Front Physiol* 2020;**11**.https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2020.00723 (accessed 28 Mar 2022).
- 99 Magnusson SP, Langberg H, Kjaer M. The pathogenesis of tendinopathy: balancing the response to loading. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2010;**6**:262–8. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2010.43
- 100 Sheehan FT, Drace JE. Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study. *Clin Orthop* 2000;:201–7.
- 101 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo. *SpringerPlus* 2013;**2**:212. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-212
- 102 Farris DJ, Trewartha G, McGuigan MP, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human Achilles tendon determined in vivo with freehand three-dimensional ultrasound imaging. *J Exp Biol* 2013;**216**:594–600. doi:10.1242/jeb.077131
- 103 Finni T, Peltonen J, Stenroth L, *et al.* Viewpoint: On the hysteresis in the human Achilles tendon. *J Appl Physiol* 2013;**114**:515–7. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01005.2012
- 104 Mademli L, Arampatzis A, Walsh M. Effect of muscle fatigue on the compliance of the gastrocnemius medialis tendon and aponeurosis. *J Biomech* 2006;**39**:426–34. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.12.016
- 105 Peltonen J, Cronin NJ, Stenroth L, *et al.* Achilles tendon stiffness is unchanged one hour after a marathon. *J Exp Biol* 2012;**215**:3665–71. doi:10.1242/jeb.068874
- 106 McCrum C, Oberländer KD, Epro G, *et al.* Loading rate and contraction duration effects on in vivo human Achilles tendon mechanical properties. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging* 2018;**38**:517–23. doi:10.1111/cpf.12472
- 107 Maganaris CN. Tendon conditioning: artefact or property? *Proc Biol Sci* 2003;**270 Suppl** 1:S39-42. doi:10.1098/rsbl.2003.0004

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

108 Schulze F, Mersmann F, Bohm S, *et al.* A wide number of trials is required to achieve acceptable reliability for measurement patellar tendon elongation in vivo. *Gait Posture* 2012;**35**:334–8. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.09.107

- 109 Earp JE, Newton RU, Cormie P, *et al.* The influence of loading intensity on muscletendon unit behavior during maximal knee extensor stretch shortening cycle exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2014;**114**:59–69. doi:10.1007/s00421-013-2744-2
- 110 Kurokawa S, Fukunaga T, Fukashiro S. Behavior of fascicles and tendinous structures of human gastrocnemius during vertical jumping. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985* 2001;**90**:1349–58. doi:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.4.1349
- 111 De Monte G, Arampatzis A, Stogiannari C, *et al.* In vivo motion transmission in the inactive gastrocnemius medialis muscle–tendon unit during ankle and knee joint rotation. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 2006;**16**:413–22. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2005.10.001
- 112 Fukutani A, Hashizume S, Kusumoto K, *et al.* Influence of neglecting the curved path of the Achilles tendon on Achilles tendon length change at various ranges of motion. *Physiol Rep* 2014;**2**:e12176. doi:10.14814/phy2.12176
- 113 Kharazi M, Bohm S, Theodorakis C, *et al.* Quantifying mechanical loading and elastic strain energy of the human Achilles tendon during walking and running. *Sci Rep* 2021;**11**:5830. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-84847-w
- 114 Korstanje J-WH, Selles RW, Stam HJ, *et al.* Development and validation of ultrasound speckle tracking to quantify tendon displacement. *J Biomech* 2010;**43**:1373–9. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.01.001
- 115 Pearson SJ, Ritchings T, Mohamed ASA. The use of normalized cross-correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging. J Appl Biomech 2013;29:165–73. doi:10.1123/jab.29.2.165
- 116 Magnusson SP, Hansen P, Aagaard P, *et al.* Differential strain patterns of the human gastrocnemius aponeurosis and free tendon, in vivo. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2003;**177**:185–95. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01048.x
- 117 Svensson RB, Slane LC, Magnusson SP, *et al.* Ultrasound-based speckle-tracking in tendons: a critical analysis for the technician and the clinician. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md* Published Online First: 17 December 2020. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00654.2020
- 118 Mersmann F, Seynnes OR, Legerlotz K, *et al.* Effects of tracking landmarks and tibial point of resistive force application on the assessment of patellar tendon mechanical properties in vivo. *J Biomech* 2018;**71**:176–82. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.02.005
- 119 Klimstra M, Dowling J, Durkin JL, *et al.* The effect of ultrasound probe orientation on muscle architecture measurement. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol Off J Int Soc Electrophysiol Kinesiol* 2007;**17**:504–14. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.04.011
- Finni T, Havu M, Sinha S, *et al.* Mechanical behavior of the quadriceps femoris muscle tendon unit during low-load contractions. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985* 2008;**104**:1320–8. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01069.2007

- 121 Bolus NB, Jeong HK, Blaho BM, *et al.* Fit to Burst: Toward Noninvasive Estimation of Achilles Tendon Load Using Burst Vibrations. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2021;**68**:470–81. doi:10.1109/TBME.2020.3005353
 - 122 Martin JA, Brandon SCE, Keuler EM, *et al.* Gauging force by tapping tendons. *Nat Commun* 2018;**9**:1592. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-03797-6

for occurrence with

FIGURE TITLES

Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process

to beet terien only



Figure 1. Flow diagram of the selection process.

210x297mm (150 x 150 DPI)

ng, and similar technologies.

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

SUPPLEMENTARY FILE

BMJ OPEN

Supplement to: *Modelling and in vivo evaluation of tendon forces and loads in dynamic rehabilitation exercises: a scoping review*

re-Escuder, Anto.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Supplementary Appendices

Appendix S1.	Detailed information sources and search strategy	3

				Google Scholar
	Pubmed	EMBASE	WOS	(200 primeras)
Tendon AND Load	3837	4311		200
Tendon [Title] AND Load [Title]	100	183	536	
Tendon [Title] AND Force [Title]	185	202	297	
Tendon [Title] AND Biomechanics [Title]	90	111	83	
Tendon AND wave	893	1220	1282	200
Tendon [Title] AND Properties [Title]	685	755	801	
Tendon AND Force				200
Tendon AND Biomechanics				200
Tendon AND Properties				200
	5790	6782	2999	1000
Total		1	16571	

Appendix S1. Detailed information sources and search strategy

Appendix S2. Articles excluded with full-text with reasons

Autor and year	Title	Reasons for exclusion
Acuna et al. 2019	Achilles tendon shear wave	No tendon forces/load
	speed tracks the dynamic	evaluation
	modulation of standing balance	
Aita et al. 1998	The load applied to the foot in a	No tendon forces/load
	patellar ligament-bearing cast	evaluation
Andarawis-Puri et al.	Infraspinatus and supraspinatus	No tendon forces/load
2010	tendon strain explained using	evaluation
	multiple regression models.	
Ando et al. 2019	Positive relationship between	No tendon forces/load
	passive muscle stiffness and	evaluation
	rapid force production	
Ateş et al. 2015	Muscle shear elastic modulus is	No tendon forces/load
	linearly related to muscle	evaluation
	torque over the entire range of	
	isometric contraction intensity	
Beck et al. 2020	Cyclically producing the same	No tendon forces/load
	average muscle-tendon force	evaluation
	with a smaller duty increases	
	metabolic rate	
Bobbert et al. 1986	An estimation of power output	No tendon forces/load
	and work done by the human	evaluation
	triceps surae musle-tendon	
	complex in jumping	
Bojsen-Moller et al. 2003	Measuring mechanical	No tendon forces/load
	properties of the vastus lateralis	evaluation
	tendon-aponeurosis complex in	
	vivo by ultrasound imaging	
Bojsen-Møller et al. 2005	Muscle performance during	No tendon forces/load
	maximal isometric and dynamic	evaluation
	contractions is influenced by	
	the stiffness of the tendinous	
	structures	3
Bolus et al. 2021	Fit to Burst: Toward	Proof-of-concept study
	Noninvasive Estimation of	
	Achilles Tendon Load Using	
	Burst Vibrations	
Breda et al. 2020	The association between	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon stiffness	evaluation
	measured with shear-wave	
	elastography and patellar	
	tendinopathy—a case-control	
	study	
Bruggemann 1985	Mechanical load on the Achilles-	Wrong publication type
	tendon during rapid dynamic	(Book chapter)
	sport movements	
Brum et al. 2013	In Vivo Achilles Tendon	No tendon forces/load
	Elasticity Assessment using	evaluation

	Supersonic Shear Imaging: a	
Bujalski et al. 2018	A Monte Carlo analysis of muscle force estimation sensitivity to muscle-tendon properties using a Hill-based muscle model	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Burgess et al. 2007	Plyometric vs. Isometric training influences on tendon properties and muscle output	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cao et al. 2019	A multicenter large-sample shear wave ultrasound elastographic study of the achilles tendon in chinese adults	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cattagni et al. 2017	No Alteration of the Neuromuscular Performance of Plantar-Flexor Muscles After Achilles Tendon Vibration	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Centner et al. 2019	Low-load blood flow restriction training induces similar morphological and mechanical Achilles tendon adaptations compared with high-load resistance training	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Chang et al. 2020	Strain ratio of ultrasound elastography for the evaluation of tendon elasticity	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Cheung et al. 2006	Effect of Achilles tendon loading on plantar fascia tension in the standing foot.	No dynamic exercises (No exercises evaluated)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cordo et al. 1993	Force and displacement- controlled tendon vibration in humans	No dynamic exercises (No exercises are used)
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2015	Estimation of tensile properties of the Achilles tendon in haemophilic arthropathy of the ankle: case study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Cruz-Montecinos et al. 2019	Assessment of tensile mechanical properties of the Achilles tendon in adult patients with haemophilic arthropathy. Reproducibility study	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Deforth et al. 2019	The effect of foot type on the Achilles tendon moment arm and biomechanics	No tendon forces/load evaluation

2	
3	
Δ	
5	
2	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
10	
10	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
2/	
ב-ד ⊃⊑	
20	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
21	
21	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
37	
20	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
11	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
50	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

Delp et al. 2007	OpenSim: open-source software to create and analyze dynamic simulations of movement.	Wrong publication type
Dennerlein et al. 1999	In vivo finger flexor tendon force while tapping on a keyswitch	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Ebrahimi et al. 2020	Shear Wave Tensiometry Reveals an Age-Related Deficit in Triceps Surae Work at Slow and Fast Walking Speeds	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Ejeskar et al. 1982	Finger flexion force and hand grip strength after tendon repair	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Farris et al. 2013	Differential strain patterns of the human Achilles tendon determined in vivo with freehand three-dimensional ultrasound imaging	No dynamic exercises (isometric)
Finni et al. 2008	Mechanical behavior of the quadriceps femoris muscle tendon unit during low-load contractions	No dynamic exercises (laboratory setting)
Firminger et al. 2019	Effect of Shoe and Surface Stiffness on Lower Limb Tendon Strain in Jumping	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Fowler and Nicol 2000	Interphalangeal joint and tendon forces: normal model and biomechanical consequences of surgical reconstruction	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Fowler et al. 1999	Measurement of external three- dimensional interphalangeal loads applied during activities of daily living	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Friesenbichler et al. 2019	Gait and strength asymmetries in patients with insertional achilles tendinopathy	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Fröberg et al. 2020	The Effect of Ankle Foot Orthosis' Design and Degree of Dorsiflexion on Achilles Tendon Biomechanics-Tendon Displacement, Lower Leg Muscle Activation, and Plantar Pressure During Walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gerus et al. 2011	A method to characterize in vivo tendon force-strain relationship by combining ultrasonography,	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
/
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
22 22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
30
72
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
50
57
58
59

	motion capture and loading rates	reported as evaluation results
Gerus et al. 2012	Subject-Specific Tendon- Aponeurosis Definition in Hill- Type Model Predicts Higher Muscle Forces in Dynamic Tasks	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Giacomozzi et al. 2015	Does the thickening of Achilles tendon and plantar fascia contribute to the alteration of diabetic foot loading?	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Gomes et al. 2020	Is there a relationship between back squat depth, ankle flexibility, and Achilles tendon stiffness?	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hager et al. 2020	Influence of joint angle on muscle fascicle dynamics and rate of torque development during isometric explosive contractions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hansen et al. 2006	Mechanical properties of the human patellar tendon, in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Harding et al. 1993	Finger joint force minimization in pianists using optimization techniques	No dynamic exercises (everyday tasks)
Harlaar et al. 2020	Patellofemoral joint contact forces at different activities - effects of modeling assumptions	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Harnie et al. 2020	Acute effect of tendon vibration applied during isometric contraction at two knee angles on maximal knee extension force production	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hashizume and Yanagiya 2016	Influences of the foot strike pattern and the running speed on the forces applied to foot	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Haufe et al. 2020	Biomechanical effects of passive hip springs during walking	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hauraix et al. 2015	In vivo maximal fascicle- shortening velocity during plantar flexion in humans.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Heinemeier et al. 2016	Methods of Assessing Human Tendon Metabolism and Tissue Properties in Response to Changes in Mechanical Loading	Wrong publication type (Book chapter)

2	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
,	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
27	
22	
33	
34	
35	
36	
27	
57	
38	
39	
40	
41	
+ T د ار	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
17	
4/	
48	
49	
50	
51	
51 E2	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
50	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

Helland et al. 2013	Mechanical properties of the patellar tendon in elite volleyball players with and without patellar tendinopathy.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Histen et al. 2017	Achilles Tendon Properties of Minimalist and Traditionally Shod Runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hoang et al. 2007	Passive mechanical properties of human gastrocnemius muscle-tendon units, muscle fascicles and tendons in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Hof et al. 2002	Mechanics of human triceps surae muscle in walking, running and jumping	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Holzer et al. 2020	Considerations on the human Achilles tendon moment arm for in vivo triceps surae muscle- tendon unit force estimates	Wrong study design (calculations using results from other studies)
Homayuouni et al. 2015	Modeling Implantable Passive Mechanisms for Modifying the Transmission of Forces and Movements Between Muscle and Tendons	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hopper et al. 2015	Dance floor force reduction influences ankle loads in dancers during drop landings.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Hu et al. 2014	Biomechanical Analysis of Force Distribution in Human Finger Extensor Mechanisms	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Hullfish et al. 2020	A simple instrumented insole algorithm to estimate plantar flexion moments	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Jones et al. 1985	Effect of muscle tendon vibration on the perception of force	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Joseph et al. 2014	Achilles tendon biomechanics in response to acute intense exercise.	No dynamic exercises
Kathy Cheng et al. 2008	Finite element analysis of plantar fascia under stretch— The relative contribution of windlass mechanism and Achilles tendon force	Wrong study design (Finite element analysis)/ No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kawakami et al. 2002	Effect of series elasticity on isokinetic torque-angle relationship in humans.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

2
2
ر ۸
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
10
10
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
20 26
26
27
28
29
30
31
27
32
33
34
35
36
37
20
20
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
50
52
22
54
55
56
57
58
50
59
υu

		reported as evaluation results
Kawakami et al. 2002	In vivo muscle fibre behaviour during counter-movement exercise in humans reveals a significant role for tendon elasticity	No dynamic exercises (laboratory setting)
Kaya and Yucesoy 2020	Muscle-tendon unit length- spastic muscle force data by combined intraoperative- musculoskeletal modelling work	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kernozek et al. 2016	Comparing Two Methods for Estimating Achilles Tendon Loading during Running	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Kernozek et al. 2018	The effects of habitual foot strike patterns on Achilles tendon loading in female runners	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Kongsgaard et al. 2006	Decline eccentric squats increases patellar tendon loading compared to standard eccentric squats	No dynamic exercises
Kouno et al. 2019	Effects of the strain rate on mechanical properties of tendon structures in knee extensors and plantar flexors in vivo	No dynamic exercises
Kruse et al. 2019	Effects of serial casting on muscle-tendon properties, muscle function and gait in a healthy child with calf muscle shortening	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 1999	Influence of elastic properties of tendon structures on jump performance in humans	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2000	Elastic properties of muscle- tendon complex in long- distance runners	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2001	Influence of static stretching on viscoelastic properties of human tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2002	Measurement of viscoelastic properties of tendon structures in vivo	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2003	Gender differences in the viscoelastic properties of tendon structures	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Kubo et al. 2005	Effects of cold and hot water immersion on the mechanical	No dynamic exercises

2	
3	
1	
-	
2	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
עו רי	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
20	
27	
28	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
24	
34	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
Δ1	
רוד ⊿ר	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
40	
50	
50	
51	
52	
53	
54	
55	
56	
50	
5/	
58	
59	
60	

	properties of human muscle	
	and tendon in vivo.	
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between elastic	No tendon forces/load
	properties of tendon structures	evaluation
	and performance in long	
	distance runners	
Kubo et al. 2015	Relationship between Achilles	No tendon forces/load
	tendon properties and foot	evaluation
	strike natterns in long-distance	evaluation
	ruppers	
Kubo et al. 2020	Mechanical properties of	No tendon forces/load
Rubu et al. 2020	muscle and tenden at high	ovaluation
	muscle and tendon at high	evaluation
	strain rate in sprinters	
Lee et al. 2015	Repeatability and agreement of	No tendon forces/load
	digital image correlation (DIC)	evaluation
	for regional strain estimates of	
	the in-vivo human patellar	
	tendon	
Lian et al. 1996	Characteristics of the leg	No tendon forces/load
	extensors in male volleyball	evaluation
	players with jumper's knee	
Lian et al. 2003	Performance characteristics of	No tendon forces/load
	volleyball players with patellar	evaluation
	tendinopathy	
Lichtwark et al. 2006	Interactions between the	Tendon forces are used as
	human gastrochemius muscle	nart of the calculation of
	and the Achilles tendon during	other parameters and not
	incline level and decline	reported as evaluation
	locomotion	results
Lichtwark at al. 2011	Achilles tenden (2D): Do the	Wrong publication type
	Achilles tendon (SD). Do the	(Conforance proceeding)
	tenden ekongo in response to	(conterence proceeding)
	tendon change in response to	
	exercise?	
Lima et al. 2017	Triceps surae elasticity modulus	No tendon forces/load
	measured by shear wave	evaluation
	elastography is not correlated	
	to the plantar flexion torque	
Lu et al. 2013	Quantifying Catch-and-Release:	No dynamic exercises
	The Extensor Tendon Force	(everyday tasks)
	Needed to Overcome the	
	Catching Flexors in Trigger	
	Fingers	
Mademli et al. 2008	Age-related effect of static and	No dynamic exercises
	cyclic loadings on the strain-	
	force curve of the vastus	
	lateralis tendon and	
	anoneurosis	
Marouane et al 2017	Changes in Knee Adduction	Wrong publication type
ivial oualle et al. 2017	Potation and not Adduction	(Conforance preseding)
	woment innuence joint	1

	Compartmental Load	
	Partitioning	
Martin et al. 2012	Effects of the index finger	No tendon forces/load
	position and force production	evaluation
	on the flexor digitorum	
	superficialis moment arms at	
	the metacarpophalangeal joints	
	- a magnetic resonance imaging	
	study.	
Martin et al. 2018	Gauging force by tapping	No tendon forces/load
	tendons	evaluation
Matsubayashi et al. 2008	Ultrasonographic measurement	No tendon forces/load
	of tendon displacement caused	evaluation
	by active force generation in the	
	psoas major muscle	
McCrum et al. 2018	Loading rate and contraction	Tendon forces are used a
	duration effects on in vivo	nart of the calculation of
	human Achilles tendon	other parameters and p
	mechanical properties	reported as evaluation
	inechanical properties	repuited as evaluation
McMahan at al 2012	The manipulation of strain	Tondon forces are used
Nicivianon et al. 2013	when stress is controlled	rendon forces are used
	when stress is controlled,	part of the calculation of
	modulates in vivo tendon	other parameters and no
	mechanical properties but not	reported as evaluation
	systemic TGF-β1 levels	results
McNair et al. 2013	Biomechanical properties of the	No tendon forces/load
	plantar flexor muscle-tendon	evaluation
	complex 6 months post-rupture	
	of the Achilles tendon	
Mileusnic et al. 2009	Force estimation from	No tendon forces/load
	ensembles of Golgi tendon	evaluation
	organs	
Mimura 1986	[The load-bearing function of a	No tendon forces/load
	patellar tendon bearing cast]	evaluation
Monte 2021	In vivo manipulation of muscle	No tendon forces/load
	shape and tendinous stiffness	evaluation
	affects the human ability to	
	generate torque rapidly	
Nicol et al. 1998	Significance of passively	No active exercises
	induced stretch reflexes on	evaluated
	achilles tendon force	
	enhancement	
Nicol et al. 1000	Quantification of Achillos	No active exercises
INICOLET 91. 1999	tondon force onhoncement has	avaluated
	rendon force enhancement by	evaluated
	passively induced dorsiflexion	
	stretches	
Okuyama et al. 2019	Study on fingertip force sensor	Tendon forces are used
	based on measurement of	part of the calculation of
	tendon tension	other parameters
		No dun and a superstant
Olszewski et al. 2015	Achilles tendon moment arms:	No dynamic exercises

1	
2	
3	
1	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
20 21	
∠ I 22	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
20	
29	
30	
31	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
20	
3/	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
ΔΛ	
-1-1 //F	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	
51	
52	
52	
5 ک - ۲	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
59	
60	
00	

	constant tendon load when using the tendon excursion method.	
Pearson et al. 2013	The use of normalized cross- correlation analysis for automatic tendon excursion measurement in dynamic ultrasound imaging.	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Peltonen et al. 2013	Viscoelastic properties of the Achilles tendon in vivo	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Perl et al. 2012	Effects of Footwear and Strike Type on Running Economy	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Petrescu et al. 2016	Evaluation of normal and pathological Achilles tendon by real-time shear wave elastography	No tendon forces/load evaluation (no data)
Rowley et al. 2000	The effect of the patellar tendon-bearing cast on loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Salman et al. 2019	Spatial Variations in Achilles Tendon Shear Wave Speed Using a Cost-Effective Method of Accelerometers	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Saltzman et al. 1992	The patellar tendon-bearing brace as treatment for neurotrophic arthropathy: a dynamic force monitoring study.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sasaki et al. 2019	Electromyographic analysis of infraspinatus and scapular muscles during external shoulder rotation with different weight loads and positions.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sheehan et al. 2000	Human patellar tendon strain. A noninvasive, in vivo study	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Sinsel et al. 2013	The musculoskeletal loading profile of the thumb during pipetting based on tendon displacement	No tendon forces/load evaluation during exercises
Slane et al. 2014	Non-uniform displacements within the Achilles tendon observed during passive and eccentric loading	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Stafilidis et al. 2007	Muscle-tendon unit mechanical and morphological properties and sprint performance	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results

Enseignement Superieur (ABES) Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, AI training, and similar technologies.

Stanojev et al. 2018	Effects of patellar tendon strap bracing on the motor performance and biomechanics of healthy adolescent athletes	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Stegman et al. 2009	A feasibility study for measuring accurate tendon displacements using an audio-based Fourier analysis of pulsed-wave Doppler ultrasound signals.	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Sugisaki et al. 2011	Effect of muscle contraction levels on the force-length relationship of the human Achilles tendon during lengthening of the triceps surae muscle-tendon unit	Tendon forces are used as part of the calculation of other parameters and not reported as evaluation results
Sussmilch-Leitch et al. 2012	Effect of foot orthoses on ankle kinematics and kinetics in male runners with Achilles tendinopathy	Wrong publication type (Conference proceeding)
Taniguchi 1988	[The load bearing function of patellar tendon bearing brace on the relation between shaft length and rate of load bearing]	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Thomeer et al. 2020	Load Distribution at the Patellofemoral Joint During Walking.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Totorean et al. 2014	The role of plantar pressure evaluation in rehabilitation of patients with Achilles tendon ruptures	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Ullrich et al. 2010	Influence of length-restricted strength training on athlete's power-load curves of knee extensors and flexors	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Ushiyama et al. 2005	Difference in aftereffects following prolonged Achilles tendon vibration on muscle activity during maximal voluntary contraction among plantar flexor synergists	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Veeger et al. 2002	Load on the shoulder in low intensity wheelchair propulsion.	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Wearing et al. 2019	Do habitual foot-strike patterns in running influence functional Achilles tendon properties during gait?	No tendon forces/load evaluation
Wearing et al. 2020	Transmission-Mode Ultrasound for Monitoring the Instantaneous Elastic Modulus of the Achilles Tendon During	No tendon forces/load evaluation

2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
/	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
10	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
20	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	
21	
31	
32	
33	
34	
35	
36	
27	
3/	
38	
39	
40	
41	
יי ⊿ר⊿	
+∠ ⊿⊃	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
10	
40	
49	
50	
51	
52	
53	
55	
54	
55	
56	
57	
58	
50	
59	

	Unilateral Submaximal Vertical	
	Hopping	
Werkhausen et al. 2018	Effect of training-induced	No tendon forces/load
	changes in achilles tendon	evaluation
	stiffness on muscle-tendon	
	behavior during landing	
Werkhausen et al. 2019	Distinct muscle-tendon	No tendon forces/load
	interaction during running at	evaluation
	different speeds and in different	
	loading conditions.	
Westphal et al. 2013	Load-Dependent Variations in	No dynamic exercises (No
	Knee Kinematics Measured with	exercises are used)
	Dynamic MRI	
Woodburn et al. 2013	Achilles tendon biomechanics in	The method of evaluating
	psoriatic arthritis patients with	tendon forces is not
	ultrasound proven enthesitis	specified.
Wretenberg et al. 1993 🧪	Passive knee muscle moment	No active exercises
	arms measured in vivo with MRI	
Wu et al. 2013 🧼	The musculoskeletal loading	No tendon forces/load
	profile of the thumb during	evaluation
	pipetting based on tendon	
	displacement	
Yamaguchi et al. 2002	Effect of different frequencies	Wrong language (Japanese)
	of skipping rope on elastic	
	components of muscle and	
	tendon in human triceps surae	
Yamamoto et al. 2020	Effects of Varying Plantarflexion	No tendon forces/load
	Stiffness of Ankle-Foot Orthosis	evaluation
	on Achilles Tendon and	
	Propulsion Force during Gait	
Yoshitake et al. 2004	Fluctuations in plantar flexion	No tendon forces/load
	force are reduced after	evaluation
	prolonged tendon vibration 🦷 🥒	
L	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057605 on 25 July 2022. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on June 12, 2025 at Agence Bibliographique de I Enseignement Superieur (ABES) . Protected by copyright, including for uses related to text and data mining, Al training, and similar technologies.

Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) Checklist

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a scoping review.	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary that includes (as applicable): background, objectives, eligibility criteria, sources of evidence, charting methods, results, and conclusions that relate to the review questions and objectives.	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known. Explain why the review questions/objectives lend themselves to a scoping review approach.	4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the questions and objectives being addressed with reference to their key elements (e.g., population or participants, concepts, and context) or other relevant key elements used to conceptualize the review questions and/or objectives.	6
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists; state if and where it can be accessed (e.g., a Web address); and if available, provide registration information, including the registration number.	6
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify characteristics of the sources of evidence used as eligibility criteria (e.g., years considered, language, and publication status), and provide a rationale.	7
Information sources*	7	Describe all information sources in the search (e.g., databases with dates of coverage and contact with authors to identify additional sources), as well as the date the most recent search was executed.	6
Search	8	Present the full electronic search strategy for at least 1 database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	6
Selection of sources of evidence†	9	State the process for selecting sources of evidence (i.e., screening and eligibility) included in the scoping review.	7
Data charting process‡	10	Describe the methods of charting data from the included sources of evidence (e.g., calibrated forms or forms that have been tested by the team before their use, and whether data charting was done independently or in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	8
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought and any assumptions and simplifications made.	8
Critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence§	12	If done, provide a rationale for conducting a critical appraisal of included sources of evidence; describe the methods used and how this information was used in any data synthesis (if appropriate).	N/A
Synthesis of results	13	Describe the methods of handling and summarizing the data that were charted.	8



St. Michael's

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #
RESULTS			
Selection of sources of evidence	14	Give numbers of sources of evidence screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally using a flow diagram.	9
Characteristics of sources of evidence	15	For each source of evidence, present characteristics for which data were charted and provide the citations.	9
Critical appraisal within sources of evidence	16	If done, present data on critical appraisal of included sources of evidence (see item 12).	N/A
Results of individual sources of of evidence	17	For each included source of evidence, present the relevant data that were charted that relate to the review questions and objectives.	10
Synthesis of results	18	Summarize and/or present the charting results as they relate to the review questions and objectives.	10
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	19	Summarize the main results (including an overview of concepts, themes, and types of evidence available), link to the review questions and objectives, and consider the relevance to key groups.	20
Limitations	20	Discuss the limitations of the scoping review process.	31
Conclusions	21	Provide a general interpretation of the results with respect to the review questions and objectives, as well as potential implications and/or next steps.	32
FUNDING			
Funding	22	Describe sources of funding for the included sources of evidence, as well as sources of funding for the scoping review. Describe the role of the funders of the scoping review.	33

JBI = Joanna Briggs Institute; PRISMA-ScR = Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews.

* Where *sources of evidence* (see second footnote) are compiled from, such as bibliographic databases, social media platforms, and Web sites.

† A more inclusive/heterogeneous term used to account for the different types of evidence or data sources (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy documents) that may be eligible in a scoping review as opposed to only studies. This is not to be confused with *information sources* (see first footnote).

[‡] The frameworks by Arksey and O'Malley (6) and Levac and colleagues (7) and the JBI guidance (4, 5) refer to the process of data extraction in a scoping review as data charting.

§ The process of systematically examining research evidence to assess its validity, results, and relevance before using it to inform a decision. This term is used for items 12 and 19 instead of "risk of bias" (which is more applicable to systematic reviews of interventions) to include and acknowledge the various sources of evidence that may be used in a scoping review (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy document).

From: Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMAScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169:467–473. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850.

